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WILO PROFILE MARKET SEGMENTS

WATER MANAGEMENT 
We are global market player and 

digital solution provider.

INDUSTRY 
We are specialist in selected 

branches and applications.

OEM 
We are preferred partner for smart 

integrated solutions.

BUILDING SERVICES 
RESIDENTIAL

We are full-range supplier and 
	customers’	fi	rst	choice.

BUILDING SERVICES 
COMMERCIAL 

We are market, innovation and 
smart solution leader.

The Wilo Group is one of the world’s 
leading premium providers of pumps 
and pump systems for the building 
services, water management and 
 industrial sectors. In the past decade, 
we have developed from a hidden 
champion into a visible and connected 
champion. Today, Wilo has around 
8,000 employees worldwide.

Our innovative solutions, smart prod-
ucts and individual services move 
water in an intelligent, effi cient and 
climate-friendly manner. We are 
also making an important contribution 
to climate protection with our sustain-
ability strategy and in conjunction 
with our partners. We are systemati-
cally pressing ahead with the digital 
transformation of the Group. We are 
already the digital pioneer in the 
 industry with our products and solu-
tions, processes and business models.
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KEY FIGURES  2019 2018 2017  2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Net sales EUR million 1,477.8 1,463.5 1,424.8  1,327.1 1,317.1 1,234.7 1,230.8 1,187.1 1,070.5 1,021.4

Net sales growth % 1.0 2.7 7.4  0.8 6.7 0.3 3.7 10.9 4.8 10.3

EBITDA EUR million 180.1 153.5 160.6  158.1 171.5 159.1 169.9 159.0 134.5 146.0

	 (as % of net sales) % 12.2 10.5 11.3  11.9 13.0 12.9 13.8 13.4 12.6 14.3

Consolidated net income EUR million 72.4 64.2 85.9  76.0 80.5 69.8 83.0 78.2 53.4 71.1

	 (as % of net sales) % 4.9 4.4 6.0  5.7 6.1 5.7 6.7 6.6 5.0 7.0

Earnings per ordinary share EUR 7.38 6.55 8.76  7.88 8.35 7.11 8.12 7.63 5.19 7.31

Cash flow from operating activities EUR million 168.5 81.7 140.4  137.4 132.3 109.8 130.2 120.8 54.4 95.1

Cash EUR million 166.1 135.4 161.8  178.3 165.8 149.1 177.5 176.5 166.0 152.8

Investments1) EUR million 155.7 154.8 195.7  113.0 106.4 66.1 71.2 90.0 62.0 52.4

R&D expenses2) EUR million 67.6 66.3 63.6  65.0 62.4 51.2 43.9 39.2 36.8 33.8

	 (as % of net sales) % 4.6 4.5 4.5  4.9 4.7 4.1 3.6 3.3 3.4 3.3

Equity EUR million 792.4 738.4 707.0  653.6 560.9 477.1 476.9 458.0 407.2 401.1

Equity ratio % 48.3 49.5 51.6  53.6 49.3 46.4 47.9 46.8 45.8 47.6

Employees (annual average) Number 7,749 7,830 7,726  7,548 7,383 7,425 7,194 6,900 6,708 6,268

1)	� Investments in intangible assets, property,  
plant and equipment and company acquisitions.

2)	 Including capitalised development costs.

CASH FLOW FROM  
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

EUR 168.5 MILLION

Cash flow from operating activities also reached a  
new record high, more than doubling-year-on-year  
to EUR 168.5 million.

NET SALES EUR 1.48BILLION

The Wilo Group can look back on a decade of steady and profitable 
growth. In the past financial year, net sales increased by a further 
1.0 percent.
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Equity EUR million 792.4 738.4 707.0  653.6 560.9 477.1 476.9 458.0 407.2 401.1

Equity ratio % 48.3 49.5 51.6  53.6 49.3 46.4 47.9 46.8 45.8 47.6
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1)	� Investments in intangible assets, property,  
plant and equipment and company acquisitions.

2)	 Including capitalised development costs.

EMPLOYEES 7,749 
An annual average of more than 7,700 people were employed  
at the Wilo Group worldwide. They are the basis for and the  
driving force behind its economic success.

�INVESTMENTS

 EUR 155.7 MILLION 

The Wilo Group made further significant investments in a modern,  
future-oriented corporate infrastructure in 2019. Investments 
remained above-average at over 10 percent of net sales.

EBITDA EUR 180.1 MILLION 

EBITDA reached a historical high in 2019. Operating earnings 
before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation improved  
by a substantial 17.3 percent.

3



EDITORIAL

EDITORIAL  
BY THE  
EXECUTIVE BOARD

	  One notable achievement in 2019 was our sig-
nificantly above-average growth in the water manage-
ment market segment and in products, systems and 
solutions for cold water applications. More than half of 
Wilo’s business activities now involves non-heating 
applications. We also recorded a double-digit increase 
in profitability of more than ten percent. Measured in 
terms of the internationally recognised key indicator 

EBITDA, our operating earnings reached an all-time 
high of around EUR 180 million. All of these figures are 
extremely pleasing. However, they are also accompa-
nied by considerable uncertainty for the current year, 
as the continued spread of the coronavirus is having a 
significant negative impact on the global economy. 
The Executive Board of the Wilo Group is keeping a 
close eye on developments concerning the coronavirus 

Dear Ladies and Gentlemen,
The 2019 financial year was an extremely successful one for the Wilo Group. With a volume of 
almost EUR 1.5 billion, we achieved record net sales for the tenth year in a row. This was driven 
in particular by excellent growth in the markets of Eastern Europe, India and North America as 
well as the nations of Central Asia. Over the past decade, we have increased our net sales by an 
outstanding 60 percent.
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pandemic and taking a range of suitable measures to 
limit the health risk to employees and the economic 
impact on the company.

Extensive investment in the future
We made extensive investments in 2019 amounting to 
over EUR 155 million, corresponding to over ten per-
cent of net sales. Our focus on the future is underlined 
even more clearly by our activity over the past decade. 
Our investments during this period totalled around 
EUR  1 billion. Investment activity focused on the 
future-oriented expansion of production capacities, 
the extension of the sales infrastructure, the acquisi-
tion of companies in various countries and the imple-

mentation of the digital transformation. These invest-
ments are made possible not least thanks to the struc-
ture of our Group, with the Wilo-Foundation as the 
main shareholder. The vast majority of our profits and 
cash flows are not distributed, but instead are made 
available for us to use in realising future projects.

	  The Wilo-Foundation takes a long-term per-
spective. This allows us to plan well ahead and expand 
our workforce, thus giving us all security. These are the 
benefits of family ownership in contrast to a capital 
market-oriented approach. It also shows that, contrary 
to the argument made by the International Monetary  
Fund, family companies like Wilo are the reason why 

Oliver Hermes, CEO & President Wilo Group
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social equality is being promoted and social inequality 
reduced – and not just in Germany.

Occupying long-term growth areas
Digitalisation, globalisation, urbanisation, energy and 
water shortage are global developments that will shape 
society and people’s lives over the coming decade.

	  Throughout Asia and Africa, globalisation and 
urbanisation mean that new cities are being constructed 
and existing cities are combining to form smart urban 
areas characterised by intelligent networks. The under-
lying principle is the connectivity of products, systems 
and solutions in all areas of life. The connected world 
is fundamentally changing the economy, the environ-
ment, infrastructure and logistics. Wilo is addressing 
this long-term growth area with solutions and services 
that are as smart, i.e. intelligent, as they are resource-
efficient. An expanding population, global economic 
growth and the intensification of the trends toward 
globalisation and urbanisation mean that energy and 
water requirements are continuously rising – while 
there are immense losses and inefficiencies on the 
consumption side. Around the world, Wilo is not only 
helping to modernise energy and water supply systems 
and make them fit for the future, but is also making a 
sustainable contribution to slowing the growth in 
energy and water consumption with its intelligent 
solutions.

Harnessing national industrial strategies
Some countries are currently adopting and systemat-
ically implementing national industrial strategies, and 
we have adapted accordingly. The “America First” 
approach is dominant in the USA. For the US govern-
ment, this primarily involves strengthening national 
companies in various sectors and driving the reindus-

trialisation of the country. With this in mind, we have 
significantly strengthened our strategic position by 
acquiring US pump manufacturers. Following the suc-
cessful integration of the US companies Weil & Scot 
following their acquisition in 2017, we purchased 
another company in 2019 – American-Marsh Pumps. 
The acquisition of American-Marsh Pumps represents 
a milestone in the systematic implementation of our 
growth strategy. As well as strengthening our local 
position, it will make our US activities the most profit-
able in the Wilo world.

	  The Chinese government has a clear plan for 
advancing its own industrial landscape. To this end, it 
has formulated the “Made in China 2025” strategy, 
which is currently being implemented. As part of the 
“Belt and Road Initiative”, Chinese investments worth 
in excess of 300 billion US dollars have already been 
triggered with a view to establishing intercontinental 
trade and infrastructure networks between Europe, 
Africa and Asia. The Wilo Group is participating in these 
investment activities. We initiated 30 projects in the 
past financial year that are currently being imple-
mented and that can be assigned to the Belt and Road 
Initiative. Within the next decade, China will overtake 
Germany as the biggest individual market within the 
Wilo Group in terms of net sales, although the short-
term outlook has deteriorated considerably as a result 
of the coronavirus pandemic and business develop-
ment in 2020 is subject to uncertainty.

	  Russia has also formulated a clear industrial 
strategy, not least in response to the sanctions that 
were imposed some years ago and that remain in place. 
The aim is to reduce the country’s dependence on  
the commodity markets, and particularly oil and gas.  
Russia is seeking to diversify its industry and increase 

EDITORIAL
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local value added as well as strengthening export 
activities. Reflecting this industrial strategy, we have 
established a dedicated production site in the Moscow 
region and concluded a special investment contract 
(SPIC) with the Russian Federation. At the same time, 
we are continuously increasing the degree of vertical 
integration at our Russian plant. We also manage our 
Eurasian activities from Moscow, as well as our exports 
from Russia to Central Asia. Despite the tense geopo-
litical situation, we succeeded in increasing our market 
share once again in 2019.

	  The nations of the Middle East have developed 
national visions that include clear goals for strength-
ening their industrial activities. All of these visions are 
aimed at reducing the respective nations’ dependence 
on oil and gas and preparing for the future. Like the 
Chinese industrial strategy, the national visions in 
Saudi Arabia, the United Arab Emirates, Oman, Kuwait 
and Qatar all set out clear climate protection targets 
and objectives for digital transformation. Here, too, we 
have adapted accordingly. Wilo is especially successful 
when it comes to acquiring projects aimed at energy 
and water efficiency and the intelligence and “smart-
ness” of products, systems and solutions. This is why 
it is particularly unfortunate for the region that it con-
tains the countries with the greatest prevailing geo-
political uncertainty. We have suspended our business 
activities in Iran altogether.

	  Meanwhile, in Europe, efforts to identify a 
coherent industrial strategy on the part of the EU are 
in vain. Nowhere in the world can boast higher life 
expectancy than Europe, and no region of the world is 
as comfortable, healthy, peaceful and wealthy – nor  
is that wealth distributed more widely. In the World 
Happiness Report 2019, which examines the quality of 

life in individual countries, the top seven positions 
were occupied by European countries. The Wilo Group 
has not lost its confidence in the European markets. 
Quite the opposite, in fact: The construction of the 
new WiloPark in Dortmund, at the very heart of Europe, 
is the biggest investment project in Wilo’s history and 
one of the largest industrial projects in Germany. We 
have also been generating above-average growth in 
Eastern Europe for a number of years and our water 
management activities are developing extremely well 
in these markets. We will generate future growth in 
Europe in the areas of water management, building 
services, project business, and products, systems and 
solutions for cold water applications.

	  We are well positioned to meet the challenges 
of the new decade. We are protected by our “local for 
local” approach, not least in an era of growing protec-
tionism with all of the barriers to free trade this entails. 
Our organisation is designed to enable as much decen-
tralisation as possible while allowing only as little cen-
tralisation as necessary. This also helps us to take into 
account the industrial strategies of individual nations.

Shaping climate protection  
and digital transformation
Irrespective of geopolitical uncertainties and the 
development of regional strategies, there will be two 
dominant topics for industrial and technology com
panies in the next ten years: climate protection and 
digital transformation.

	  The Wilo Group is making an important contri-
bution to slowing climate change and achieving the 
global climate protection targets. While others con-
tinue to talk, we are already taking action. We are a 
climate protection company. Climate protection forms 
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part of our business model. Sustainable thinking and 
action are required when working with the valuable 
resources of water and energy and addressing climate 
protection, and both are rooted in Wilo’s corporate 
culture.

	  We are systematically driving the digital trans-
formation of the Group in the dimensions of products 
and solutions, processes, and business models. On the 
product side, the digital flagship is the Stratos MAXO, 
but many of the water management systems and solu-
tions we have developed for cold water applications 
can also already be described as smart. The move to 
the new Wilo Smart Factory, the first digital factory in 
the Wilo world, is more or less complete. The Smart 
Factory consistently applies Industry 4.0 standards and 
processes that will be rolled out at all production sites 
in the new decade. We are also making progress with  
the digital transformation of our customer interfaces. 

Previously located in Berlin, the “Wincubator”, our 
incubator for the development of new business mod-
els, is being integrated into the WiloPark in Dortmund. 
This will also enable us to cooperate with the start-up 
scene in the Ruhr area, which is growing in size.

	  Ladies and Gentlemen, we are excellently 
positioned for the future. Although the spread of the 
coronavirus has adversely affected the global outlook 
for 2020, we are entering the new decade with confi-
dence. We would be delighted if you would accompany 
us on this exciting journey.

Yours,

Oliver Hermes
CEO & President Wilo Group

Mathias Weyers
Chief Financial Officer (CFO)

Dr. Patrick Niehr 
Chief Change Officer (CCO)

Georg Weber
Chief Technology Officer (CTO)
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“As a technology leader and global player, Wilo sees itself 
as part of an international community that transcends 
national borders. Respect, trust and a willingness to 
embrace change are firmly rooted in our corporate culture. 
We will continue to be driven by our pioneering develop-
ments and our desire to remain ahead of the game.”
Dr. Patrick Niehr

“In the last decade, Wilo has pursued a systematic digi-
talisation strategy, expanded its strategic partnerships 
and pressed ahead with its international positioning. 
During this time, we have developed from a hidden 
champion into a visible and connected champion.”
Georg Weber

“The Wilo Group has always taken care to ensure a healthy 
balance between growth and profitability on the one hand 
and investment and financing on the other. Furthermore, our 
stable shareholder structure, our high self-financing capacity 
with strong operating cash flows and our solid statement of 
financial position and financing structure mean we are ideally 
positioned to successfully continue on our desired path of 
profitable growth in the new decade.” 
Mathias Weyers
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For the first time, the Wilo Group  
exceeds net sales of 

EUR  
1 billion.

LOCAL 
PRODUCTION
Wilo opens an additional 

production site in Kolhapur, 
India. Net sales on the 

subcontinent increase by 
25 percent this year.

2010

SALES DRIVE
Wilo constructs and 

moves into its  
own modern sales  
and administrative 
buildings in Austria  

and Turkey.
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2011

The Wilo-Foundation is formed.  
As the majority shareholder, it holds over 

90 percent of the share capital. The  
Wilo-Foundation ensures continuity and 

enables long-term planning.
GOING GLOBAL

Wilo forms subsidiaries in Morocco, 
Vietnam and Australia, meaning it is 

now represented on every continent.

Morocco
Vietnam

Australia
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MOVING WITH  
THE TIMES

With an updated brand presence and 
a new, dynamic logo, Wilo clearly 

demonstrates its intention to 
continue expanding its innovation 

and technology leadership. 

2012
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THE FUTURE BEGINS
The first plots are purchased for the 
biggest investment program in the  

company’s history: the construction of 
Wilo’s new headquarters in Dortmund.

Beijing

GOING GLOBAL
Wilo identified the immense importance 
of the Chinese market at an early stage 
and opened its own production site  
in Beijing. This site is now comprehen-
sively rebuilt and expanded.
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MADE IN BUSAN
With the commissioning of the plant in 

Busan, Wilo expands its local production 
capacities in South Korea.

STRONGER
The Wilo Group strengthens its position in the  

area of process water, extinguishing water  
and drinking water extraction with the acquisition  

of GEP Industrie-Systeme GmbH.

For the first time, Wilo has more  
than 7,000 employees worldwide. 

7,000

2013

Created by riska ambiya mahfudin from the Noun Project

Created by riska ambiya mahfudin from the Noun Project Created by riska ambiya mahfudin from the Noun Project
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PIONEERING
Wilo’s branch in Berlin 

takes shape at the EUREF 
Campus. EUREF is 

“Europe’s energy tran
sition centre” and already 

meets the German  
Federal Government’s 

climate targets for 2050  
at this point.

GOING GLOBAL
Wilo forms new subsidiaries in  
Mexico, Tunisia and Nigeria,  
strengthening its local presence  
in emerging economies.

2014
Mexico Tunisia

Nigeria

SMART START
At ISH 2015, Wilo sets its 
course for a digital future 

with the presentation  
of its first smart home-

compatible products.

15 2015



GROUND-BREAKING
Construction work on the new  

Dortmund site begins with a symbolic 
ground-breaking ceremony.  

The investment is a key element of the 
corporate strategy. The site will also  

be home to the first Wilo Smart Factory.

MADE IN RUSSIA
Wilo underlines the importance  
of the Russian market and 
establishes a platform for the 
entire Eurasian region with  
the opening of a new plant  
in Noginsk near Moscow.

EXPERTISE
The Wilo Group expands its wastewater 
activities and increases its application 
expertise with the acquisition of GVA 

Gesellschaft für Verfahren der Abwasser
technik mbH & Co. KG.

2016
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2017

SMART PRODUCTS
At ISH, Wilo presents the Wilo-Stratos 
MAXO, the world’s first smart pump*. 

It sets new standards in terms of  
system efficiency, connectivity and 

installation.

GOING GLOBAL
Wilo strengthens its presence 
on the African continent and 
forms a subsidiary in Kenya.

MADE IN USA
Wilo acquires the operations of the pump 

manufacturer Weil & Scot. The newly 
acquired production capacities allow it to 

significantly expand its US business.
Kenya
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CONTINUITY 
THROUGH CHANGE

Dr. Jochen Opländer  
names Oliver Hermes as his  

business successor.

HARMONY
The brand presence in France, Italy, Africa 

and Latin America is harmonized and  
the products of the Salmson brand, which 

has belonged to Wilo since 1984, are 
successively replaced by Wilo products.

2018

GOING GLOBAL
Wilo opens a new location in Astana, 
now Nur-Sultan. Markets throughout 

Central Asia can be developed and 
supported from the Kazakh capital.

Almaty

SALMSON DEVIENT WILO.
WILO, PIONNIER SUR LE MARCHÉ
DES POMPES DANS LE MONDE.
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The tenth record year in succession

2019



JANUARY

VISIT FROM CHINA
Shi Mingde, the Ambassador of the 

People’s Republic of China to Germany, 
visits Dortmund, where he is welcomed 
by Mayor Ullrich Sierau and meets with 

Oliver Hermes for around two hours. JANUARY

LOCAL PRESENCE IN DUBAI
Following a year-long construction period,  

Wilo opens its new facility in Jafza (Jebel Ali Free Zone), 
Dubai. With the opening of its first branch in Dubai  

in 2008, Wilo lays the groundwork for successful develop-
ment in the Middle East. “This new building and its 

functional expansion reflects the strategic significance of 
this central location within the region,” says Oliver Hermes.

MARCH

STRONG PRESENCE
At the world’s leading trade fair for water, heat and  

climate, the ISH in Frankfurt, Wilo presents smart  
and connected solutions at its 1,200 m² booth. Wilo also  

offers customers and partners a varied trade fair programme 
including the Wilo-Wortwechsel, a podium discussion  

in which Oliver Hermes talks to experts about the geopolitical  
role of Europe and Franco-German relations.

2019
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APRIL

JUGEND FORSCHT
Traffic lights, eggs and artificial intelligence – 
a veritable fireworks display of ideas. For the 
first time, the regional competition of “Jugend 

forscht” is supported by Wilo and the Wilo-
Foundation this year. “Inspiring scientists at  
a young age is something that is very close  

to our heart,” comments Evi Hoch from  
the Executive Board of the Wilo-Foundation.

JUNE

TOP INNOVATOR 
Wilo makes the leap to the top table at the 26th edition  

of the Top 100 innovation competition. The award is 
presented by the two mentors, Ranga Yogeshwar and the 
scientific director of the competition, Prof. Nikolaus Franke. 
“The renowned Top 100 seal in the ‘Innovative Processes 

and Organisation’ category recognises the performance of 
our employees in a very special way,” says Oliver Hermes.

JUNE

MEETING IN BERLIN 
On his first visit to Germany as the Ukrainian 

head of state, Volodymyr Zelensky,  
the President of Ukraine, meets Chancellor 

Angela Merkel and German business 
representatives in Berlin – including  

Oliver Hermes. “The Wilo Group has been 
active in Ukraine for more than 20 years. 

Despite all of the challenges, the Wilo 
Group can report that business is generally 
developing positively,” says Oliver Hermes.
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2019

AUGUST

THE KEY TO  
THE FUTURE

The key to the Wilo Smart Factory is 
symbolically handed over after a 

construction period of 36 months. In the 
presence of over 80 project participants, 

architects, representatives of the various 
building trades, service providers and  

Wilo employees, the handover represents 
the official starting signal for the move  

to the factory of the future.

AUGUST

GERMAN-RUSSIAN EXCHANGE
The German-Russian Summer School (GRSS) takes place  

in Dortmund and Berlin from 19 to 30 August 2019.  
21 Russian and 20 German students take part. The event  
is hosted by TU Dortmund, with Wilo as the co-initiator,  
key driver and main sponsor. Oliver Hermes, President  

and CEO of the Wilo Group, welcomes the group of interna-
tional students to the WiloPark on 26 August.
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NOVEMBER

MADE IN USA
WILO USA LLC, a subsidiary of WILO SE, acquires  

the operations of the US pump manufacturer  
J-Line Pump Co., d/b/a American-Marsh Pumps, in an 

asset deal. “The acquisition of American-Marsh 
Pumps strengthens our strategic position in  

the USA and expands the product portfolio for our 
customers in the water management, industry  

and building services segments,” says Oliver Hermes.

SEPTEMBER

INNOVATION  
CONFERENCE

The Wilo Group invites 200 high-profile 
guests from politics, industry and business 
to the innovation conference in Moscow. 

Guests of honour include the former 
Chancellor of the Federal Republic of 

Germany, Gerhard Schröder, the President 
of the Russian Central Bank, Elvira Nabiullina, 
and the Chairman of the Eurasian Economic 

Commission, Tigran Sargsyan.

SEPTEMBER

OAOEV CHAIRMANSHIP 
Oliver Hermes becomes the new Chairman of the German 

Eastern Business Association (OAOEV). He takes over  
from Wolfgang Büchele as the leader of the largest regional  

initiative of the German economy. “The OAOEV is the  
German economy’s most important bridge to 29 countries in 
Central and Eastern Europe. Wilo has also benefited hugely 

from these networks,” says Oliver Hermes.

DECEMBER

NEW EXECUTIVE  
BOARD MEMBER

Dr. Patrick Niehr is appointed as a new member of  
the Executive Board with effect from 1 January 2020.  

Dr. Niehr takes charge of the Group Human  
Resources, Group Legal & Insurance, Group Market  

Segment Management, Group Product Management  
and Group Marketing functions in addition to  

restructuring and integration activities.
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The Wilo Group continued on its consistent growth path and 
increased its net sales for the tenth year in succession. This means 
Wilo can look back on a remarkably successful decade of steady 
growth. All in all, net sales have risen by over 60 percent in the last 
ten years. In 2019, we again achieved new records in terms of EBITDA 
and cash flow from operating activities. Investments remained 
above-average at over 10 percent of net sales. Over the past decade, 
the Wilo Group has invested around a billion euros and created a 
modern, efficient, future-oriented corporate infrastructure that will 
promote growth. 

GROUP  
MANAGEMENT 
REPORT 2019
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THE 2019 FINANCIAL YEAR AT A GLANCE

With net sales growth of 1.0 percent, the Wilo Group 
continued on its profitable growth path in spite of the 
challenging macroeconomic environment and the pro-
nounced global economic slowdown. Net sales rose to 
EUR 1,477.8 million.

Wilo generated a record EBITDA of EUR 180.1 million 
in 2019. Profitability increased substantially compared 
with the previous year, with the EBITDA margin 
improving by 1.7 percentage points to 12.2 percent. 
The reorganisation and efficiency measures initiated 
in previous years had the desired effect and achieved 
considerable savings. Consolidated net income also 
increased significantly by EUR 8.2 million or 12.8 per-
cent to EUR 72.4 million.

The Wilo Group is continuing to make substantial in-
vestments in the future. In the past financial year, more 
than EUR 155 million was invested in the construction 
and expansion of new and existing sales and produc-
tion locations, state-of-the-art manufacturing tech-
nologies and company acquisitions, among other 
things. With the acquisition of the operations of the 
US pump manufacturer American-Marsh Pumps, the 
Wilo Group has sustainably expanded its production 
capacities in the USA and its portfolio of high-quality 
local products.

NET SALES

EUR 1,477.8 million

EBITDA

EUR 180.1 million

CONSOLIDATED NET INCOME

EUR 72.4 million

INVESTMENTS

EUR 155.7 million
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Wilo intends to establish itself as the digital pioneer 
of the pump industry and set new standards as an in-
novation leader. This means research and development 
traditionally play an important role. At EUR 67.6 million 
or 4.6 percent of net sales, expenditure for research 
and development exceeded the high prior-year level. 

The Wilo Group’s employees are the basis for and the 
driving force behind its economic success. An annual 
average of more than 7,700 people were employed at 
Wilo around the world.

Cash flow from operating activities more than doubled 
year-on-year to a new record of EUR 168.5 million. 
This significant improvement was due in particular to 
targeted measures to optimise working capital. 

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

EUR 67.6 million

EMPLOYEES

7,749 

Construction work on the Smart Factory at the Dort-
mund location was completed. The symbolic handover 
of the key in August marked the start of the move to 
the new, state-of-the-art production facility, and the 
first production lines began operations on schedule. 
This represented a significant milestone in the digital 
transformation of the Wilo Group. The Smart Factory 
implements central elements of the Industry 4.0 vision. 
The new production concept provides for an optimised 
and digitalised value chain with straightforward and 
flexible logistics and communications channels.

SMART FACTORY

CASH FLOW

EUR 168.5 million
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BASIC INFORMATION ON THE WILO GROUP

―― Premium provider of products, system solutions and services for building  
technology, water management and industry

―― Global production and distribution network ensures proximity to customers

―― The Wilo Group is represented in all major markets with  
over 7,700 employees worldwide

―― Research and development activities remain at a very high level

Customers and products 
Wilo is a global, premium provider of pumps and pump sys-
tems for heating, ventilation and air conditioning, water sup-
ply and wastewater disposal. The Wilo Group meets every 
need with its portfolio of products, system solutions and ser-
vices. The extensive product range extends from high-effi-
ciency pumps designed for houses, apartment blocks and 
public and commercial buildings, via special pumps and agi-
tators for water management, through to specific products 
and solutions for industrial applications. 

The Wilo Group’s corporate strategy and the operational 
focus of its over 7,700 employees are systematically geared 
towards customers and their specific needs and requirements 
for products, applications and services. The foundation of the 
Wilo Group’s long-standing market success is the close coop-
eration with OEM partners, consultants, specialist retailers 
and tradesmen as well as general contractors, investors and 
end users in a spirit of mutual trust. As a premium provider, 
Wilo aims to develop leading technology and intelligent solu-
tions that make people’s everyday lives noticeably easier. This 
is the principle behind the claim “Pioneering for You”.

The Wilo Group manufactures pumps and pump systems at 
15 primary production locations in Europe, Asia and the 
Americas. In accordance with the global production strategy 
(GPS), these global production sites constitute the production 
network in the narrower sense. They are coordinated and 
managed accordingly. 

Wilo also has other, smaller locations, such as Wülfrath and 
Chemnitz, at which it develops and manufactures highly spe-
cialised products such as water supply and wastewater treat-
ment systems. In addition, products for local markets are 
assembled at a variety of locations. This ensures that local 
requirements can be met efficiently with the fastest possible 
delivery to customers. With the acquisition of the operations 
of the US pump manufacturer J-Line Pump Co. – d/b/a  
American-Marsh Pumps – the Wilo Group has expanded its 
production capacities in the USA. The company, which is 
based in Collierville, Tennessee, manufactures centrifugal 
pumps and vertical turbines in particular. 

With this structure, the Wilo Group has an efficient, custom-
er-oriented network with currently more than 70 production 
and sales companies in over 50 countries. In combination with 
numerous additional branches and independent sales and 
service partners, this ensures that customers’ needs and 
requirements are met at all times and to the highest standards 
of quality worldwide.
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Market segments
The Wilo Group operates in five market segments: Building 
Services Residential, Building Services Commercial, OEM 
(Original Equipment Manufacturers), Water Management and 
Industry. The portfolio of products, system solutions and ser-
vices is systematically tailored to the specific needs of cus-
tomers in the respective market segments. This strong focus, 
combined with the Group’s traditional innovative strength and 
proximity to customers thanks to a local presence, are a key 
factor in its success. This enables the Wilo Group to identify 
the different trends in each region and changing requirements 
at an early stage and respond to them quickly and flexibly.

Building Services Residential & Commercial
Around the world, energy and resource efficiency is becoming 
markedly more important due to ecological and, not least, 
economic reasons. Accordingly, there is a growing focus on 
economic efficiency and sustainability when it comes to com-
mercial and private building use. This makes it increasingly 
necessary to use innovative systems incorporating optimally 
coordinated components. Wilo offers the necessary ener-
gy-efficient concepts in the Building Services Residential and 
Building Services Commercial market segments. These relate 
to heating technology and air conditioning as well as water 
supply and wastewater disposal. In particular, Wilo’s product 
and system solutions find applications in houses, apartment 
blocks, public buildings, industrial and office buildings, hos-
pitals and hotels.

Germany
Dortmund, Hof, Oschersleben

Turkey
Istanbul

UAE
Dubai

France
Laval, Aubigny

Italy
Bari

USA
Cedarburg

Russia
Noginsk (Moscow region)

Korea
Busan

China
Beijing, Qinhuangdao

India
Pune, 
Kolhapur

  Countries in which Wilo is represented by a subsidiary          Primary production locations

Wilo Group locations
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OEM 
Wilo is a strong partner of leading OEMs and manufacturers 
of products including boilers, heat pumps and air conditioning 
systems. The Wilo Group’s pumps and hydraulic systems offer 
the highest degree of reliability, flexibility and efficiency. OEM 
customers also benefit from Wilo’s many years of experience, 
detailed knowledge of the market and pronounced applica-
tion expertise. The Wilo Group is also a development partner 
for these customers and sees itself as a forward thinker and a 
trendsetter. Taking into account current and future regulatory 
requirements, Wilo anticipates the new demands of the global 
market and constantly changing market requirements at an 
early stage, allowing it to develop and offer future-oriented 
solutions that are ideally tailored to the specific needs of cus-
tomers and the market. Wilo offers a broad range of estab-
lished, tried-and-tested integrated products and intelligent, 
individually developed solutions. 

Water Management
Thanks to the fast pace of urbanisation and climate change 
as well as growing environmental pollution, water as a raw 
material is becoming a scarce and precious commodity in 
more and more regions of the world. Providing the rapidly 
growing global population with enough clean drinking water 
is a fundamental problem. In addition, the demand for water 
from agriculture and industry is rising sharply around the 
world. The safe and sufficient purification and supply of water 
therefore already involves profound global challenges. As a 
partner to the water management industry, Wilo offers pro-
fessional solutions designed to meet the increasingly complex 
requirements involved in drinking water extraction, water 
pumping, and the transportation and processing of waste
water. Wilo’s pumps and pump systems for water manage-
ment set benchmarks around the world in terms of technical 
performance, efficiency and sustainability.

Industry
Wilo develops and manufactures pumps that guarantee the 
highest level of reliability, flexibility and efficiency. These are 
vital and process-critical factors for pumps and pump systems 
in industrial applications in particular. The Wilo Group’s par-
ticular strength in the Industry market segment lies in support 
applications for processes in various industries. As every 
industrial sector has its own, often highly specific require-
ments in terms of pumps and peripherals, Wilo develops indi-
vidual concepts and solutions for every industrial require-
ment, thereby ensuring smooth installation, safe operation 
and efficient maintenance. Wilo pumps are used around the 
world for pumping cooling water in power plants, for example. 
Other important applications include dewatering in the min-
ing industry and food production. 

Group organisation and  
management
The Wilo Group can look back on a long and successful history. 
The company’s foundations were laid more than 140 years ago. 
“Kupfer- und Messingwarenfabrik Louis Opländer”, founded 
in Dortmund in 1872, was the predecessor to WILO SE, a Euro-
pean Company (Societas Europaea). The company is domi-
ciled in Dortmund, Germany. As the parent company of the 
Wilo Group, WILO SE performs central management activities 
for the entire Group as well as its own operations. With around 
90 percent of the shares in WILO SE, the majority shareholder 
is the Wilo-Foundation. The issued capital of WILO SE amounts 
to EUR 26,980 thousand.

As at 31 December 2019, the Wilo Group encompassed 
WILO SE and more than 70 production and sales companies 
worldwide. WILO SE holds a direct majority interest in most of 
its subsidiaries. In November 2019, WILO USA LLC acquired 
the operations of the US pump manufacturer J-Line Pump Co. 
– d/b/a American-Marsh Pumps – in an asset deal. 
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American-Marsh Pumps, which is headquartered in Collier-
ville,Tennessee, is a leading manufacturer of centrifugal and 
vertical turbine pumps and has a history dating back to 1873. 
The manufacturing capacities acquired in Tennessee will help 
Wilo to meet the needs of customers on the US market in a 
prompt and efficient manner and offer an even wider range 
of high-quality products made in the USA to businesses, 
industry, municipalities and agricultural enterprises.

The internal organisational and management structure was 
optimised further in the year under review in order to under-
line the importance of OEM business for the Wilo Group. The 
Mature Markets and Emerging Markets sales regions and the 
additional OEM strategic business unit were defined as the 
top-level organisational and management units by which the 
Wilo Group is primarily controlled. These units are each 
headed by an experienced manager who reports directly to 
the Executive Board. This allows sales activities to be closely 
geared towards the requirements of the respective markets 
and regions. The five market segments are the secondary 
control level. 

The management and controlling of the Building Services 
Residential & Commercial, Water Management and Industry 
market segments are covered by the managers of the Group 
Market Segment Management function, while the manage-
ment and controlling of the OEM market segment is organised 
directly in the OEM strategic business unit.

As at 31 December 2019, the Mature Markets sales region cov-
ered Europe, Russia, Belarus, Ukraine, the Caucasus nations 
and North and Latin America. The Emerging Markets encom-
passed China, India, Korea, the Southeast Asian nations, Aus-
tralia and Oceania, Turkey, the Middle East and Africa. 

Composition of the sales regions 
as at 31 December 2019

Emerging Markets Mature Markets

Organisation and management structure of the Wilo Group

WILO SE

Primary 
control level

Secondary 
control level

BUILDING SERVICES 
RESIDENTIAL

Sales region
Mature Markets

Sales region
Emerging Markets

Strategic business unit
OEM

BUILDING SERVICES 
COMMERCIAL OEM WATER 

MANAGEMENT INDUSTRY
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In the 2019 financial year, 65.7 percent of consolidated net 
sales were attributable to the Mature Markets and 34.3 per-
cent to the Emerging Markets.

As part of strategic planning for the implementation of Ambi-
tion 2025, the functional organisational structure was 
enhanced in order to release additional optimisation poten-
tial. One critical aspect for success is the strengthening of the 

Emerging Markets sales region, which is becoming steadily 
more important for the Wilo Group as a whole. The structure 
of the sales regions was examined accordingly, with the result 
that responsibility for Russia, Belarus, Ukraine, the Caucasian 
nations and Latin America was transferred to the Emerging 
Markets sales region with effect from 1 January 2020.

The organisational structure has an entirely functional align-
ment. The management and controlling of the Wilo Group is 
the responsibility of the Executive Board of WILO SE, which 
consisted of three members in the 2019 financial year. 
Dr. Patrick Niehr was appointed to the Executive Board of 
WILO SE with effect from 1 January 2020, meaning that the 
Executive Board of WILO SE had an additional member from 
the start of the year. The newly created function of Chief 
Change Officer bundles intragroup tasks and relieves the bur-
den on the CEO function in particular. The following schedule 
of responsibilities reflects the new allocation of functional 
responsibilities within the Executive Board.

The Supervisory Board of WILO SE appoints, controls and 
monitors the Executive Board. The Supervisory Board, which 

Net sales 
by region in 2019

65.7%
Mature Markets 

34.3%
Emerging Markets 

President & CEO 
Oliver Hermes

•	 Government & Public Affairs
•	 Sales Regions Mature & 

Emerging Markets
•	 Strategic Business Unit OEM
•	 Group Service
•	 Digitisation Team
•	 Coordination of Executive Board 

activities

CCO 
Dr. Patrick Niehr 

•	 Group Market Segment  
Management

•	 Group Product Management
•	 Group Marketing
•	 Group Legal & Insurance
•	 Group Human Resources

CTO 
Georg Weber

•	 Group Research & Development
•	 Group Procurement & Supply 

Chain Management
•	 Group Operations
•	 Group Quality
•	 Group Location  

Management

CFO 
Mathias Weyers

•	 Group Controlling
•	 Group Accounting & Taxes
•	 Group Finance
•	 Group Internal Audit & 

Compliance
•	 Group Information Management
•	 Group Mergers & Acquisitions

Schedule of responsibilities
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comprises a total of six ordinary members, is appointed by the 
Annual General Meeting. Two members of the Supervisory 
Board are employee representatives appointed at the proposal 
of the European Works Council of WILO SE. Detailed informa-
tion on the cooperation between the Executive Board and the 
Supervisory Board can be found in the Report of the Super
visory Board in this Annual Report.

As part of the continuous review and optimisation of the con-
trolling system, the Executive Board revised the system of 
management-relevant key performance indicators in the year 
under review. The key performance indicators were harmo-
nised to an even greater extent and aligned with the specific 
requirements of Ambition 2025. In managing the Wilo Group, 
the Executive Board is continuing to focus on the develop-
ment of net sales and earnings power. In light of the acceler-
ated increase in net sales from organic and external growth 
that is planned as part of Ambition 2025 and the high level of 
investments, which will require substantial financial resources, 
a greater focus is now also being placed on leverage. Leverage 
describes the ratio of consolidated net debt (financial liabil-
ities and lease liabilities less cash) to consolidated EBITDA. As 
a result, earnings power is now no longer based primarily on 
EBIT and the EBIT margin, but on operating earnings before 
interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation, i.e. EBITDA and 
the EBITDA margin. Net sales, EBITDA, the EBITDA margin and 
leverage are the central performance indicators for the Wilo 
Group, meaning they are included in the analysis of the course 
of business, the assessment of the position of the Group and 
the outlook for the purposes of external financial reporting in 
accordance with GAS 20. 

Another financial key performance indicator at Group level is 
free cash flow, which reflects the excess liquidity generated 
by the Wilo Group. A constantly positive free cash flow serves 
to ensure the financial independence and liquidity of the 
company. The main levers for improving free cash flow are 
increases in net sales and EBITDA. The development of free 
cash flow is also aided by the systematic management of 
working capital and a coordinated investment policy. 

The Wilo Group is required to maintain standard financial 
ratios (financial covenants) under the terms of its long-term 
financing agreements. In addition to leverage, these primarily 
include the equity ratio and the interest cover ratio, which is 
defined as the ratio of consolidated EBITDA to consolidated 
interest expenses. These ratios are also regularly reviewed and 
reported to the Executive Board in order to ensure compliance 
with the required minimum values at all times. The Wilo Group 
continued to comply with the agreed financial ratios in 2019.

All the management-relevant key indicators are derived from 
the key indicators in the consolidated financial statements 
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS). 

In addition to the key performance indicators and ratios 
described above, non-financial aspects such as employees, 
processes along the value chain, sustainability and social 
engagement play an important role in the business success 
and the development of the Wilo Group. ➔ More information 
can be found in Wilo’s Sustainability Report, which is available at 
wilo.com/sustainability-report.1)

Corporate strategy
Ambition 2025 sets out the corporate objectives, develop-
ment and strategic growth path until 2025 and beyond. 

“Together we accelerate our profitable growth as a worldwide 
solution provider” summarises the main strategic objectives 
and underlines the importance of cooperation with various 
stakeholders across national, sector and industry boundaries. 
Accordingly, the Wilo Group plans to press ahead with its glo-
balisation strategy and intensify cooperation and networking 
among all the stakeholders along entire value chain in a tar-
geted manner. The corporate strategy focuses on the Wilo 
Group’s intention to step up its development from a compo-
nent manufacturer into a solution provider to an even greater 
extent.  

1)	� The content accessed via the link does not form part of this Group management 
report. In line with the statutory provisions, KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprüfungs-
gesellschaft has not audited the references or the information to which they refer.
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Accordingly, the Group is continuing to intensify the develop
ment of intelligent products, systems, services and solutions 
and pressing ahead with its digital transformation.

This growth strategy is built on six clearly defined strategic 
pillars: 

■■ Wilo strives to ensure maximum customer satisfaction – 
this is the principle behind the claim “Pioneering for You”. 

■■ Wilo enables and develops its employees – they are the 
backbone of the company. 

■■ Wilo is setting new standards as an innovation leader – 
including innovations in terms of new technologies and 
materials, products and services, process and (digital) 
business models.

■■ Wilo aspires to establish itself as the digital pioneer  
of the pump industry – by seizing the opportunities 
presented by digital transformation. 

■■ Wilo stands for business excellence in all processes – 
along the entire value chain.

■■ Wilo will remain an independent, responsible company – 
based on a stable organisation and shareholder structure. 

To achieve the strategic objectives, the fundamental strategic 
directions for each of the five market segments were defined. 
The objective in the Building Services Residential market seg-
ment is to be a full-service provider and preferred supplier. 
The Building Services Commercial market segment is focused 
on the expansion of market and innovation leadership as a 
solution provider. In the OEM market segment, Wilo is con-
tinuing to position itself as a preferred partner with smart and 
integrated solutions.

Wilo strives 
for ultimate 

customer 
satisfaction.

Wilo engages 
and empowers 

employees.

WILO sets new 
standards as 

innovation leader.

Wilo develops 
into the 

digital pioneer 
in the pump 

industry.

Wilo stands 
for business 
excellence.

Wilo remains an 
independent and 

responsible 
company.

Our Ambition 2025

BUILDING SERVICES 
RESIDENTIAL

We are full-range 
supplier and customers’ 

first choice.

BUILDING SERVICES 
COMMERCIAL

We are market,  
innovation and smart 

solution leader.

OEM 

We are preferred partner 
for smart integrated 

solutions.

WATER 
MANAGEMENT

We are global market 
player and digital solution 

provider.

INDUSTRY 

We are specialist in 
selected branches and 

applications.

Ultimate
Customer 
Satisfaction

Engaged & 
Empowered 
People

Digital 
Pioneer

Business
Excellence 

Innovation
Leadership

Independent &  
Responsible 
Company
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The global market presence in the Water Management market 
segment will be strengthened through digital solutions for 
the water management industry. In the Industry market seg-
ment, Wilo will continue to focus on selected sectors and 
applications in future. 

Ambition 2025 is being implemented as part of specific growth 
initiatives taking into account the following key aspects: cov-
ering every area of application across all market segments, 
strengthening the position as a provider of solutions, expand-
ing regionally and developing new business models and mar-
kets. The growth initiatives explicitly also take account of 
external growth through targeted company acquisitions.

In order to highlight and increasingly address particularly 
important aspects of the strategy, a specific ten-point plan 
for each of Mature and Emerging Markets and a five-point 
plan for the OEM strategic business unit were developed in 
the year under review in addition to the growth initiatives. 
These three plans set out clearly defined, action-based, pro-
ject-driven measures that will be implemented over the com-
ing years in order to support the growth initiatives.

The Wilo Group is also pressing ahead with projects to improve 
efficiency in sales and production in order to permanently 
secure and accelerate its profitable growth. These extensive, 
Group-wide projects comprise the analysis and optimisation 
of significant cost structures and drivers. 

Wilo has defined six relevant megatrends in the context of 
strategic long-term planning. Globalisation, urbanisation, 
energy shortage, climate change, water shortage and digital 
transformation will influence the Wilo Group’s business in the 
future and are already having an impact on the company’s 
current performance.

Taken together, these six megatrends are contributing to a 
major global trend: the creation of smart urban areas. Wilo 
defines this as the establishment and expansion of metropol-
itan areas where the organisation, infrastructure and aspects 
of life are digitally and intelligently connected. A smart urban 
area uses state-of-the-art information and communication 
technology to improve people’s quality of life. Intelligent, 
innovative infrastructures help to make mobility in conurba-
tions more efficient, conserve resources and reduce negative 
effects on the environment. Smart urban areas are arising not 
only in the familiar big cities in mature markets, but also in 
many emerging economies such as India and China. Wilo has 
identified smart urban areas as offering attractive business 
potential and is systematically tapping into new business 
areas here. This strategy goes hand in hand with the intensive 
digitalisation of the Group. 

UrbanisationGlobalisation

Climate change Water shortage

Energy shortage

Digital transformation

The Wilo megatrends
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The overarching vision and mission and the corporate values 
provide the framework for Ambition 2025. The vision is the 
guiding objective that the Wilo Group wants to achieve and a 
confident statement of Wilo’s clear position in a constantly 
changing world. 

On the basis of this vision, the mission defines the main pur-
pose or undertaking that Wilo is pursuing. It also serves as a 
set of instructions for meeting the current and future chal-
lenges of the market. The Wilo Group wants to use its prod-
ucts and the pertinent system solutions and services to make 
people’s lives easier around the world. Integrity, fairness, 
respect, passion and responsibility are the inviolable values 
by and with which Wilo works and lives. They form a shared 
foundation to which each individual in the company commits 
– regardless of their position, duties and responsibilities. Tra-
ditionally, the sustainable success of the Wilo Group has been 
based to a large extent on these shared values. 

The Wilo Group has developed an explicit sustainability strat-
egy on the basis of Ambition 2025. The central tenet of this 
strategy is to provide more people with clean water while 
simultaneously reducing the ecological footprint. A total of 
17 strategic objectives have been formulated within the four 
strategic action areas of “Water”, “Energy & Emissions”, 
“Material & Waste” and “Employees & Company”. These 
objectives are integrated into the functional strategies of the 
individual departments and are therefore part of regular 
reporting. ➔ More information can be found in Wilo’s Sustainabil-
ity Report, which is available at wilo.com/sustainability-report.1)

Research and development
Strategy and direction
Ambition 2025 and the corporate objectives define the over-
arching framework for the Wilo Group’s research and devel-
opment activities. The primary aim is to further expand the 
Wilo Group’s leading position with regard to technology, 
innovation and quality. To this end, clear risks and opportu-
nities from the megatrends relevant to Wilo were first iden-
tified using the corporate foresight process. On this basis, 
three strategic action areas were derived for research and 
development: energy and resource efficiency, systems tech-
nology, solutions expertise, and digital technologies. 

In some cases, the strategic action areas are also addressed 
in close cooperation with outside partners, other industrial 
companies and, increasingly, innovative start-ups. The aim is 
to enrich and expand internal know-how with external exper-
tise. The Wilo Group has established a global research and 
development network to help it conduct the various research 
projects. Wilo also takes advantage of government grants for 
application-related basic issues. As a result of digitalisation, 
Wilo is increasingly also shifting its development focus to new 
business models and complementary services. 

1)	� The content accessed via the link does not form part of this Group management report. In line with the statutory provisions,  
KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft has not audited the references or the information to which they refer.

Vision, mission and values

OUR VISION
Wilo, the water solution 

leader for a smart and 
resource-efficient world.

OUR MISSION
Inventing and managing 

responsible water solutions that 
benefit everyone, everywhere.

OUR VALUES
Integrity, fairness, respect, 

passion, responsibility.
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A central research and development organisation is respon-
sible for all research and development activities. Traditional 
areas of development, such as mechanics, hydraulics, micro-
electronics and software, are addressed by dedicated central 
developer teams for systems and digital products. This 
ensures that the challenges arising partly from the digital 
transformation of all areas of the company are brought 
together and tackled as quickly as possible.

Product series development is also coordinated centrally but 
is carried out locally at the Wilo Group’s various locations. In 
addition to a more agile way of working in light of the advance 
of digitalisation, this form of organisation enables global, 
cross-divisional and interdisciplinary cooperation with the 
ideal transfer of knowledge. Product development places par-
ticular weight on the growth markets in Asia. 

Results 
Numerous structural measures were again performed in the 
area of research and technology in 2019, leading to further 
significant process optimisations. The modular global plat-
form concept developed with the support of external partners 
was rolled out further. The aim of the platform concept is to 
use the results and development components of the various 
projects across divisions and projects, thereby ensuring the 
lasting transfer of technology and knowledge. Development 
costs can thus be permanently lowered and the time to 
market reduced.

In 2019, key elements of product development activities 
included the finalisation of ongoing development projects 
and the definition of new Wilo - top development projects 
with regard to the new platform concept and advancing dig-
italisation. These cross-divisional projects are intended to 
further enhance customer benefit and increase the pace of 
development.

In 2019, Wilo presented a versatile series of standard pumps 
with the global launch of the Wilo-Atmos GIGA-N series. 
Improved hydraulics and the use of IE3 motors enable increased 
overall efficiency than the predecessor models, and hence 
significant energy savings. The extensive range of motors and 
materials and the broad temperature range from -20 to 
+140°C mean this pump series covers a wide range of differ-
ent applications.

In the area of system solutions for smart sewage pumping 
stations, the year under review saw the launch of the Wilo-
Rexa SOLID-Q with Nexos Intelligence. It is characterised by 
operational reliability, energy efficiency and digital network-
ing. It can make a significant contribution to reducing energy 
costs thanks to its high hydraulic efficiency combined with 
high-efficiency IE5 motors and intelligent speed control. Data 
networking with the station network via integrated Nexos 
Intelligence enables comfortable and cost-effective remote 
monitoring and extensive data logging functions.

The integration of Wilo Smart Connect into the Wilo Assistant 
app represented another milestone in product digitalisation. 
Thanks to a customer-friendly user interface, a wide range of 
Wilo pump models that are successfully in use on the market 
can now be parameterised and monitored easily using the app.

WILO Annual Report 2019  |  Group Management Report  |  Basic information on the Wilo Group

37



Employees 
With a slightly lower headcount, the employee structure in 
research and development remained largely stable in 2019 
compared with the previous year. The proportion of women 
in research and development was still around 10 percent. The 
proportion of highly qualified university graduates was around 
70 percent. However, the needs-driven recruitment of qual-
ified young candidates in the disciplines of technology and 
the natural sciences represents a growing challenge. With its 
extensive human resources activities, the Wilo Group there-
fore seeks to be perceived by potential applicants as an 
employer of choice. Special talent promotion programmes, a 
variety of internal and external training and mentoring pro-
grammes and increased cooperation with start-ups are some 
examples of measures aimed at achieving this goal. They are 
intended to ensure that Wilo will continue to successfully 
attract and retain highly qualified employees in the future. 

Patents and licences 
The Wilo Group’s patent strategy is aimed at securing Wilo’s 
competitive advantage against competitors through property 
rights. In particular, these competitive advantages involve 
more cost-effective production processes and innovative 
products and product features that offer particular benefits 
for the customer. Corresponding new developments are iden-
tified in the Wilo patent process and secured through patent 
applications, with a particular focus on inventions relating to 
digital product features. The patents support Wilo’s profitable 
growth by preventing competitors from copying development 
results. Wilo increased its applications and patent portfolio 
compared with the previous year. In the year under review, 
Wilo also submitted appropriate patent applications in Russia 
for the first time. 

Investment and expenditure 
In 2019, investment in research and development again 
focused on the further expansion of laboratory and test facil-
ities. Investment was concentrated in particular on the auto-
mation of existing test benches at the Dortmund site and 
their remote monitoring, as well as preparations for connect-
ing them to the digital structures of the new Smart Factory.

Total research and development costs including capitalised 
development costs amounted to EUR 67.6 million in the year 
under review (previous year: EUR 66.3 million). At 4.6 per- 
cent of net sales, they were slightly above the high level of 
4.5 percent recorded in the previous year. Development costs 
(including borrowing costs) were capitalised in the amount of 
EUR 17.7 million (previous year: EUR 16.9 million). Research 
and development costs in the amount of EUR 50.3 million 
(previous year: EUR 50.7 million) were recognised in profit or 
loss. Amortisation of capitalised development costs amounted 
to EUR 4.4 million in the year under review (previous year: 
EUR 2.3 million).
 

R&D costs* 
in EUR million and as a percentage of net sales

* � including capitalised development costs 

65.0 66.3 67.663.662.4

4.5 4.64.54.94.7

2018 2019201720162015
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BUSINESS REPORT

―― Global economic slowdown in 2019 following escalation of trade conflicts

―― Net sales increase for the tenth year in succession

―― Significant improvement in EBITDA and consolidated net income

―― Operating cash flow reaches new record high

―― Company acquisition in the USA successfully completed

General economic and  
industry-specific conditions

Tangible slowdown in global economic  
momentum in 2019
According to the International Monetary Fund (IMF), the world 
economy grew by just 2.9 percent in 2019 compared with 
3.6 percent in the previous year. The Kiel Institute for the 
World Economy (IfW) expects an increase of 3.0 percent. This 
represents the lowest level of global growth since the finan-
cial crisis a good ten years ago. World trade and industrial 
production weakened across the board. The main factors were 
the trade conflict between the USA and China and the con-
tinued lack of clarity with regard to Brexit. The economy was 
additionally dampened by geopolitical tensions and the 
resulting uncertainty among economic players. However, the 
US Federal Reserve’s return to an expansive monetary policy, 
which was followed by many countries, served to limit an even 
more pronounced downturn. The IMF estimates growth in the 
industrialised nations at 1.7 percent in 2019 (previous year: 
2.2 percent). The pace of expansion also slowed in the emerg-
ing and developing nations, but they remained the main driver 
of the world economy with growth of 3.7 percent (previous 
year: 4.5 percent). 

The following section presents the macroeconomic and 
industry-specific developments in 2019 in the regions that 
are relevant to the Wilo Group. In addition to the general eco-
nomic development of individual countries and regions, the 
economic performance of the Wilo Group is especially influ-
enced by the construction and sanitary industries, among 
others. 

Mature Markets – European construction  
industry enjoys sustained upturn, robust  
industry environment in Russia and the USA
EUROPE.  Having enjoyed a strong expansion until midway 
through the previous year, European economic development 
flattened out further in 2019. This was mainly due to a down-
turn in industrial production and weak exports, including to 
China. By contrast, consumer and service sectors remained 
robust. Domestic demand was supported by the sustained 
expansive monetary policy of the European Central Bank and 
fiscal policy impetus from various governments. According to 
the Eurostat statistical office, the euro area recorded eco-
nomic growth of 1.2 percent in 2019 (previous year: 1.9 per-
cent), with the highest growth rates again recorded in Eastern 
Europe and Ireland. Moderate growth was reported in Scan-
dinavia, Belgium and the Netherlands. The Italian economy 
continued to largely stagnate as a result of structural deficits. 
In France and Spain, where the economy is largely geared 
towards consumer goods, economic momentum remained 
comparatively stable. 
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By contrast, German industry’s above-average focus on capital 
and intermediate goods and the automotive sector and its 
tight integration with the global markets meant the German 
economy was harder hit by the global economic weakness 
than other euro area nations. Industrial production slumped 
in 2019 and slipped into recession. However, this was offset 
by lively private consumer spending and a strong construction 
industry. According to the German Federal Statistical Office, 
gross domestic product (GDP) saw modest growth of 0.6 per-
cent overall (previous year: 1.5 percent). 

The European construction industry continued to expand in 
2019 on the back of the robust domestic economy, strong 
demand for new construction and renovation, and the favour-
able financing environment. In addition to the upturn in build-
ing construction, substantial growth impetus was delivered 
by infrastructure and civil engineering measures. According 
to the Euroconstruct industry network, the volume of Euro-
pean construction output grew by 2.3 percent in real terms in 
2019 (previous year: 3.2 percent). Other than Finland and 
Sweden, all the 19 European countries that are significant for 
the construction industry and that are covered by the Euro-
construct data recorded growth. Construction activity in Ire-
land and Hungary saw double-digit growth, while the upturn 
in Poland was also extremely pronounced. The Eastern Euro-
pean construction industry grew by 7.3 percent (previous 
year: 12.8 percent) on the back of infrastructure projects. 
Construction output in Western Europe increased by 2.0 per-
cent in real terms (previous year: 2.6 percent). 

According to the German Federal Statistical Office, construc-
tion investment in Germany accelerated further in 2019 with 
growth of 3.8 percent in real terms (previous year: 2.5 percent). 
According to the German Institute for Economic Research 
(DIW), the nominal volume of new residential construction 
increased by 7.4 percent to EUR 78.5 billion (previous year: 
10.1 percent). New commercial and public construction also 
enjoyed highly dynamic growth of 7.8 percent to EUR 40.1 bil-
lion (previous year: 6.2 percent). However, two-thirds of the 
total construction volume was attributable to work on existing 
buildings such as expansion, conversion, maintenance and 
modernisation. These measures also saw brisk growth of 
7.7 percent to EUR 168.8 billion for residential construction 
(previous year: 7.9 percent) and 5.9 percent to EUR 68.5 billion 
for non-residential construction (previous year: 6.3 percent).

The German sanitary industry developed extremely positively 
in this environment. According to the German Federal Statis-
tical Office, net sales from the installation of gas, water, heat-
ing, ventilation and air conditioning systems increased by 
6.6 percent in the first three quarters of 2019 (previous full 
year: 5.5 percent).

RUSSIA.  Despite the sanctions, the Russian economy con-
tinued to recover in 2019, albeit only moderately. The Russian 
central bank slashed the key interest rate in several steps from 
June 2019 onwards. Having initially seen little growth, pro-
duction according to IfW figures picked up in the second half 
of the year. According to the central bank, government spend-
ing made a significant contribution to this development. 
Despite the higher level of inflation, the economy was also 
supported by private consumer spending. However, capital 
expenditure remained muted and exports declined. The 
IMF estimates moderate growth in the Russian economy of 
1.1 percent in 2019 (previous year: 2.3 percent). 

Following several years of weakness, the Russian construction 
sector enjoyed strong growth in the previous year thanks in 
particular to a non-recurring effect, namely the Yamal lique-
fied natural gas project. This expansion is now more broad-
based, with the Rosstat statistical office reporting a similar 
construction volume in 2019 to the previous year. The Russian 
construction sector continued to be dominated by major pro-
jects and substantial infrastructure investments, but residen-
tial construction also saw a recovery. 

USA.  The US economy lost momentum during 2019 follow-
ing the expiry of the strong impetus provided by the tax reform. 
Exports also came under pressure as a result of the trade con-
flicts and the weakness of the global markets. Private invest-
ment also stagnated in this environment. The strength of the 
labour market meant that private consumer spending 
remained the main growth driver. Government consumer 
spending also increased further. According to the IMF, the US 
economy is expected to have grown by 2.3 percent in 2019 
(previous year: 2.9 percent). 

In real terms, construction investment in the USA initially 
declined in 2019 before recovering from July onwards, thanks 
among other things to three interest rate cuts by the Federal 
Reserve. All in all, the US construction industry stagnated.  
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It was boosted by significantly higher public construction 
activity, whereas private construction activity declined. Res-
idential construction in particular saw a slowdown. Although 
the number of residential units completed increased by 
5.6 percent in 2019, private spending on residential construc-
tion declined by 5.6 percent up to the end of November, with 
the figure for detached houses falling by as much as 6.9 per-
cent. Construction expenditure in the water supply sector 
increased by 5.1 percent up to the end of November, while 
the figure for the broadly defined wastewater/waste disposal 
sector rose by 9.7 percent.

LATIN AMERICA.  In 2019, the economic environment and 
the development of the construction industry were charac-
terised by low momentum or prolonged crises in almost all 
the economically significant countries in the region. Accord-
ing to the latest World Bank data, however, the region as a 
whole recorded a slight upturn in economic output of 0.8 
percent (previous year: 1.7 percent). The extensive crisis in 
Venezuela continued and Argentina remained in a deep reces-
sion, with economic output declining by 3.1 percent. On the 
other hand, Brazil continued to recover, albeit still with an 
extremely moderate growth rate of 1.1 percent (previous year: 
1.3 percent). In Chile, growth slowed considerably following 
the boom in the previous year. The conflict with the USA 
meant that the Mexican economy stagnated (previous year: 
+2.1 percent). 

Emerging Markets – Slower growth in most  
economies, Turkey still in crisis mode
CHINA.  In 2019, the Chinese economy suffered from the 
trade conflict with the USA and weak international trade. To 
restrict the negative consequences for the domestic econ-
omy, economic policy was relaxed again and minimum reserve 
requirements were lowered. However, the support measures 
are more limited than previous packages on account of the 
high level of debt in China already and the need to prevent 
another lending boom. As a result, the pace of expansion 
continued to slow. According to the NBS statistical office, 
growth in China amounted to 6.1 percent in 2019 (previous 
year: 6.6 percent). 

Despite these factors, the underlying economic momentum 
in China remains above-average. In conjunction with the 
sharp rise in demand for housing and the huge need for mod-
ern infrastructure, both of which are elements of rapid urban-
isation, this is providing structural impetus for the Chinese  

construction industry. According to NBS, building investments 
saw strong growth of 9.9 percent in nominal terms in 2019 
(previous year: 9.5 percent). Residential construction increased 
by as much as 13.9 percent (previous year: 13.4 percent). After 
falling by 4.9 percent in the previous year, Chinese investment 
in water management increased slightly once again in the year 
under review, rising by 1.4 percent in nominal terms. 

INDIA.  Following the massive liquidity problems affecting 
the shadow banks that are important to the Indian economy 
and the collapse of the lease and finance group IL&FS, eco-
nomic momentum slowed substantially from summer 2019 
onwards. In particular, this impacted the Indian automotive 
industry, which is now an important element of the national 
economy, as well as the property sector. As a result, economic 
growth weakened to a far greater extent than originally antic-
ipated. According to the IMF, GDP growth slowed to 4.8 per-
cent in 2019 (previous year: 6.8 percent). 

The Indian construction industry was hard hit by the escalat-
ing problems in the finance sector in 2019. According to the 
market research firm Anarock, 575,000 residential units were 
not handed over to buyers as planned because of – in some 
cases significant – delays. Many construction sites came to a 
complete standstill. On the other hand, investment in the 
systematic creation and expansion of smart cities continued. 

KOREA.  Following the downturn in the previous year, invest-
ment activity declined further as a result of the global eco-
nomic slowdown and weak exports in key industrial sectors 
(including semiconductors, automotive and plastics). Private 
consumer spending also lost momentum slightly. Accordingly, 
the Korean economy continued to slow. The Bank of Korea 
cut the key interest rate twice in an effort to stabilise the 
situation. According to its own figures, gross domestic prod-
uct grew by 2.0 percent (previous year: 2.7 percent). 

In this environment, the construction industry remained 
under pressure across all segments. In addition to commercial 
construction, which was already weak as a result of the broad 
investment restraint, housing construction slowed consider-
ably. According to data from the Korean central bank, con-
struction investment declined by 3.3 percent in real terms in 
2019, thereby continuing the negative development recorded 
in the previous year. 
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SOUTHEAST ASIA.  Singapore’s economic growth almost 
came to a standstill in 2019 due to the country’s strong 
dependence on the world markets. Other countries in the 
region were also hit by the weak global demand, particularly 
Thailand. The GDP growth rate in the five major ASEAN nations 
slowed to 4.7 percent (previous year: 5.2 percent). 

The construction industry, which is characterised by a high 
level of infrastructure investment, is considered to be one of 
the key pillars of the economy along with exports. Residential 
construction is also being driven by population growth, 
increased prosperity and urbanisation. However, this segment 
can be subject to temporary overheating, as is currently the 
case in Malaysia. By contrast, residential construction in Sin-
gapore continued to recover in 2019. The construction indus-
try also enjoyed strong growth in this sector in Indonesia, 
Vietnam and the Philippines. 

TURKEY.  Turkey remained in a deep economic crisis in 2019. 
However, the substantial currency depreciation did not con-
tinue. Inflation improved but remains high at 15 percent. 
Domestic demand was weak on account of the significant loss 
of purchasing power and the overindebtedness of many com-
panies. Under political pressure, the central bank cut the key 
interest rate several times during the second half of the year. 
The low point of the recession is now likely to have been over-
come. According to the latest World Bank figures, the Turkish 
economy stagnated in 2019 (previous year: +2.8 percent). 

The construction industry is in a downward spiral and saw a 
further slump in 2019. Demand on the property market declined 
further, meaning that residential construction remained in 
crisis. Despite a tangible easing of construction costs, build-
ing permits again fell dramatically by almost 64 percent in the 
first three quarters of 2019 in terms of the number of resi-
dential units. Commercial property also saw negative devel-
opment. Vacancy rates on the Istanbul office market increased, 
while many infrastructure projects were delayed on account 
of financing problems. 

MIDDLE EAST & AFRICA.  According to the IMF, growth in the 
Middle East and North Africa fell to 0.8 percent (previous year: 
1.9 percent) as a result of the considerable political uncer-
tainty and smouldering geopolitical hotspots, as well as lower 
oil prices. Saudi Arabia, Kuwait, the United Arab Emirates, 
Qatar and Iraq continued their expansion, whereas Iran slipped 

into a deeper recession due to the US sanctions. Among the 
oil-importing nations, Tunisia and Egypt remained on a mod-
erate growth path. The Egyptian economy again enjoyed 
highly dynamic growth. The Sub-Saharan region also saw 
further robust growth on the back of a slight upturn in Nige-
ria. However, the South African economy remained weak. 

Under these conditions, construction in the region was char-
acterised by a wide range of varying factors. In Egypt, com-
mercial construction and civil engineering both continued on 
their strong growth path in 2019. The high level of demand 
meant that residential construction saw extremely dynamic 
growth, with the centre of the boom being Cairo. Construc-
tion work on the new administrative capital also continued 
and Egypt made substantial investments in infrastructure, 
including the modernisation of water management. The con-
struction industry saw only moderate development in Saudi 
Arabia and Tunisia, and the same was true of Nigeria and 
South Africa, where the order situation did not improve. In 
Algeria, the construction industry suffered from financing 
problems and insolvency. 

Results of operations
Net sales development
In the 2019 financial year, the Wilo Group increased its net 
sales for the tenth year in succession. Net sales grew by 1.0 per-
cent or EUR 14.3 million to EUR 1,477.8 million. Exchange rate 
effects were negligible on the whole in the year under review. 

Net sales development 
in EUR million

2018 2019201720162015

1,317.1 1,463.5 1,477.81,424.81,327.1
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Net sales development in the individual sales regions was as 
follows in the 2019 and 2018 financial years:

Net sales development by region

EUR million 2019 2018 Change %

Mature Markets 970.3 955.5 1.5

Emerging Markets 507.5 508.0 -0.1

Total 1,477.8 1,463.5 1.0

The Mature Markets and Emerging Markets sales regions consisted of the following countries as at 31 December 2019:

– �Mature Markets: All European countries, Russia, Belarus, Ukraine, Caucasus nations and nations of the American continent

– �Emerging Markets: India, China, Korea, Southeast Asian nations, Australia and Oceania, Turkey, Near East and Middle East nations, African nations

MATURE MARKETS.  Net sales in the Mature Markets increased 
by 1.5 percent to EUR 970.3 million. 

In the German-speaking region, net sales increased slightly 
by 0.8 percent. In Germany, the Wilo Group’s largest individ-
ual market, net sales declined by 1.5 percent. While growth 
was generated in the Water Management, Industry and OEM 
market segments, net sales decreased in the area of building 
technology. In Austria, meanwhile, Wilo recorded significant 
growth across all market segments in 2019. Net sales rose by 
19.8 percent in total. This positive development was driven 
in particular by strong project business in the Building Ser-
vices Commercial and Water Management market segments, 
including in connection with flood protection measures. In 
Switzerland, net sales were up slightly on the previous year. 
Growth in the Building Services Residential and, in particular, 
Water Management market segments offset the downturns 
in the other market segments.

In France, Wilo’s second-largest individual market within the 
Mature Markets sales region, net sales declined by 4.2 per-
cent. Growth in the OEM market segment was not sufficient 
to offset the downturn in the other market segments. 

The standardisation of the brand presence, in which Salmson 
brand products are being successively replaced by Wilo prod-
ucts, prompted many wholesalers to initially work their way 
through old stocks. This had a temporary impact on new busi-
ness that should already be reversed in 2020.

Net sales in the Benelux nations fell by 4.5 percent. With the 
exception of Industry and Building Services Residential, net 
sales decreased across all market segments. There is signifi-
cant competitive pressure in the Building Services Commer-
cial market segment, with an impact on project business in 
particular. In the Netherlands, there were also delays in the 
approval of construction projects in 2019 as a result of new, 
more stringent climate protection requirements.

Net sales in Italy fell by 5.3 percent year-on-year, primarily 
as a result of the downturn in the OEM market segment. The 
main reason was an inventory effect among exporters. Many 
Italian OEM customers that export from Italy to Turkey sig-
nificantly expanded their inventories in 2018 ahead of the 
introduction of stricter energy efficiency regulations in Tur-
key, meaning that demand was correspondingly lower in the 
year under review. Significant growth in the Building Services 
Commercial market segment on the back of strong project 
business was not sufficient to offset this effect in 2019.
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Meanwhile, the other Mediterranean nations recorded net 
sales growth of 4.4 percent, with growth recorded in Spain, 
Greece and Portugal. The main growth driver was the Building 
Services Residential market segment, which saw a substantial 
upturn in replacement business in particular.

In Poland, the Wilo Group’s net sales increased by 3.7 percent, 
with growth recorded across almost all market segments. This 
positive development was driven by focused market cultiva-
tion and the booming construction industry. 

In the other Eastern European nations, Wilo’s net sales 
increased by 3.0 percent year-on-year overall. In particular, 
strong growth was recorded in the Water Management market 
segment in Hungary, the Czech Republic and Romania. Net 
sales in the Industry market segment also saw substantial 
growth compared with the previous year. By contrast, the 
OEM market segment saw a fall in net sales after strong per-
formance in the previous year.

Net sales in the United Kingdom and Ireland were up slightly 
on the previous year in 2019. Project business stagnated, 
while reorganisation measures at a major wholesaler had a 
negative impact on business development. The resulting 
downturn in net sales was offset by strong growth in the 
Water Management market segment, where some large-scale 
projects were realised on the basis of long-term master 
agreements. The OEM market segment also saw growth. Many 
customers stocked up considerably in anticipation of Brexit. 

In Russia, Wilo recorded growth in almost all market seg-
ments. Net sales rose by 4.9 percent in 2019. The production 
site in Noginsk, near Moscow, enables the Wilo Group to serve 
the local market efficiently and in line with requirements. Wilo 
is also benefiting from the growing trend towards localisation. 
In the Building Services Commercial and Industry market seg-
ments in particular, some major projects were realised and 
significant growth was generated on the back of government 
subsidies in the district heating and agricultural sectors.

The Caucasian nations achieved substantial growth of 10.4 
percent. Almost all market segments contributed to this pos-
itive development. The main growth drivers were the Water 
Management and Industry segment, with key projects being 
completed in Kazakhstan.

The Wilo Group also saw substantial net sales growth of 13.6 
percent in North America thanks to positive business devel-
opment in both the USA and Canada. The Building Services 
Commercial market segment enjoyed especially high growth. 
This was due in particular to focused key account manage-
ment. Double-digit growth rates were achieved in the OEM 
market segment as a result of strong performance at Scot. In 
addition, the Water Management Water Management market 
segment, which is based on Wilo’s portfolio business in the 
USA, generated substantial net sales growth thanks to the 
reorientation. 

Wilo also recorded substantial net sales growth of 9.0 percent 
in Latin America. Wilo expanded its market presence on the 
Latin American market in the year under review with the 
establishment of a subsidiary in Chile. As a result, the net sales 
growth in Chine and Mexico more than offset the downturn 
in Brazil. This positive development was driven by the Building 
Services Residential and Water Management market segments, 
where Chile and Argentina in particular enjoyed strong growth. 

EMERGING MARKETS.  The Wilo Group’s net sales in the 
Emerging Markets remained essentially unchanged year-on-
year in the 2019 financial year. 

On the Chinese market, Wilo increased its net sales by 3.0 per-
cent. Performance was curbed in particular by the downturn 
in OEM business. which mainly resulted from the expiry of 
Chinese government subsidiaries for more environmentally 
friendly boilers (coal-to-electricity). Business activity was still 
being boosted by this campaign at the start of the previous 
year. Excluding the OEM market segment, net sales in China 
rose by 9.7 percent. 
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Double-digit growth rates were recorded in the Building Ser-
vices Commercial, Water Management and Industry market 
segments. Strong project business as a result of targeted 
market cultivation contributed to this positive development. 
In addition, the Wilo Group benefited from an upturn in 
investment as a result of more stringent environmental 
requirements in the area of water management in particular. 

In India, the Wilo Group enjoyed substantial net sales growth 
of 15.3 percent. Despite the difficult general economic and 
market conditions, all market segments contributed to this 
positive development. In the Water Management market seg-
ment, this is due to successful project business with above-
average growth. This was supported by the Indian govern-
ment’s extensive infrastructure measures in the area of water 
supply and wastewater disposal. Wilo also recorded extremely 
high growth of around 20 percent on the building technology 
market. The sales organisation in India has been successively 
expanded in recent years with the aim of achieving greater 
diversification between the market segments, while the 
dealer network has been extended. 

By contrast, net sales in Korea declined significantly by 9.7 per-
cent. Net sales in all market segments were affected by the 
negative overall market development. Distributors also built 
up substantial inventories towards the end of the previous 
year in connection with various sales campaigns. Accordingly, 
the level of demand was extremely low in the first months of 
2019 in particular. Growing competitive pressure, the weak-
ness of the construction industry and the trade dispute 
between Korea and Japan also had an adverse effect.

In Southeast Asia and Oceania, the Wilo Group increased its 
net sales by 15.4 percent. Double-digit net sales growth was 
generated in all market segments. Indonesia and Vietnam in 
particular enjoyed significant growth thanks to the strong 
performance of the construction industry.

Net sales in Turkey fell by 5.7 percent, with the ongoing 
strained economic situation continuing to have an impact in 
2019. However, the Building Services Residential market seg-
ment recorded moderate growth in spite of the high level of 
price pressure from local competitors, which was exacerbated 
by the depreciation of the Turkish lira against the euro. Net 
sales in the OEM market segment even saw clearly double-
digit growth. However, this was not sufficient to offset the 
downturn in the other market segments, particularly Building 
Services Commercial and Water Management. 

Wilo recorded net sales growth of 4.1 percent in the Middle 
East region. The pronounced recovery of project business in 
the United Arab Emirates, Bahrain, Egypt, Qatar and Iraq more 
than compensated for the downturn in net sales in the OEM 
market segment, which was largely due to the cessation of 
business activities in Iran. In North Africa, the expansion of 
the dealer network and strong project business resulted in 
substantial growth of 13.7 percent.

By contrast, net sales in Central and Southern Africa fell by 
23.2 percent. Other than Building Services Residential and 
Water Management, net sales declined in all market seg-
ments. This was largely due to delays in project business as a 
result of obstacles affecting payment transactions, among 
other things. The figure for the previous year was also boosted 
by a major water supply project in Nigeria.

Net sales in the market segments developed as follows in the 
2019 and 2018 financial years:

Net sales development by market segment

EUR million
2019 2018 Change 

%

Building Services & OEM 1,184.6 1,189.5 -0.4

Water Management & 
Industry 293.2 274.0 7.0

Total 1,477.8 1,463.5 1.0
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Earnings development

Results of operations

EUR million  2019 2018 Change %

Net sales in EUR million 1,477.8 1,463.5 1.0

Gross profit in EUR million 507.5 521.8 -2.7
Gross margin in % 34.3 35.7 -3.9

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) in EUR million 180.1 153.5 17.3
EBITDA as a percentage of net sales (EBITDA margin) in % 12.2 10.5 16.2

Depreciation and amortisation in EUR million 76.9 61.6 24.8

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) in EUR million 103.2 91.9 12.3
EBIT as a percentage of net sales (EBIT margin) in % 7.0 6.3 11.1

Net finance costs in EUR million -5.6 -8.5 34.1

Consolidated net income before taxes in EUR million 97.6 83.4 17.0

Consolidated net income in EUR million 72.4 64.2 12.8

Gross profit fell by EUR 14.3 million year-on-year to EUR 507.5 
million. Accordingly, the gross margin declined by 1.4 per-
centage points to 34.3 percent. This was due in particular to 
a change in the product sales mix in favour of a lower share 
of high-margin products and a shift in regional distribution. 
Firstly, the lower-margin Water Management and Industry 
market segments recorded significantly above-average 
growth of 7.0 percent, while there were corresponding shifts 
in the product mix within the individual market segments. 
Secondly, net sales declined in regions with higher margins, 
such as Germany (-1.5 percent) and France (-4.2 percent), 
while the growth generated in 2019 was primarily in countries 
with comparatively low margins. The cost of sales also 
increased as a result of higher material and component costs 
due to exchange rate effects as well as higher depreciation 
following the commissioning of new production facilities and 
tools, among other things. The savings generated through 
cost reduction measures and increased selling prices partially 
offset the negative impact of the changed product and 
regional mix and the higher cost of sales. 

Selling and administrative expenses were reduced signifi-
cantly by 3.7 percent or EUR 13.9 million year-on-year to 
EUR 359.3 million. The future-proofing and growth- and sav-
ings-oriented reorganisation projects initiated in the previous 
year and initiatives to strengthen sales efficiency had the 
desired effect and achieved considerable savings in 2019.

As a customer-focused premium provider, the Wilo Group 
counts on pioneering and innovative product and technology 
developments. Research and development therefore play a 
central role at Wilo. Total spending on research and develop-
ment, i.e. all research and development costs including cap-
italised development costs, amounted to EUR 67.6 million in 
the year under review (previous year: EUR 66.3 million). At 
4.6 percent of net sales (previous year: 4.5 percent), it remains 
very high. Research costs recognised in profit or loss and non-
capitalised development costs amounted to EUR 50.3 million 
(previous year: EUR 50.7 million). This equates to a slight 
decrease of 0.8 percent.

Operating earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and 
amortisation (EBITDA) therefore increased by EUR 26.6 million 
to EUR 180.1 million. Accordingly, the EBITDA margin (ratio of 
EBITDA to net sales) rose from 10.5 percent in the previous year 
to 12.2 percent in the 2019 financial year. The substantial 
recovery in EBITDA was due to the high level of savings as a 
result of the cost-cutting measures in the previous year. Other 
operating income also improved significantly by EUR 11.2 mil-
lion, from minus EUR 5.9 million to plus EUR 5.3 million. Net 
foreign-currency income from operating activities improved 
by EUR 2.5 million. The previous year was also characterised 
by expenses in connection with reorganisation and sales effi-
ciency improvement measures. Another positive effect of 
around EUR 15 million resulted from the initial application of 
IFRS 16 “Leases”. Since 1 January 2019, all right-of-use 
assets under leases have been recognised in the statement 
of financial position and depreciated on a straight-line basis 
over the term of the lease. 
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The Wilo Group selected the modified retrospective approach 
for the initial application of IFRS 16 “Leases”, meaning it did 
not restate the prior-year figures. Accordingly, depreciation 
and amortisation increased compared with the previous year.

The net finance costs of the Wilo Group improved by EUR 2.9 mil-
lion, from minus EUR 8.5 million in the previous year to minus 
EUR 5.6 million in the year under review. The net result from the 
utilisation and remeasurement of derivative financial instru-
ments increased significantly year-on-year by EUR 4.9 million 
to plus EUR 1.4 million. The opposite was true of net interest 
income, which deteriorated by EUR 1.8 million to minus EUR 
5.1 million as a result of the higher debt volume as well as the 
initial application of IFRS 16 and the corresponding recogni-
tion of the interest portion. 

Income taxes amounted to EUR 25.2 million (previous year: 
EUR 19.2 million). Current tax expense fell slightly, from 
EUR 26.1 million to EUR 25.2 million. Deferred tax income and 
expenses offset each other. While deferred tax expenses for 
the origination and reversal of temporary differences increased 
slightly, the level of deferred tax assets recognised for tax loss 
carryforwards in the year under review was significantly lower 
than in the previous year, meaning that deferred tax income 
declined accordingly.

Consolidated net income grew by EUR 8.2 million to EUR 72.4 
million. As a result, earnings per ordinary share increased to 
EUR 7.38 after EUR 6.55 in the previous year. The return on 
sales, which describes the Wilo Group’s ratio of consolidated 
net income to net sales, improved from 4.4 percent in the 
previous year to 4.9 percent in the year under review. 

Cash flows
Capital expenditure
Capital expenditure on intangible assets and property, plant 
and equipment (not including company acquisitions and 
leases) was again extremely high at EUR 149.8 million in the 
year under review. To support the overarching strategic 
objective of generating long-term profitable growth, the Wilo 
Group enhanced its capacities and structures for products and 
distribution and implemented new technologies. Investment 
again focused on the construction and expansion of new and 
existing sales and production locations, the targeted expan-
sion and continuous modernisation of production capacities, 
the establishment of structures as part of the digitalisation 
of the Wilo Group, and new manufacturing technologies.

Capital expenditure on intangible assets and property, plant 
and equipment1)

in EUR million

2018 2019201720162015

106.4 109.5 124.8 154.8 149.8

1)	excluding leases

EBITDA 
in EUR million

2018 2019201720162015

171.5 158.1 160.6 153.5 180.1

Consolidated net income 
in EUR million

2018 2019201720162015

80.5 76.0 85.9 64.2 72.4
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In addition, WILO USA LLC acquired the operations of the 
pump manufacturer American-Marsh Pumps along with net 
assets of EUR 5.9 million as part of the Wilo Group’s M&A 
activities. The acquisition did not result in any goodwill.  
The acquisition has expanded the Wilo Group’s production 
capacities in the USA, allowing it to offer an even wider range 
of high-quality products made in the USA. Investments 
including company acquisitions therefore amounted to 
EUR 155.7 million in the past financial year.

In 2019, the majority of capital expenditure for the modern-
isation and adjustment of production capacity was again 
attributable to the locations in Germany and France. Capital 
expenditure on property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets including capitalised development costs at these loca-
tions totalled EUR 128.8 million. This corresponds to more 
than 85 percent of the Wilo Group’s total capital expenditure 
in the year under review and reflects the particular impor-
tance of the Group’s Western European locations in terms of 
its strategic focus. With these future-oriented investments, 
the Group is seeking to actively strengthen these locations 
even further. In previous years, priority was given to the 
expansion of the production and sales locations in the high-
growth markets of Korea, China, India, Turkey and Russia. In 
this way, the Wilo Group actively laid the foundations for par-
ticipating in the significant growth potential of these markets.

Capital expenditure in the past financial year again primarily 
related to the strategic location development project at the 
Wilo Group’s headquarters in Dortmund, where the Wilo 
Group is constructing a state-of-the-art Smart Factory at 
which significant elements of the Industry 4.0 vision are being 
realised, among other things. The project also involves the 
construction of a modern office building that will be home to 
around 500 head office employees from 2020. The main con-
struction work on the Smart Factory was completed in the 
year under review, the relocation of production facilities to 
the new factory has begun and the first production lines have 
gone live. Construction and expansion work on the adminis-
trative building and the associated thoroughfares and parking 
spaces continued as planned. 

With a view to current and future changes in the product 
portfolio and further improvements in cost efficiency, the 
Wilo Group also invested in corresponding production capac-
ities. Among other things, the Smart Factory in Dortmund was  
fitted with an automated small parts warehouse and new, 
modern systems for component production that offer a high 
degree of automation and efficiency gains thanks to their 
superior manufacturing technology. This will allow Wilo to 
generate substantial cost savings in future. In addition, a large 
portion of the investments again went on the expansion of IT 
infrastructure as part of the digital transformation. Develop-
ment costs including borrowing costs were capitalised in the 
amount of EUR 17.7 million (previous year: EUR 16.9 million). 
Notable investments were also made in the expansion of the 
sales locations in Romania and Italy. 

Capital expenditure on intangible assets and property, plant 
and equipment (not including company acquisitions and leases) 
broke down as follows in the 2019 and 2018 financial years: 

Capital expenditure on intangible assets and  
property, plant and equipment

EUR million 2019 2018 Change

Capital expenditure  
on intangible assets 23.0 24.8 -1.8

Land and buildings 3.5 21.5 -18.0

Technical equipment and 
machinery 10.1 8.8 1.3

Operating and office 
equipment 19.3 21.4 -2.1

Advance payments and  
assets under construction 93.9 78.3 15.6

Capital expenditure  
on property, plant  
and equipment 126.8 130.0 -3.2

Total 149.8 154.8 -5.0

Cash flow and liquidity
In the 2019 financial year, cash flow from operating activities 
increased significantly from EUR 86.8 million to EUR 168.5 mil-
lion. This was mainly due to the pronounced improvement in 
working capital of EUR 75.0 million. The main reason for this 
improvement was the reduction in inventories as a result of a 
Group-wide inventory optimisation project. After adjustment  
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for exchange rate effects, inventories were reduced by EUR 
28.0 million compared with a sharp increase of EUR 33.6 million 
in the previous year. Trade receivables increased only slightly 
in the year under review, by EUR 2.7 million after adjustment  
for exchange rate effects, following a significant increase of 
EUR 22.4 million in the previous year as a result of the sub-
stantial expansion of business activities towards the end of 
the year. The EUR 11.3 million increase in earnings before 
income and taxes (EBIT) to EUR 103.2 million also contributed 
to the improvement in the cash flow from operating activities. 
In addition, another positive effect of around EUR 15 million 
resulted from the initial application of IFRS 16 “Leases”. Pay-
ments in connection with leases that were not previously 
reported in the statement of financial position in accordance 
with IAS 17 served to reduce cash flow from operating activ-
ities in their full amount. Under IFRS 16, these payments are 
now broken down into interest and principal components. The 
principal component reduces cash flow from financing activ-
ities, as does the interest component, which the Wilo Group 
has opted to report in cash flow from financing activities. This 
has therefore had a positive impact on cash flow from oper-
ating activities and a negative impact on cash flow from 
financing activities. The Wilo Group selected the modified 
retrospective approach for the initial application of IFRS 16, 
meaning it did not restate the prior-year figures.

Net cash used in investing activities increased slightly by EUR 
1.8 million to EUR 150.4 million in the year under review. Pay-
ments for capital expenditure on intangible assets and prop-
erty, plant and equipment were down slightly on the high 
levels recorded in the previous year. However, the acquisition 
of the operations of American-Marsh Pumps resulted in a 
cash outflow of EUR 5.9 million in 2019.

Cash flow from financing activities declined by EUR 29.1 mil-
lion to EUR 11.7 million. An additional EUR 40.0 million of  
the syndicated loan (previous year: EUR 60.0 million) and 
EUR 11.5 million of the KfW development loan (previous year: 
EUR 8.0 million) was drawn down in the 2019 financial year. 
The EUR 14.8 million dividend payment to the shareholders of 
WILO SE served to reduce liquidity (previous year: EUR 19.3 mil-
lion). In addition, repayments of lease liabilities and the cor-
responding interest payments reduced the cash flow from 
financing activities by EUR 17.4 million.

The individual cash flows for the 2019 and 2018 financial 
years were as follows:

Cash flows

EUR million 2019 2018 Change

Cash flow from 
operating activities 168.5 81.7 86.8

Cash flow from 
investing activities -150.4 -148.6 -1.8

Cash flow from 
financing activities 11.7 40.8 -29.1

Change in cash 29.8 -26.1 55.9

Cash at the end of the 
financial year 166.1 135.4 30.7

Free cash flow 10.2 -73.1 83.3

Despite the sustained high level of capital expenditure, the Wilo 
Group generated positive free cash flow of EUR 10.2 million 
in the 2019 financial year, calculated as the difference between 
the cash flows from operating and investing activities includ-
ing interest income and expenses and dividends received. This 
represents a significant improvement of EUR 83.3 million. The 
funds generated are available to the Wilo Group to service its 
capital providers. This means the Wilo Group continues to 
have a high self-financing capacity.

Including the positive net effects of currency translation in the 
amount of EUR 0.9 million, cash increased by EUR 30.7 million 
to EUR 166.1 million as at 31 December 2019. 

Cash flow from operating activities 
in EUR million

2018 2019201720162015

132.3 137.4 140.4 81.7 168.5
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Financial management
The goal of financial management is to maintain the financial 
independence of the company, ensure liquidity at all times 
and support the operating activities of the Wilo Group. In 
addition to its operating cash flow, the Wilo Group has suffi-
cient financing facilities from international banks for this 
purpose, consisting of short and medium-term cash credit 
facilities as well as guarantee and margin facilities of more 
than EUR 390 million. This includes a syndicated loan con-
cluded in 2013 with a credit facility of EUR 300.0 million 
whose term was extended by one year to 2024 during the  
year under review. Overall, EUR 108.3 million (previous year: 
EUR 67.3 million) of the cash credit facilities were utilised as 
at 31 December 2019, of which EUR 105.0 million (previous 
year: EUR 65.0 million) related to the syndicated loan. Guar-
antee and margin facilities were utilised in the amount of 
EUR 24.9 million (previous year: EUR 21.3 million).

The Wilo Group’s financial liabilities increased by EUR 50.4 
million to EUR 318.9 million as at 31 December 2019. 

Financial liabilities primarily comprise senior notes in the 
amount of EUR 75.0 million, EUR 37.0 million and EUR 30.0 
million. These senior notes, each of which has a ten-year 
term, were issued by WILO SE in US private placements in 
2011, 2013 and 2017. The Group also has a promissory note 
loan with a volume of EUR 25.0 million, which was taken out 
in 2011 and will be repaid in instalments until 2020. This 
promissory note loan had a carrying amount of EUR 2.5 million 
as at 31 December 2019 (previous year: EUR 5.0 million). An 
additional promissory note loan with a volume of EUR 50.0 
million and a term of ten years was taken out in 2017. This 
loan will be repaid in instalments from 2022. In addition, a KfW 
development loan of EUR 19.5 million with a term of ten years 
was concluded in 2017 to finance the administrative building 
as part of the construction project at the Dortmund location. 
The loan amount has been drawn down since 2018 according 
to the progress of construction. It will be repaid in instalments 
after two redemption-free years. The KfW development loan 
was drawn down in full as at 31 December 2019 (previous 
year: EUR 8.0 million). 

Change in cash 
in EUR million

Cash 
31 Dec. 2018

Cash 
31 Dec. 2019

Cash flow from operating 
activities

Cash flow from investing 
activities

Cash flow from financing 
activities

Currency translation

0.9 166.111.7-150.4168.5135.4
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The Wilo Group operates active portfolio management with 
regard to the origin, type and maturity structure of its bor-
rowings. Financing policy focuses primarily on both return and 
security targets.

WILO SE currently expects to be able to repay the tranches of 
the senior notes and promissory note loans, other loan liabil-
ities and overdrafts on maturity from its budgeted cash flows 
from operations, as well as through refinancing measures as 
required. There is no indication that the volatility and deterio-
ration of the global economic and financial market environment 
could have a material negative impact on the Wilo Group’s 
financing activities. As at 31 December 2019, cash amounted 
to EUR 166.1 million (previous year: EUR 135.4 million). The 
Wilo Group’s leverage, which describes the ratio of the net 
financial position (financial liabilities and lease liabilities less 
cash) to consolidated EBITDA, increased from 0.87 at the end 
of the previous year to 1.08 as at 31 December 2019, largely 
as a result of the initial application of IFRS 16 and the result-
ing recognition of lease liabilities as well as the assumption 
of additional financial liabilities. The Wilo Group selected the 
modified retrospective approach for the initial application of 
IFRS 16, meaning it did not restate the prior-year figures.

➔ More detailed information on the financing structure can be found in 
note (9.10) to the consolidated financial statements on page 111 et seq.

Financial position
The Wilo Group’s total assets increased by 10.1 percent or 
EUR 150.6 million year-on-year to EUR 1,641.4 million as at 
31 December 2019. Non-current assets rose by 18.5 percent 
or EUR 142.1 million to EUR 909.3 million. This was attribut-
able in particular to capital expenditure on intangible assets 
and property, plant and equipment in the amount of EUR 
149.8 million. Investments in property, plant and equipment 
of EUR 126.8 million mainly related to location development 
in Dortmund and new manufacturing technologies. The Wilo 
Group also invested EUR 23.0 million in intangible assets, of 
which EUR 17.3 million related to capitalised development 
costs plus capitalised borrowing costs of EUR 0.4 million. As 
part of the initial application of IFRS 16 “Leases”, right-of-use 
assets of EUR 39.2 million were also recognised in property, 
plant and equipment as of 1 January 2019. The Wilo Group 
also assumed property, plant and equipment of EUR 3.4 million 
as part of the acquisition of the operations of American-
Marsh Pumps. Positive exchange rate effects also resulted 
from the remeasurement of intangible assets and property, 
plant and equipment originally held in foreign currency in the 
amount of EUR 5.4 million. Amortisation of intangible assets 
and depreciation of property, plant and equipment amounted 
to EUR 76.9 million in the year under review. Intangible assets 
and property, plant and equipment therefore increased by 
EUR 131.1 million in net terms. Deferred tax assets rose by 
EUR 12.4 million to EUR 85.7 million. This was mainly attrib-
utable to the recognition of deferred taxes on pension and 
lease liabilities and tax loss carryforwards. 

The carrying amount of current assets increased slightly by 
1.2 percent or EUR 8.5 million year-on-year to EUR 732.1 mil-
lion as at 31 December 2019. Inventories – excluding the 
inventories assumed as a result of the acquisition of American-
Marsh Pumps – declined significantly by 9.9 percent or EUR 
26.2 million as a result of a Group-wide inventory optimisa-
tion project. All in all, inventories fell to EUR 243.1 million.  

0.25 1.080.870.01 -0.26

Leverage

2018 2019201720162015
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Current trade receivables increased slightly by 1.6 percent or 
EUR 4.6 million to EUR 288.5 million. Working capital was 
reduced by 4.7 percent overall to EUR 360.6 million. Cash 
amounted to EUR 166.1 million as at 31 December 2019 and 
was thus EUR 30.7 million higher than at the end of the pre-
vious year. 

The Wilo Group’s equity increased by 7.3 percent or EUR 54.0 
million year-on-year to EUR 792.4 million as at 31 December 
2019. This was mainly due to the consolidated net income  
of EUR 72.4 million for the 2019 financial year. Equity also 
increased due to positive effects of EUR 6.6 million from the 
translation of subsidiaries’ separate financial statements 
prepared in local currencies. The scheduled dividend payment 
to the shareholders of WILO SE served to reduce equity by 
EUR 14.8 million. Equity was also reduced by actuarial losses 
on pension obligations after deferred taxes in the amount  
of EUR 7.0 million. The equity ratio declined slightly from 
49.5 percent to 48.3 percent, primarily as a result of the addi-
tional financial liabilities assumed in the financial year. 

As at 31 December 2019, non-current liabilities in the amount 
of EUR 395.5 million primarily consisted of financial liabilities 
in the amount of EUR 205.4 million and provisions for pensions 
and similar obligations of EUR 91.1 million. Provisions for pen-
sions and similar obligations increased by EUR 11.1 million in 
the year under review. This was due in particular to the reduc-
tion in the discount rate from 2.05 percent to 1.20 percent. 
Non-current other financial liabilities rose by EUR 25.3 million 
to EUR 32.5 million. This was primarily due to the recognition 
of non-current lease liabilities as a result of the initial appli-
cation of IFRS 16 “Leases” with effect from 1 January 2019. 
Deferred tax liabilities rose by EUR 9.2 million to EUR 58.9 mil-
lion. This was largely due to capitalised development costs 
and right-of-use assets arising from leases, for which corre-
sponding deferred tax liabilities were recognised.

The carrying amount of current liabilities rose by EUR 43.4 mil-
lion year-on-year to EUR 453.5 million as at 31 December 2019. 
On the one hand, current financial liabilities increased by EUR 
43.1 million to EUR 113.5 million, largely as a result of the 
utilisation of the syndicated credit facility to finance the loca-
tion project in Dortmund, among other things. On the other 
hand, current other financial liabilities rose by EUR 6.4 million 
to EUR 42.3 million, particularly due to the recognition of 
current lease liabilities as a result of the initial application of 
IFRS 16 “Leases” with effect from 1 January 2019. Conversely, 
current other liabilities declined by EUR 12.8 million to 
EUR 78.8 million. The previous year was characterised by reor-
ganisation measures. Moreover, income tax liabilities declined 
compared to the previous year.

Equity ratio 
in %

2018 2019201720162015

48.349.551.649.3 53.6
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The net assets of the Wilo Group were as follows as at 
31 December 2019 and 2018:

Financial position

EUR million 2019 % 2018 %

Non-current assets 909.3 55.4 767.2 51.5

Inventories 243.1 14.8 264.5 17.7

Current trade receivables 288.5 17.6 283.9 19.0

Cash 166.1 10.1 135.4 9.1

Other current assets 34.4 2.1 39.8 2.7

Total assets 1,641.4 100.0 1,490.8 100.0

Equity 792.4 48.3 738.4 49.5

Non-current liabilities 395.5 24.1 342.3 22.9

Current trade payables 173.0 10.5 172.3 11.6

Other current liabilities 280.5 17.1 237.8 16.0

Total equity and liabilities 1,641.4 100.0 1,490.8 100.0

Statement by the Executive Board 
on the economic situation 
In a challenging and demanding macroeconomic environment, 
the Wilo Group increased its net sales for the tenth year in 
succession. Net sales reached a new record of EUR 1,477.8 
million. In light of the difficult and uncertain political and 
macroeconomic situation in conjunction with an economic 
slowdown that was more pronounced than anticipated, the 
Executive Board considers the course of business in 2019 to 
be very successful on the whole. 

The world economy slowed to a greater extent than expected 
in 2019 as a result of the escalating trade disputes and geo-
political crises and the associated uncertainty. The global 
economy was hit by a significant and regionally far-reaching 
downturn that affected the industrialised nations and the 
typically high-growth developing and emerging economies 
in equal measure. 

The monetary policy turnaround initiated by the US Federal 
Reserve with a relaxation of interest rates in the summer 
helped to prevent an even more substantial weakening of the 
world economy. International economic development in 2019 
was also characterised by two separate trends in the indus-
trialised nations. Domestic demand in the form of private con-
sumption and lively construction activity was barely impacted 
by the downturn, whereas many industrial sectors slipped into 
recession. This made 2019 a particularly challenging year for 
international companies like Wilo. 

Wilo achieved net sales growth of 1.0 percent in 2019. The 
original growth target of around 5 percent was not achieved 
on account of the unexpectedly pronounced global economic 
slowdown. The fact that the Wilo Group was able to expand 
once again even in this difficult and uncertain economic 
environment can be attributed to its clear strategic orientation 
and the high level of commitment throughout the entire Wilo 
team. 
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Wilo generated outstanding growth in 2019 in the markets of 
Eastern Europe, particularly Russia and Poland, as well as in 
India and North and Latin America. This shows that the strategy 
of broad regional diversification is paying off. Risks and down-
turns in net sales in individual markets are offset by positive 
developments in other regions. 

Another notable achievement in 2019 was the significantly 
above-average growth in the Water Management segment 
and in products, systems and solutions for cold water appli-
cations. More than half of Wilo’s business activities now 
involves non-heating applications. The megatrends of urban-
isation, climate change and water shortage that are strategi-
cally addressed by the Wilo Group are contributing to this 
success and are also opening up significant growth potential 
for the future. 

The Executive Board revised the system of management-
relevant key performance indicators in 2019 as part of a con-
tinuous review and optimisation of the controlling system. 
The core indicators were harmonised to an even greater 
extent and aligned with the specific requirements of Ambition 
2025. As a result, earnings power is now no longer based pri-
marily on EBIT and the EBIT margin, but on operating earnings 
before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation, i.e. 
EBITDA and the EBITDA margin. EBITDA and EBIT both saw 
double-digit growth in excess of 10 percent. EBITDA achieved 
a new record of EUR 180.1 million, representing a year-on-
year increase of EUR 26.6 million or 17.3 percent. The corre-
sponding EBITDA margin, which describes the ratio of EBITDA 
to net sales, improved by 1.7 percentage points to 12.2 per-
cent. The Executive Board sees this as an outstanding success, 
not least in light of the difficult environment. EBIT also 
improved by a significant 12.3 percent compared with the 
previous year. At 7.0 percent, however, the EBIT margin failed 
to meet the Executive Board’s expectations as a result of the 
weaker than expected revenue development and in some 
cases substantial shifts in the regional and product mix. 

One of the main reasons for the improvement in profitability 
was the significant savings achieved as a result of the 
cost-cutting measures in the previous year. In light of the 
uncertain outlook for the coming years and the intense com-
petitive environment, the Executive Board will continue to 
analyse cost drivers and optimise structures in a targeted 
manner. Short-term declines in profitability are only accepted 
if they serve to secure the company’s future viability and 
strengthen its performance in the long term. A high level of 
profitability resulting in substantial operating cash flows is 
the only way for the Wilo Group to realise its ambitious growth 
projects and ensure that it retains a high degree of independ-
ence as a company.

Wilo again invested significantly in the year under review, with 
investments in excess of EUR 155 million. This corresponds 
to over 10 percent of net sales. Wilo’s focus on the future is 
underlined by its investment activity over the last ten years, 
with capital expenditure of around EUR 1 billion in the past 
decade. Investment activity focused on the future-oriented 
expansion of production capacities, the extension of the sales 
infrastructure and the acquisition of companies in various 
countries as well as the company’s own digital transforma-
tion. 

These investments required and will continue to require 
financing. With a solid statement of financial position and 
financing structure and a high self-financing capacity with 
strong operating cash flows, the Group has stable foundations 
for achieving this. In the past financial year, the Wilo Group 
more than doubled its cash flow from operating activities to 
over EUR 168 million. This significant year-on-year improve-
ment was achieved thanks to targeted measures to optimise 
working capital – particularly inventories – and various initi-
atives for improving profitability.
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With the acquisition of American-Marsh Pumps in the fourth 
quarter of the year under review, the Wilo Group made further 
progress in sustainably strengthening its US activities and 
developing them into the most profitable in the Group. The 
expansion of production capacities and the product portfolio 
in the USA will leverage numerous synergies and allow the 
local market to be served even more efficiently and in line 
with customer requirements. 

A key milestone in the digital transformation of the Wilo 
Group was achieved with the completion of construction work 
and the commissioning of the first production lines at the new 
Smart Factory in Dortmund. Pumps have been manufactured 
at the state-of-the-art production facility since the end of 
2019. Smart production not only connects machines and 
workstations, but the Smart Factory is an emblem of Wilo’s 
pioneering spirit that offers an ideal environment for creativ-
ity, future-oriented work and new ideas. By the time of Wilo’s 
150th anniversary in 2022, production, administration, cus-
tomer service and product development will have been 
brought together again at the headquarters in Nortkirchen-
strasse within a new structure – the WiloPark. The new, mod-
ern administrative building is already set to open in April 2020. 
In past years, Wilo made major investments outside Germany 
in particular, including in India, China, Korea, Turkey and 
Russia. With the creation of the WiloPark, the Executive Board 
is issuing a clear and positive statement that Germany as a 
location and securing jobs at the headquarters in Dortmund 
are top priorities for Wilo.

In light of the extremely challenging environment in 2019 and 
the specific factors for the Wilo Group’s business, the Execu-
tive Board has a broadly positive assessment of the company’s 
business performance and economic situation in terms of the 
growth generated, its strong operating cash flow, its strong 
market presence and innovative capacity and its solid financ-
ing structure. 

Although the improvement was less pronounced than expected 
due to the circumstances discussed above, the Executive 
Board considers the development of operating profitability in 
the form of the EBITDA margin to be a success. 

In summary, the Executive Board still considers the economic 
situation of the Wilo Group to be highly stable and sustainable. 
This assessment is based on the results in the consolidated 
financial statements and the separate financial statements of 
WILO SE for 2019 and takes into account business perfor-
mance up until the preparation of the 2019 Group manage-
ment report. At the time of this Group management report 
being prepared, business performance in early 2020 is in line 
with the Executive Board’s expectations.

The 2020s have begun, and the Executive Board is not only 
looking back with pride at a successful 2019 financial year, 
but also looking back on a exciting and highly successful dec-
ade. The Wilo Group has increased its net sales by an out-
standing 60 percent over the past ten years. With its stable 
ownership structure, financial strength, innovative power, 
clearly defined strategy and dedicated managers and employ-
ees, the company is extremely well positioned to master the 
immense challenges of the future and the various scenarios 
the next decade will present. In recent years as well as in the 
2019 financial year, Wilo has established highly solid founda-
tions that will allow it to continue on its desired path of prof-
itable growth in the coming decade. 
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REPORT ON RISKS AND OPPORTUNITIES

―― Integrated risk management system provides transparency  
and security

―― Systematic identification and realisation of operational and  
strategic opportunities

―― Overall risk situation largely unchanged year-on-year

―― No risks that could jeopardise the future of the company

Risk and opportunities policy
The Wilo Group’s corporate strategy and business policy are 
primarily aimed at ensuring the independence of the com-
pany, growing profitably and increasing enterprise value in the 
long term. As an enterprise with global operations, the Wilo 
Group is exposed to various risks. At the same time, however, 
the global focus also gives rise to numerous opportunities. In 
this respect, business activity requires the careful monitoring 
of all relevant risks and opportunities. As a matter of principle, 
the Executive Board makes its strategic and operational deci-
sions on the basis of a systematic analysis and assessment of 
identified risks and opportunities with regard to the income, 
financial and liquidity situation of the Wilo Group in addition 
to future development. Risks that could jeopardise the future 
of the company as a going concern, or that are inappropriately 
high or unclear, are categorically not entered into. 

Accordingly, the comprehensive and systematic risk manage-
ment system that is installed throughout the entire Wilo Group 
and the forward-looking procedure for managing opportuni-
ties are fixed components of corporate management. 

Opportunities management
The systematic identification and realisation of operational 
and strategic opportunities is essential for promoting and 
ensuring the profitable growth that is the aim of the corporate 
strategy.

As opportunities management is not directly integrated into 
the risk management system, opportunities are not assessed 
in line with the methodology prescribed by risk management. 

Instead, the Wilo Group identifies and assesses operational 
opportunities directly in the regions, market segments and 
central functions, where the respective markets are monitored 
and analysed. This allows trends and new developments to be 
recognised at an early stage and any potential opportunities 
to be derived. These are then evaluated in detail as part of the 
planning process and incorporated directly into medium-term 
planning via scenario calculations. Resources are coordinated 
and allocated at Group level. 

Opportunities of elevated strategic significance arising from 
acquisitions or partnerships are analysed, assessed and imple-
mented at Executive Board level, as are changes in strategy. 
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The risks and opportunities potentially arising from the rele-
vant global megatrends for the Wilo Group and the accom-
panying implications for the company are derived and ana-
lysed as part of the corporate foresight process. In this way, 
the corresponding opportunities are systematically included 
in the ongoing development of the corporate strategy.

Risk management system
The Wilo Group has a state-of-the-art, integrated, globally 
available risk management system. It ensures that business 
risks are identified at an early stage and effective counter-
measures are initiated promptly. Monitoring of the measures 
initiated and their consistent implementation is a key com-
ponent of this system. Once identified, risks are assessed, 
managed as far as possible, and monitored at all times. The risk 
management system is audited annually by Internal Audit on 
the basis of Audit Standard No. 2 promulgated by Deutsches 
Institut für Interne Revision (DIIR).

Risk management at the Wilo Group is organised on a decen-
tralised basis. Level-two managers throughout the Group who 
act as risk management officers are responsible for risk track-
ing and reporting. They work in close cooperation with the 
Group risk manager and are aided by Controlling. Checklists 
and risk classification ensure uniform risk assessment and 
procedural compatibility throughout the entire Wilo Group. 
The relevant communication and information platform is pro-
vided by software in line with Group requirements. 

The Executive Board bears overall responsibility for risk man
agement and defines the risk strategy for the Wilo Group. Risk 
strategy is implemented throughout the Group using uniform 
guidelines and processes. 

Integral components of the risk management system are:

■■ the Risk Management Directive
■■ the risk atlas
■■ risk management officers in the regions and  

central functions
■■ the Group risk manager
■■ regular risk reporting
■■ ad hoc risk reporting

The Risk Management Directive of the Wilo Group sets out 
the principles for handling risks. It also stipulates the require-
ments for risk reporting, procedures for the measurement of 
risk and compulsory reporting thresholds. Furthermore, it 
defines the duties and authorisations of all persons involved 
in the risk management process.

The risk atlas sets out uniform categories to be used for the 
structuring of risk identification. To ensure that all relevant 
risk areas are tracked at all times, the risk atlas is checked for 
completeness on an ongoing basis and adjusted as required. 

The respective risk management officers of the Wilo Group 
ensure that risks are tracked and controlled in the divisions 
for which they are responsible. In this way, specific risks are 
identified and reported on for the individual sales regions and 
central functions. The Group risk manager coordinates this 
decentralised risk management process and reports regularly 
to the WILO SE Executive Board on a quarterly basis and on 
an ad hoc basis as necessary.

As part of risk identification, information on customers and 
suppliers is analysed and market and competition analyses 
are prepared in line with the respective data protection reg-
ulations and for internal purposes only. Furthermore, risks 
relating to the political and macroeconomic environment are 
monitored and assessed.
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The risks identified are analysed using a uniform methodology 
set out by the Risk Management Directive. The specific prob-
ability of occurrence (in the next twelve months), gross and 
net risk are calculated for each identified risk. The net risk 
takes into account measures to prevent or mitigate risk. The 
aim of these measures is to reduce the potential loss or the 
probability of occurrence. Where possible and economically 
feasible, risks are limited at the Wilo Group by insurance pol-
icies or, for financial risks, by the use of suitable derivative 
financial instruments. The Risk Management Directive also 
defines binding reporting thresholds. It stipulates that the risk 
management officers must report every risk for which the net 
potential loss exceeds a defined value regardless of the prob-
ability of occurrence. 

The risks reported by the divisions are aggregated at Group 
level in the risk management system. The Executive Board 
receives quarterly and, if necessary in individual cases, imme-
diate reports on the findings of risk analyses. In addition, the 
Supervisory Board and the Audit Committee it appoints are 
comprehensively and constantly informed of the status and 
development of the risk management system.

The basic aim of this controlling system is to keep the Wilo 
Group’s overall risk exposure transparent and within accept-
able business limits.

Risk classification and  
risk assessment
The sections below describe the key risks to the Wilo Group. 
Suitable countermeasures, hedges and the general conditions 
are taken into account in calculating the respective probability 
of occurrence and potential loss. 

The risks, their probabilities of occurrence and their possible 
financial impact on EBIT are measured and classified as follows: 

Probability of occurrence

Unlikely ≤ 20%

Possible > 20% ≤ 50%

Likely > 50%

If the probability of occurrence of a potential risk is between 
20 percent and 50 percent, the corresponding risk is classed 
as possible. A potential risk is considered likely if the possi-
bility of the risk actually occurring is higher than 50 percent 
and unlikely if the possibility is no greater than 20 percent.

Potential negative impact on EBIT

Low ≤ 10%

Medium > 10% ≤ 50%

High > 50%
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Overview of business risks

 
Probability of  

occurrence
Potential negative 

impact on EBIT

General risks   

Economic environment Possible Medium

Extraordinary external disruptions Possible Medium

Legal and regulatory environment Possible Medium

Industry-specific risks   

Competition Possible Medium

Company-specific risks   

Research and development Possible Low

Production Unlikely Medium

Human resources Possible Low

Information technology Unlikely Medium

Acquisitions and strategic partnerships Possible Medium

Financial risks   

Exchange rates Likely Low

Interest* Possible None

Commodities Possible Low

Defaults Possible Low

Financing and liquidity Unlikely Low

* �The possible impact of interest rate risk relates to net financial costs and is classed as low.  
More detailed information can be found in the “Financial risks and opportunities” section of the Group management report.

In the event of the assumed occurrence of a risk, the possible 
financial impact on EBIT that can be derived is classified into 
one of the three categories low, medium or high based on the 
forecast percentage deterioration of EBIT. An EBIT deteriora-
tion of between 10 percent and 50 percent is considered a 
medium earnings impairment. An earnings reduction that is 
feasible but considered low would therefore have an esti-
mated negative effect on EBIT of up to 10 percent, while a 
high financial impact would be an expected negative effect 
of more than 50 percent.

The overarching risk classification in the Wilo Group’s risk 
profile as summarised in the “Overview of business risks” 
table did not change compared with the previous year. 

General risks and opportunities
Economic environment
Economic and market risks can arise due to general economic, 
political and social trends. The specific development of the 
construction sector and the sanitary industry in the respective 
countries and regions is considered particularly important in 
terms of industries. The Wilo Group is dependent on these 
developments to a significant extent. However, the broad 
international presence of the Wilo Group also helps to balance 
risk between activities in individual regions. 
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On account of the uncertainties and risks involved, the Wilo 
Group carefully observes and continuously analyses economic 
developments and expectations from a macroeconomic and 
political perspective as well as with a view to developments 
in its customers’ industries. This allows corresponding coun-
termeasures to be taken at an early stage where necessary in 
order to secure the current or planned future economic situ-
ation of the Wilo Group to the best possible extent. In par-
ticular, this involves specific country risks, which are mini-
mised by way of targeted countermeasures. Although the 
conditions on the global markets remain extremely uncertain 
in some cases, meaning that future expectations are subject 
to risk, selected markets in Asia, Latin America and Africa offer 
extremely good growth opportunities. However, these pop-
ulous, high-growth markets also involve heightened risk. The 
Wilo Group reduces its risk potential considerably by adopting 
targeted organisational changes, expanding and upgrading 
local production capacity, optimising their use and leveraging 
synergies.

Growth in the world economy slowed considerably in 2019. 
The trade conflicts meant that growth momentum declined 
in the industrialised nations as well as in the developing and 
emerging economies. Economic researchers expect 2020 to 
see a slight upturn in world trade and a stabilisation in the 
global economy, although the underlying trend will remain 
weak. Forecasts remain subject to considerable uncertainty. 
The potential spread of the coronavirus epidemic, the sharp 
rise in government and private debt around the world and 
nationalism and protectionism all represent major political 
and economic risk factors. In addition, the expansion of the 
US trade conflicts to Europe cannot be ruled out. The geopo-
litical crises in North Africa and the Middle East also remain 
unresolved. Although Brexit has now taken place, the eco-
nomic consequences are still unclear. In this combination of 
circumstances, there is a possibility that an escalation in risk 
or a renewed turnaround in interest policy could lead to 
upheaval on the capital markets with a corresponding impact 
on the real economy. The Wilo Group is closely monitoring 
these developments and, if necessary, will selectively adjust 
business policy decisions in a timely manner in order to limit the 
financial risks to the Group and reassess the opportunities.

All in all, the Wilo Group considers the potential negative 
impact of the economic environment on the company’s results 
of operations to be moderate (medium earnings impact accord-
ing to risk classification).

Extraordinary external disruptions
As a globally operating group of companies, Wilo is exposed 
to various external risks. Natural disasters, terrorist attacks, 
epidemics, fire and political unrest can potentially impair 
business activity at the affected location. The Wilo Group 
classifies the probability of occurrence of extraordinary dis-
ruptions as possible. Targeted measures have been taken to 
minimise the potential impact of the current coronavirus epi-
demic, geopolitical crises in individual countries and regions 
and the relevant forecast risks for the Wilo Group’s business. 
In the event of a further escalation, additional steps will be 
taken to limit the risk to which the Group is exposed. To the 
extent possible and reasonable, the Wilo Group is also ade-
quately insured against operational shutdowns and property 
damage. In addition, Wilo has developed and implemented 
appropriate emergency plans and preventive measures to 
minimise the potential negative effects. The Wilo Group 
classes the earnings effect of extraordinary external disrup-
tions as moderate (medium earnings impact according to risk 
classification). 

Legal and regulatory environment
Material changes in legal conditions and the regulatory envi-
ronment (e.g. restrictions on trade, tax legislation, product 
quality, energy efficiency and safety standards) can have a 
negative or positive effect on the business activities of the 
Wilo Group.

On the one hand, restrictions on trade could make commod-
ity procurement more difficult or more expensive and the sale 
of products in certain markets or regions may be restricted. 
There has been a global rise in protectionist tendencies and 
an observable rejection of free trade and globalisation. In 
addition, heightened requirements as a result of product 
quality or safety standards may lead to increased production 
or research and development costs. 
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On the other hand, changes in legal conditions and the reg-
ulatory environment can also give rise to opportunities. For 
example, the introduction or tightening of energy efficiency 
directives could lead to increased demand for energy-effi-
cient products. 

With its broad range of high efficiency pumps, the Wilo Group 
is in an ideal position to serve the respective markets quickly 
and comprehensively. The legal conditions and the regulatory 
environment in all its key markets are continuously observed 
in order to ensure that it can identify potential problem areas 
or opportunities at an early stage and quickly adapt its busi-
ness activities accordingly. The occurrence of risks arising 
from the legal or regulatory environment is possible. The 
impact on the Wilo Group’s results of operations is considered 
to be moderate (medium earnings impact according to risk 
classification). 

Urbanisation
The rapid growth of the world’s population is unabated; pop-
ulation explosions are being seen in Asia and Africa in par-
ticular. The United Nations (UN) expects the Earth will be 
home to nearly ten billion people in 2050. At the same time, 
the proportion of the population living in urban conurbations 
is increasing rapidly worldwide. Over half of all people cur-
rently live in cities. The UN estimates that it will be a good 
two-thirds by 2050. In addition to today’s existing cities and 
metropolitan regions, which are constantly growing, other 
entirely new cities will be built. The emerging economies, 
especially in the Asian region, will account for much of this 
development. This dramatic urbanisation in conjunction with 
sustained high population growth will go hand in hand with 
numerous ecological, economic and social challenges. Sus-
tainable and intelligent urban development in these regions 
is therefore essential. However, the same applies to the grow-
ing established conurbations in industrialised nations, which 
are increasingly modernising and redesigning their urban 
structures and public networks with a view to environmental 
and climate protection. Globally, smart cities and smart urban 
areas are being designed that integrate digital infrastructures  

in order to make cities more efficient, less wasteful of 
resources and more social. The megatrend of urbanisation – 
especially in the shape of smart urban areas – is the source 
of considerable long-term growth potential for the Building 
Services Residential and Commercial and Water Management 
market segments. 

Water shortage
Water is a scarce resource in many regions of the world. 
According to estimates from WHO (World Health Organisa-
tion) and UNICEF, 844 million people currently have no access 
to a rudimentary supply of drinking water. Around 2.3 billion 
people live without basic sanitation. Water supply and waste-
water disposal present an increasing problem, especially in 
cities that are growing rapidly as a result of urbanisation. The 
overuse of groundwater reserves there often results in a drop 
in the water table, while huge quantities of drinking water are 
lost due to outdated and dilapidated pipe systems. In future, 
it will therefore be all the more important to use the available 
resources efficiently and to utilise intelligent technologies for 
water extraction and purification. Wilo has responded to this 
megatrend with its products and system solutions in the 
Water Management market segment and provides profes-
sional solutions for the complex requirements for drinking 
water extraction, water pumping and wastewater transpor-
tation and processing, giving rise to substantial growth 
opportunities in the Emerging Markets in particular. 

Climate change & energy shortage
Man-made climate change is becoming increasingly visible 
and tangible thanks to global warming and the growing inci-
dence of extreme weather conditions. The continued melting 
of the polar ice caps, rising sea levels and the clustering of 
droughts and storms are just a few of the expected and 
already relevant effects of climate change. Drastic action is 
required worldwide to stop, or at least limit, climate change 
and its consequences. Almost all countries in the world have 
now initiated packages of measures aimed at reducing green-
house gases, particularly in the transport and energy sectors. 
In addition to the increased use of renewable energies, there  
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is an increased focus on developing and using more energy-
efficient processes and technologies. At the same time, the 
long-term increase in world trade, the drastic growth of cities 
in the wake of urbanisation and the rapid economic develop-
ment of emerging economies entail a significant rise in 
demand for energy. Demand also remains high in the indus-
trialised nations. The global competition for raw materials is 
coming up against the finite nature of fossil resources such 
as oil, coal and gas. In this respect, renewable energies have 
to be used and sustainable energy savings made for ecolog-
ical, social and economic reasons.

As such, the megatrends of climate change and energy short-
age offer substantial growth opportunities for all five of the 
Wilo Group’s market segments in all of the regions in which 
the company has a presence. In particular, numerous oppor-
tunities are arising in urban conurbations, where increasing 
populations, stricter environmental standards and heightened 
requirements for energy and resource efficiency are posing 
new challenges for urban planners. Around the world, inno-
vative urban infrastructures are being created on the basis of 
smart systems and digital solutions. Demand for forward-
looking, resource-conserving products and system solutions 
will also increase as a result of the tightening of minimum 
legal standards. Wilo products already offer customers higher 
energy efficiency throughout the entire operation phase. 
High-efficiency pumps reduce power consumption by up to 
80 percent compared with older, unregulated pumps. Wilo 
aspires to shape the future as an innovation leader and digital 
pioneer and to evolve into the leading system provider with 
tailored, intelligent, and resource-efficient solutions in line 
with the company’s vision. In this way, Wilo is helping to 
reduce energy consumption and hence lessen the impact of 
CO2 on the environment.

Digitalisation
The digital transformation of society, trade and industry is 
ever-present. The fundamental changes driven by the estab-
lishment of new technologies are affecting almost everything. 
Modern information and communication technologies are 
finding their way into all areas of life and commerce. New 
digital technologies are changing traditional production and  

business processes. Companies’ complete value chains are 
being affected by the digital transformation (Internet of 
Things, Industry 4.0). Established business models are being 
called into question and new, innovative business models are 
emerging. The digital transformation presents significant 
opportunities for the Wilo Group. In addition to efficiency and 
productivity improvements and the corresponding optimisa-
tion of existing business processes, it also opens up the pos-
sibility of new and innovative business models for the pump 
industry. Digitalising the Wilo Group itself and taking advan-
tage of the resulting opportunities requires a fundamental 
and sustainable reorganisation of the value chain and busi-
ness processes. To this end, Wilo has defined a digitalisation 
strategy that is a fixed component of the wider corporate 
strategy. An interdisciplinary group of experts has been spe-
cially formed within the company in order to drive the Wilo 
Group’s digital transformation in a targeted, strategic manner. 

Wilo expects the digitalisation of the company to have a pos-
itive impact on its business activities in the medium to long 
term. The smart urban areas emerging around the world have 
been identified as a particular source of business potential in 
this context. The Wilo Group is systematically tapping into 
new business areas here. 

Industry-specific risks  
and opportunities
Competition
Competition risk remained largely unchanged compared with 
the previous year. Although the growing price competition 
involves uncertainties, the Wilo Group mainly mitigates these 
risks by making increased use of product lines with unique 
selling propositions. It also ensures a high level of competitive 
capability through its technological edge, particularly in the 
area of energy efficiency and digitalisation, and through its 
outstanding product quality and extensive global network. 
The occurrence of competition risks is possible. Wilo rates 
the risk of earnings effects for the Group that emerge from 
the competitive environment and differ from corporate plan-
ning as moderate (medium earnings impact according to risk 
classification).
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Technological progress in building management 
Manufacturers and consumers are increasingly focusing on 
smart living. In smart homes, everyday devices and systems 
in private households are electronically integrated in order to 
combine higher energy efficiency with greater convenience, 
economic efficiency, flexibility and safety. The devices and 
systems can be controlled and accessed centrally and 
remotely. Smart homes offer attractive growth opportunities 
for the Building Services Residential and Building Services 
Commercial market segments. Wilo has wide-ranging systems 
and solutions expertise in this area. The opportunities arising 
from this can positively influence the business activities of 
the Wilo Group in the medium to long term. 

Company-specific risks  
and opportunities
Research and development
Wilo is firmly committed to technological progress. The com-
pany invests continuously and with great commitment in the 
development of new technologies and products to strengthen 
its market position. In 2019, research and development costs 
including capitalised development costs amounted to 4.6 per-
cent of consolidated net sales. In order to identify the oppor-
tunities of new technologies at an early stage, Wilo conducts 
regular technology screening and maintains continuous dia-
logue with universities and research institutions. The Wilo 
Group limits the risk of paying insufficient attention to custo
mer requirements in the development process with customer 
surveys, trend analyses and targeted market tests. 

The effectiveness and target conformity of all development 
activities are examined continuously. The purpose of this is 
to minimise qualitative, time and financial risks in develop-
ment projects. Professional project management and regular 
deviation analyses ensure a constant focus on customer 
requirements. Binding Group-wide standards and guidelines 
are applied here. The occurrence of risks from research and 
development is possible, but the impact on the results of 
operations of the Wilo Group is considered low. 

Production
Quality risk is mitigated by the uniform Group-wide produc-
tion standards of the Wilo Production System (WPS) and by 
the company’s comprehensive quality management. This risk 
is classed as unlikely. The risk of production stoppages is 
strictly limited through the use of state of-the-art production 
plants and professional control systems. The Wilo Group 
counters procurement risks by way of integrated procurement 
and supplier management. Supply bottlenecks are primarily 
prevented by ensuring the availability of second-source sup-
pliers. Insurance is also taken out to offset the financial con-
sequences of business risks of this kind. If such risks occur 
despite this, the company estimates that this could entail a 
medium earnings effect for the Wilo Group.

Human resources
One of the basic criteria for the Wilo Group’s success is its 
qualified employees and their expertise, commitment and 
motivation. The loss of qualified personnel in strategic posi-
tions can lead to the loss of company-specific knowledge, 
capacity bottlenecks or decreased productivity. The Wilo 
Group counters this risk with methods such as coordinated 
demographic management. Its core elements are active suc-
cession planning and the development of new staff as part of 
Group-wide talent management. The occurrence of HR risks 
is generally possible. However, the impact on EBIT is classified 
as low.

Information technology
All important business processes for the Wilo Group are inte-
grated into efficient IT systems. In extreme circumstances, 
the failure of key systems or substantial data losses could lead 
to business interruptions. Wilo mitigates these IT risks with 
daily backups of critical business data. In particular, the busi-
ness database aiding production, materials management, 
order processing, financial accounting and cost accounting in 
particular conforms to top security standards. The Wilo Group 
runs its critical business applications in two separate, certified 
and highly powerful data centres. 
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Certified processes and business recovery plans are also in 
place for the event of disasters. An annual monitoring audit 
is performed to maintain the certificate. System downtime is 
further minimised by targeted utilisation of an in-house sup-
port team and outside service providers. Given these meas-
ures, the occurrence of IT risks is unlikely and the earnings 
effects have been limited to a medium level.

Acquisitions and strategic partnerships
In order to expand its technological spectrum and geograph-
ical presence, the Wilo Group also provides for the realisation 
of external growth opportunities as part of the corporate 
strategy. The opportunities arising from acquisitions and stra-
tegic partnerships are varied and offer additional potential for 
growth and efficiency. They can also provide access to new 
sales channels and markets. However, company acquisitions 
are considered only if they are considered beneficial from 
both a strategic and economic perspective. With regard to 
research and development in particular, the Wilo Group enters 
into strategic partnerships in order to advance joint technol-
ogy projects. The company cooperates with prominent uni-
versities and research institutes in this area.

In addition to the opportunities resulting among other things 
from the expected synergies, company acquisitions also 
always entail risks. Accordingly, each investment decision is 
preceded by a careful assessment and analysis of the com-
mercial, technical, legal, tax and financial conditions (due 
diligence). The aim is to identify, quantify and limit the risks 
associated with the acquisition. In addition, an individual 
strategy for integration into the Wilo Group is developed and 
corresponding measures are planned and implemented for 
each acquisition.

Despite this careful examination, risks may emerge after an 
acquisition that were not identified during the due diligence 
process, not considered to be material or not accurately 
quantified. In addition, the identified benefits and synergies 
may not occur to the expected extent, within the expected 
timeframe, or at all. The integration process may be more  

difficult and cost-intensive than expected, thereby jeopard-
ising the realisation of the planned goals and synergies. If 
business develops more poorly than expected in the long 
term, the necessary goodwill impairment may have an impact 
on earnings. 

The occurrence of risks arising from acquisitions and strategic 
partnerships is generally possible. The Wilo Group considers 
the corresponding impact on its earnings to be moderate 
(medium earnings impact according to risk classification). 

Financial risks and opportunities
Exchange rates
The company’s global presence makes it important to manage 
changes in exchange rates. Currency risk for the Wilo Group 
primarily results from its operating and financing activities. 
Wilo limits currency risk, which largely relates to the supply 
of goods and services to Group companies, through same-
currency offsetting transactions and derivative financial 
instruments. 

The occurrence of exchange rate risks from the operating 
activities of Group companies with third-party customers and 
suppliers is probable, but the Wilo Group rates the associated 
earnings impact as low. These activities are predominantly 
transacted in local currency. 

Currency risk from financing activities results above all from 
foreign-currency borrowing from third-party lenders. Foreign-
currency loans are also granted to Group companies for financ-
ing purposes. Wilo uses derivative financial instruments to 
reduce such currency risks. 

To prepare the consolidated financial statements, the annual 
financial statements of the subsidiaries that are based outside 
the euro area, or whose functional currency is not the euro, are 
translated into the reporting currency (euro). Changes in the 
average exchange rate of a currency can therefore notionally 
influence both net sales and income as a result of translation. 

WILO Annual Report 2019  |  Group Management Report  |  Report on risks and opportunities

64



However, this translation risk is not associated with any 
effects on the cash flows in local currency.

Overall, the occurrence of currency risks is considered likely, 
but the Wilo Group classes the associated impact on earnings 
as low. ➔ Further information on currency risks in accordance with 
IFRS 7 and a corresponding sensitivity analysis can be found  
in section (12) “Risk management and derivative financial instru-
ments” on page 124 et seqq. of the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements.

Interest
The interest rate risk mainly results from floating rate financial 
liabilities and the investment of cash. Both rises and falls in 
the yield curves result in interest rate exposure. The Wilo 
Group mitigates adverse changes in value from unexpected 
interest rate movements by using derivative financial instru-
ments on a case-by-case basis. The occurrence of interest 
rate risk is considered possible, and the impact on net finance 
costs is rated as low as most financial liabilities have fixed 
long-term interest rates. On the other hand, favourable inter-
est rate developments in connection with the investment of 
cash could have a positive effect on net interest income. 
Group Treasury monitors and analyses developments on the 
financial markets in order to optimise the balance between 
liquidity retention and the investment of cash in term money 
or debt instruments with an excellent credit standing and a 
maximum time horizon of up to two years. ➔ Further informa-
tion on interest rate risks in accordance with IFRS 7 can be found in 
section (12) “Risk management and derivative financial instruments” 
on page 126 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Commodities
The Wilo Group is mainly exposed to commodity price risk as 
a result of price fluctuations on the global markets for copper, 
aluminium, stainless steel and their alloys. The Wilo Group 
uses commodity derivatives in a targeted manner to minimise 
commodity price risk. They are used if the effect on earnings 
from the change in commodity prices is significant to the Wilo 
Group and corresponding financial instruments are available 
and can also be used efficiently at the same time. 

The prices for most of the copper procurement volume for the 
2020 financial year have already been determined in order to 
minimise the impact on earnings from the change in copper 
prices for the Wilo Group. In contrast, the prices for the pro-
curement volume for stainless steels and their alloys are not 
hedged, as the available financial instruments are not suitable 
for effectively minimising the risk of price changes for these 
specific commodities. 

According to current information, the Wilo Group’s results of 
operations could primarily be affected by price fluctuations 
on the global markets for copper and aluminium from the 
2021 financial year.

Commodity price risks are possible, but the Wilo Group classes 
the associated impact on earnings as low. ➔ Further informa-
tion on commodity price risks in accordance with IFRS 7 and a 
corresponding sensitivity analysis can be found in section (12) “Risk 
management and derivative financial instruments” on page 126 et seq. 
of the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Defaults
Customer credit risk is countered by way of a uniform and 
effective Group-wide system that encompasses systematic 
receivables management and the monitoring of payment 
behaviour. As the Group does not generate more than 10 per-
cent of its total net sales with any one customer, dependency 
on individual customers is limited. The Wilo Group did not 
experience any significant negative influence from its cus-
tomers’ payment practices in the past financial year. The pos-
sible effect on earnings of default is currently also considered 
low for 2020. 

There is also a risk of default with regard to the banks with 
which investments are conducted, at which credit facilities 
are held, or with which hedges are concluded. The potential 
default of these partners would have a negative impact on 
the Wilo Group’s financial position and results of operations. 
All in all, however, the occurrence of this risk is considered to 
be unlikely as Wilo enters into such transactions only with 
those banks that have good to very good credit ratings. Group 
Treasury permanently monitors and assesses the credit rat-
ings of these banks and takes appropriate measures to reduce 
counterparty risk as required.
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Financing and liquidity
Liquidity risk stems from a potential lack of cash for paying 
due liabilities in full and on time in the agreed currency. There 
is also a risk of having to accept unfavourable financing terms 
in the event of liquidity bottlenecks and volatility on the 
international financial and capital markets. To minimise liquid-
ity and financing risks, the Wilo Group aims to ensure long-
term, cost-effective coverage of liquidity and capital require-
ments at all times. Various financing instruments are used for 
this purpose. Liquidity management therefore makes a valu-
able contribution to the profitable growth of the Wilo Group.

The financing instruments include committed cash credit 
facilities and guarantee and margin facilities for the parent 
company and subsidiaries of more than EUR 390 million  
with international banks of good to very good credit standing. 
EUR 108.3 million of the cash credit facilities and EUR 24.9 
million of the guarantee and margin facilities were utilised as 
at 31 December 2019. Furthermore, as at 31 December 2019, 
there were promissory note loans of EUR 52.5 million and 
senior notes of EUR 138.7 million that were issued in US 
private placements, as well as a KfW development loan that 
was utilised in the amount of EUR 19.5 million. 

The Wilo Group’s leverage, i.e. the ratio of the net financial 
position (financial liabilities and lease liabilities less cash) to 
consolidated EBITDA, increased from 0.87 at the end of the 
previous year to 1.08 as at 31 December 2019 as a result of 
the strategic high level of targeted investment and the initial 
application of IFRS 16 “Leases”.

In order to achieve a needs-driven supply of cash with match-
ing maturities and the optimum allocation of cash within the 
Group, the Wilo Group prepares corresponding liquidity and 
finance plans based on the budget planning and strategic 
five-year planning process in addition to the year-to-date 
forecast. Rolling three-month liquidity planning is also pre-
pared on a monthly basis for each Group company. The cash 
directly available to the Wilo Group over the course of 2019, 
including committed cash credit facilities, was at all times 
higher than the minimum reserve of EUR 100.0 million defined 
by the Executive Board of WILO SE.

The Wilo Group uses cash pooling, netting and borrowing 
arrangements to the extent advisable and permitted under 
local commercial and tax regulations. At Group level, all finan-
cial transactions are tracked by central treasury software and 
monitored by WILO SE, enabling risks to be balanced between 
the individual companies of the Group. 

The Wilo Group is required to maintain standard financial 
ratios (financial covenants) under the terms of its long-term 
financing agreements. If it falls short of certain minimum val-
ues in terms of these financial covenants, the lenders are 
entitled to demand early repayment, among other things. As 
such, a failure to meet the agreed minimum values would 
potentially have a substantial financial impact. These figures 
are regularly reviewed, planned and reported to the Executive 
Board of WILO SE in order to ensure compliance with the 
required minimum values at all times and to enable suitable 
countermeasures to be initiated at an early stage as neces-
sary. Due to its strong equity base and profitability, the Wilo 
Group still expects to comply with its financial covenants 
throughout the term of the existing financing agreements. 

The Wilo Group believes that liquidity and financing risks are 
unlikely to arise on account of the cash and credit facilities 
available, the financing structure and the business model. The 
financial impact on the Group is therefore rated as low. ➔ More 
detailed information on the use of derivative financial instruments 
can be found in note (11) and (12) of the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements.

Overall assessment
The Wilo Group’s current risk situation is largely unchanged 
compared with the previous year. The integrated risk man-
agement system ensures that all of the identified risks are 
controlled at all times. In the view of the Executive Board, no 
risks or combinations of risks that could jeopardise the com-
pany as a going concern are currently discernible. Taken 
together with the attractive opportunities available to it in 
the medium and long term in particular, the Wilo Group has a 
balanced, future-oriented risk-reward profile allowing it to 
continue to grow profitably in line with its corporate strategy.

WILO Annual Report 2019  |  Group Management Report  |  Report on risks and opportunities

66



OUTLOOK

―― World economy to recover but momentum to remain low

―― Coronavirus epidemic, high level of global debt and  
geopolitical crises represent substantial risks

―― Moderate net sales increase expected in 2020 

―― Full commissioning of Smart Factory and move into new  
administrative building at headquarters in Dortmund

General economic and 
industry-specific conditions

Forecast stabilisation of the world economy subject 
to considerable risk due to the coronavirus epidemic
According to the forecasts issued prior to the outbreak of the 
coronavirus epidemic, the consensus view was that the world 
economy would stabilise in 2020 but remain weak. In its 
December forecast, the Kiel Institute for the World Economy 
(IfW) anticipated modest growth in global GDP of just 3.1 per-
cent. In January, the IMF lowered its forecast for global eco-
nomic growth in 2020 from 3.4 percent (October forecast) to 
3.3 percent. The rapid spread of the coronavirus at the start 
of 2020 is increasingly becoming a major risk to the global 
economy. Production shutdowns in China are now impacting 
not only the local economy, but increasingly also other coun-
tries as a result of the interconnectedness of cross-border 
value chains. On 22 February 2020, the IMF therefore down-
wardly revised its global economic growth forecast by a fur-
ther 0.1 percentage points to 3.2 percent. This is based on 
the assumption that the Chinese economy will recover in the 
second quarter and the extent and duration of the impact on 
the world economy will be limited. If the crisis is not halted in 
the near future and the shortfalls in production cannot be 
recovered, however, all of the forecast economic and industry 
trends for 2020 in this report would have to be downwardly 
revised to a significant extent. 

The Executive Board of the Wilo Group is keeping a close eye 
on developments and taking suitable measures to limit the 
economic impact on the company. 

All in all, the risks of macroeconomic development again out-
weigh the opportunities in 2020. Despite initial agreements 
in the US-China trade dispute, there has been no real relaxa-
tion of the tension to date. Although the spiral of ever-higher 
tariffs and stricter trade rules appears to have been halted, it 
is unrealistic to expect the restrictions that have been intro-
duced to be lifted altogether. According to the ifo Institute, 
there is still a risk that the USA will escalate or extend the 
trade disputes to other countries and regions, including Europe. 

The sharp rise in private and public debt is another major 
global risk. The level of government debt in Italy and France 
remains high. Financial stability in some emerging economies, 
particularly China, is also subject to considerable risk. As the 
possibility of an escalation in the geopolitical hotspots in 
North Africa, the Middle East and North Korea cannot be ruled 
out, the world economy is particularly subject to disruption 
in 2020. 

67

WILO Annual Report 2019  |  Group Management Report  |  Report on risks and opportunities  |  Outlook



The following section presents the expected macroeconomic 
and industry-specific developments in 2020 in the regions 
that are relevant to the Wilo Group. In addition to the general 
economic development of individual countries and regions, 
the economic performance of the Wilo Group is influenced in 
particular by the construction and sanitary industries. Unless 
otherwise stated, all forecasts were issued prior to the out-
break of the coronavirus epidemic and do not take into 
account the potential impact of this development. This means 
they are subject to a considerable degree of uncertainty.

The new composition of the sales regions has been in force 
since 1 January 2020. The Mature Markets comprise Europe 
and North America. The Emerging Markets are composed of 
China, India, Korea, the Southeast Asian nations, Australia and 
Oceania, Latin America, Russia, Belarus, Ukraine, the Cauca-
sian nations, Turkey, the Middle East and Africa. The forecasts 
are prepared on the basis of the new structure.

Mature Markets – European economy to remain 
weak, continued slowdown in the USA in the 
absence of new impetus
EUROPE.  According to the IfW and the IMF, the pace of eco-
nomic expansion in Europe will remain relatively weak and 
subject to risk in 2020. Uncertainly with regard to the future 
trade rules between the European Union and the United King-
dom, and potentially also the USA, are having a tangible 
impact. In addition, the possibility that the US administration 
will impose new trade restrictions on the European Union in 
2020 cannot be ruled out. These factors, the structural prob-
lems in Italy and the lack of reform progress in France are 
limiting the potential for recovery in the euro area. On the 
other hand, the expansive monetary policy and largely stim-
ulating fiscal policy are likely to have a positive effect. 

Private and public consumer spending and construction activ-
ity are set to remain the key pillars of the euro area economy. 
The slight upturn in world trade is also likely to lift some of 
the pressure on export-oriented industry. In January, the IMF 
lowered its growth forecast for the euro area from 1.4 percent 
(October forecast) to 1.3 percent. Similarly, the IfW is not 
anticipating an upturn in economic growth in the euro area in 
2020, and is again forecasting growth of just 1.2 percent (pre-
vious year: 1.2 percent). 

While France and Italy are expected to enjoy a slightly more 
favourable tailwind, the economic researchers expect Spain and 
Austria to lose momentum slightly. Growth in the EU nations 
of Eastern and Southeastern Europe is also expected to flat-
ten. The IfW is forecasting a notable slowdown in economic 
growth in the United Kingdom to just 0.6 percent in 2020 as 
a result of the Brexit process (previous year: 1.3 percent). 

As the industrial sector in Germany remains weak, the IfW 
expects a cyclical recovery to be delayed. This means the 
German economy will again see contrasting developments in 
2020. On the one hand, construction and private consumer 
demand will continue to drive growth, while government 
consumption is expected to rise sharply. On the other hand, 
industry is in a recession according to the ifo Institute. The 
investment climate has also deteriorated considerably. Accord-
ingly, the IfW expects equipment investments to decline in 
2020 following stagnation in the year under review, with par-
ticularly negative development in the first half of the year. 
The IfW and the IMF are forecasting modest economic growth 
of 1.1 percent for Germany. Deutsche Bundesbank’s growth 
forecast for 2020 is 1.0 percent. Adjusted for calendar effects, 
i.e. eliminating the additional working days in 2020, this rep-
resents an increase of just 0.6 percent.

In terms of the European construction industry, the Eurocon-
struct industry network expects the upturn in construction to 
continue until 2022 at a moderate but sustained level. In 
2020, construction output is forecast to rise by 1.1 percent 
in real terms (2021: 0.9 percent, 2022: 1.1 percent). Within 
this, output in 2020 is expected to increase by 3.7 percent in 
the core markets of Eastern Europe and by 1.0 percent in the 
Western European nations that are significant for the con-
struction industry. Euroconstruct expects construction activ-
ity to remain lively in the area of infrastructure and building 
modernisation and maintenance. In addition, the heightened 
efforts on the part of most European governments in the area 
of climate protection are likely to give rise to new or expanded 
subsidy programmes. This will provide additional impetus for 
investments in heat insulation in buildings and the moderni-
sation of heating and air conditioning systems. 

The German construction industry entered the new year with 
a healthy order situation. Incoming orders in building con-
struction are at a high level. The number of approvals for con-
struction work on existing buildings jumped by 8.4 percent in  
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the first eleven months of 2019. The IfW expects construction 
investment to see broad-based growth of 2.2 percent in real 
terms in 2020 (commercial construction +0.6 percent, resi-
dential construction +2.2 percent, public-sector construction 
+5.2 percent). According to the industry experts from DIW, 
the total volume of new construction and work on existing 
buildings, such as expansion, conversion, maintenance and 
modernisation, is expected to increase by 6.8 percent to 
EUR 264.1 billion in the area of residential construction and 
by 6.5 percent to EUR 115.6 billion in the area of non-resi-
dential construction in 2020. 

The German Federal Climate Protection Act (KSG) was adopted 
in December 2019. In addition to introducing a CO2 price from 
2021, the climate package already provides for additional 
incentives to modernise housing and heating systems from 
the start of 2020. Existing subsidies have been expanded 
financially, tax incentives have been created and a replace-
ment premium has been introduced for oil-fired heating sys-
tems. In addition to the existing replacement obligation for 
heating systems that are obsolete and no longer efficient, 
oil-fired heating systems will no longer be permitted to be 
installed from 2026 with the exception of hybrid systems. 
These initiatives could resolve the modernisation backlog 
affecting heating systems. According to the Federal Associ-
ation of the German Heating Industry (BDH), heating and hot 
water account for one-third of total final energy consumption 
in Germany. The Climate Protection Plan 2050 states that CO2 
emissions in the building stock must be cut by 40 percent 
between 2014 and 2030. According to the BDH, two-thirds of 
this target could be achieved on time by accelerating the 
replacement of obsolete heating systems with modern, effi-
cient heating systems from the current level of around 580,000 
to around a million per year, with the remaining one-third 
achievable through insulation. 

USA.  The US economy is expected to see a further slow-
down in growth as exports and company investments are on 
the weak side. In addition, the effects of the tax reform have 
expired. An expansion of trade disputes, such as to Europe, or 
the expansion of geopolitical conflicts with US involvement 
would further exacerbate the negative outlook. On the other 
hand, expansionary monetary policy and the robust employ-
ment market are expected to support private demand in par-
ticular. All in all, the IMF anticipates a slowdown in US growth 
to 2.0 percent in 2020. 

Residential construction in the USA enjoyed a robust order 
situation at the turn of 2019/2020. Orders on hand are expected 
to have increased as the volume of building permits and con-
struction starts exceeded the number of completions. In addi-
tion, lower interest rates are likely to provide new impetus for 
private construction activity on the whole. However, the envi-
ronment for commercial construction has become less 
favourable as a result of the slowdown in economic momen-
tum as well as international uncertainties. The conditions for 
new, large-scale public investments in construction and 
infrastructure projects have become somewhat more limited 
as a result of the deterioration in the national budget. 

Emerging Markets: Asia remains global economic 
driver, but considerable uncertainty due to the 
impact of the coronavirus epidemic
CHINA.  Given the size of its economy and its close integra-
tion within global value chains, China remains extremely 
important to the world economy. According to experts, the 
pace of expansion in the Chinese economy will continue to 
slow in 2020. The rapid spread of the coronavirus paralysed 
many areas of the Chinese economy in early 2020 as public 
life came to a standstill and many companies halted produc-
tion. Above and beyond this, the structural shift aimed at 
promoting high-tech and services and strengthening domes-
tic demand continued as planned. According to the IMF’s lat-
est forecast from 22 February, China is expected to record 
growth of 5.6 percent in 2020. However, this is based on the 
assumption that the Chinese economy will return to normal-
ity in the second quarter of 2020, meaning the current fore-
cast is subject to uncertainty. If this is not the case, a further 
significant slowdown in the economy can be anticipated.

China’s structure of building investments suggests growth in 
2020. New construction starts at the turn of 2019/2020 were 
8.5 percent higher than one year previously. The drivers are 
residential construction (+9.2 percent) and the construction 
of office buildings (+17.1 percent). The authorities are taking 
efforts to stabilise the property market and prevent bubbles 
with measures such as the new fixed interest rate for mort-
gages. Commercial construction is seeing a downturn in activ-
ity (construction starts: -5.6 percent). Urbanisation and the 
expansion and modernisation of infrastructure are systematic, 
long-term drivers of the Chinese construction sector. 
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Investments in environmental protection are also becoming 
increasingly important. A new environmental ministry was 
created in 2018. Among other things, it aims to improve the 
poor quality and supply of drinking water and modernise the 
wastewater infrastructure. New, ambitious targets and pro-
grams are expected to be set out in the new five-year plan 
that is being developed in 2020. However, business life in 
China is currently being impacted by the coronavirus crisis, 
which is overshadowing the positive trend in the construction 
and water management industries.

INDIA.  The Indian economy is expected to see a further 
moderate upturn in 2020. The central bank is expected to cut 
interest rates again in order to increase banks’ liquidity and 
stimulate private investment. The government also adopted 
a stimulus package and cut corporate taxes last autumn, 
which is likely to boost private-sector investment activity on 
the whole. The measures to stabilise the financial sector 
should gradually rebuild trust and stimulate private consumer 
spending. The IMF expects India to record growth of 5.8 per-
cent in 2020. 

Extreme oversupply on the market means there is a risk of a 
wide-scale property crisis in 2020. Additional problems 
resulted from last year’s standstill affecting the completion 
of 575,000 residential units. The dimensions of this issue are 
huge, as only 460,000 residential units came onto the market 
in the previous three years combined. The Indian government 
is planning to launch a fund with a volume of EUR 3.1 billion 
in order to reactivate the construction projects that have been 
halted. Irrespective of this, an additional seven million 
affordable apartments will be constructed by 2023 as part of 
the social housing scheme. The programme for developing 
Smart Cities has also been expanded further. In addition, India 
is planning to make substantial investments in infrastructure 
projects between now and 2024. All in all, this means the out-
look for the Indian construction industry is positive in the 
medium to long term despite the current challenges. 

KOREA.  The Bank of Korea is forecasting a slight economic 
upturn in 2020. Korean exports are expected to increase 
again, while investment activity is set to pick up momentum 
with growth of 4.9 percent. This is due to planned invest-
ments and the investment backlog in the semiconductor and 
electronics industry and projects in connection with the roll-
out of 5G. Private consumer spending is also expected to 
increase on the back of an expansionary fiscal policy with 
government transfers as well as low inflation. All in all, the 
Bank of Korea is anticipating a slight increase in GDP growth 
to 2.3 percent in 2020. However, this forecast would have to 
be downwardly revised during the year if the further spread 
of the coronavirus to Korea cannot be curbed.

Despite low interest rates, the Bank of Korea is not yet fore-
casting a turnaround for the Korean construction industry in 
2020. Instead, construction investment is expected to decline 
by a further 2.3 percent. The main reason is the sustained 
weakness of residential construction, which looks set to con-
tinue until 2021 in light of the weak leading indicators. Com-
mercial construction is also expected to remain under pres-
sure even with increased construction activity on the part of 
the public sector. However, civil engineering is likely to 
recover thanks to major infrastructure projects such as power 
plants. 

SOUTHEAST ASIA.  In the absence of significant demand  
on the part of the global economy, there is unlikely to be a 
real upturn in growth in Southeast Asia for the time being. 
However, high levels of government spending on infrastruc-
ture and lower interest rates in many of the countries in the 
region should have a positive effect. For 2020, the IMF expects 
Singapore to record growth of 1.0 percent and the five major 
ASEAN nations to grow by 4.8 percent. 

The outlook for the region’s construction industry in 2020 
remains largely positive. Although growth in the industry is 
likely to flatten slightly in Singapore and Malaysia due to 
cyclical factors, momentum is expected to remain extremely 
strong in Indonesia thanks to the construction of the new 
capital city, as well as in Vietnam. The prospects for the Phil-
ippines are also positive, among other things due to the large-
scale investments in water management that are planned. 
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LATIN AMERICA.  The economic outlook for the region is set 
to improve in 2020. All in all, the World Bank expects growth 
in Latin America to increase to 1.8 percent, with Brazil (+2.0 
percent) and Mexico (+1.2 percent) recovering in particular. 
The recession in Argentina appears to be continuing, how-
ever, with the World Bank forecasting a downturn in economic 
output of 1.3 percent. Chile is expected to continue to enjoy 
solid development, with growth rising to 2.5 percent. The 
economic tailwind is likely to boost the construction industry 
in most Latin American nations, not least since various central 
banks (including Mexico, Brazil and Chile) have recently used 
the scope available to them to lower interest rates. 

RUSSIA.  The Russian central bank intends to cut interest rates 
further in the first half of 2020. This is likely to stimulate private 
consumer spending, especially since inflation is falling. Invest-
ment activity is also expected to see a considerable upturn, with 
additional impetus for the economic recovery being provided 
by the extensive new major projects at a national level. The 
IMF is forecasting economic growth of 1.9 percent for 2020. 

The Russian government is planning to sustainably strengthen 
the construction sector. Under a plan presented in October, 
the share of GDP attributable to construction is set to increase 
to 7.8 percent by 2030 (2018: around 6 percent). This will be 
driven by residential construction. The “Housing and Urban 
Environment” national project is intended to improve the hous-
ing situation and stimulate the construction of new apart-
ments. This will give rise to around 425 million square metres 
of residential space by 2024, followed by a further 120 million 
square metres every year. This corresponds to a 50 percent 
increase in construction output compared with 2017. Between 
2019 and 2021 alone, a good EUR 6.5 billion is set to be 
invested in the construction of new housing and the modern-
isation of the municipal infrastructure. In the short term, how-
ever, private residential construction is likely to be adversely 
affected by the mortgage finance reform that was introduced 
in mid-2019, which imposed tight limits on the authorised 
financial institutions as well as stricter rules. 

TURKEY.  Lower interest rates are expected to have a posi-
tive impact on economic development in 2020. Industrial 
production has recently begun to gradually recover from its 
dramatic slump but remains at a low level. At the same time, 
confidence among companies has risen steadily across the 
board. However, the turn of 2019/2020 saw another down-
turn in consumer confidence. The prospects of an economic 
recovery are also fragile on account of the geopolitical con-
flicts in which Turkey is involved. However, the World Bank 
expects the economy to enjoy moderate growth of 3.0 per-
cent in 2020.

In this environment, there are still no signs of a turnaround for 
Turkey’s construction industry. Despite lower mortgage rates, 
financing conditions remain unfavourable for private individ-
uals in particular as purchasing power has fallen sharply. Lead-
ing indicators like the extremely low level of confidence 
among consumers and within the construction industry, as 
well as the downturn in permits for residential construction, 
suggest that the crisis is set to continue. In addition, a num-
ber of major public-sector infrastructure projects have come 
to a halt as a result of financing problems. The only sector to 
see an upturn to a certain degree is hotel construction, where 
international chains are investing in new builds and modern-
isation as a result of the recovery in tourism. Although the 
Turkish market offers extremely attractive potential in the 
medium to long term, particularly in the areas of air condi-
tioning and water and wastewater management, 2020 looks 
set to be a problematic year. 

MIDDLE EAST & AFRICA.  The countries in this region are 
politically and economically very varied and must therefore 
be considered individually. The crises in the Arab region are 
still ongoing. Indeed, the conflict between the USA and Iran 
means there is currently a risk of escalation that could over-
flow into other countries. It is therefore unrealistic to expect 
a normalisation of the situation with an economic boost for 
the affected countries at present. All in all, the IMF expects 
the nations of the Middle East and North Africa to enjoy 
stronger growth of 2.8 percent in 2020. In addition to the 
oil-exporting states, the prospects for Egypt are particularly 
positive. In the Sub-Saharan region, the IMF is forecasting a 
slight upturn in growth in Nigeria and South Africa.
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In the Middle East and North Africa, the prospects for the con-
struction industry in 2020 remain uncertain and subject to 
risk. Construction demand is expected to slow in the United 
Arab Emirates, Kuwait and Algeria. By contrast, Tunisia is 
planning to boost the construction of social housing, among 
other things. Saudi Arabia is adopting reforms to strengthen 
the private sector and is planning extensive investments in 
water management. The construction boom in Egypt is also 
expected to continue on a broad footing in 2020. The con-
struction industry in South Africa and Nigeria has considera-
ble potential, but excess capacity is currently a problem and 
demand has yet to pick up again. 

Outlook for the Wilo Group
Future orientation
Economic researchers initially forecast a stabilisation in the 
global economy in 2020 following the slowdown in the year 
under review. However, the continued spread of the corona-
virus could have a significant negative impact on the global 
economy. The protective measures imposed by the Chinese 
government and international governments at the start of the 
year largely brought public life, trade and industry to a stand-
still. Due to the size of the Chinese economy as a sales market 
and a generator of economic output as well as the intercon-
nected nature of the global value chains, this crisis is currently 
also adversely affecting other countries and the world econ-
omy as a whole. As such, there is a possibility that the eco-
nomic forecasts will deteriorate further as the year progresses. 
The Executive Board of the Wilo Group is keeping a close eye 
on developments concerning the coronavirus epidemic and 
taking suitable measures to limit the risk to employees and 
the economic impact on the company. 

A number of other major factors mean the global economy is 
highly susceptible to risk, and hence especially challenging 
for companies. Firstly, the rise of protectionism and nation-
alism is leading to paralysis. The possibility of further upheaval 
cannot be ruled out, particularly in Europe as a result of trade 
conflicts with the USA and the consequences of Brexit. 

There is also a risk that geopolitical crises will escalate. In 
addition, the global debt situation has intensified considera-
bly. All of these factors could trigger turbulence on the inter-
national financial markets that would have an impact on the 
real economy. All in all, the risk profile for the global economy 
is currently worse than it was one year ago.

A high degree of business flexibility and pronounced adapt-
ability are key factors for success in high-risk, challenging 
markets of this nature. These are especially important in cri-
sis situations and in the event of upheaval in the Wilo Group’s 
core segments. These attributes are firmly enshrined within 
the Wilo Group’s corporate culture, strategy and manage-
ment. Their success is underlined by the profitable growth 
that the Wilo Group has generated for many years even in a 
shifting environment and in the face of intense global com-
petition. In order to secure the success factors of flexibility 
and adaptability going forward, the Wilo Group has laid new 
organisational and operational foundations. The Mature Markets 
and Emerging Markets sales regions have been reorganised, 
and a specific ten-point plan for each region and a five-point 
plan for the newly created OEM strategic business unit have 
been adopted in addition to the existing growth initiatives. 
This strategic course is rounded off by local efficiency projects 
in sales and production. In addition, the Executive Board was 
expanded to four members with effect from 1 January 2020 
and the schedule of responsibilities was adjusted accordingly. 
With these measures, the Wilo Group is confirming its clear 
aspiration of continuously evolving into a solution provider 
with a clear customer focus, irrespective of whatever short-
term changes in external economic and political influences 
2020 may bring. Accordingly, Wilo is also intensifying the 
development of intelligent products, systems, services and 
solutions and pressing ahead with the digital transformation 
of the Group as planned. The Wilo Group will continue expand-
ing its product portfolio, focusing on core competencies in 
heating, air conditioning and cooling as well as water supply 
and wastewater disposal. This means the company is future-
proof. In addition to accelerated organic growth, acquisitions 
to promote growth play an important role provided they make 
good strategic and economic sense. 
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The clear and sustainable implementation of the future-ori-
ented business policy and balancing risk within the company 
are extremely important. The Wilo Group will continue to har-
ness its strengths in future. One of these is successful cus-
tomer orientation. With the reorganisation of the sales areas 
and the specific plans and initiatives for the individual oper-
ational market segments, the Wilo Group has significantly 
increased its proximity to the customer and its local flexibility 
once again. This will already start to pay off in 2020. Wilo’s 
successful strengths over many years also include its pro-
nounced innovative ability and the continuous development 
of new technologies. In addition, the Wilo Group’s strong 
international market presence and diversification in terms of 
regions and market and product segments typically allow it 
to offset individual risks and temporary market disruption to 
a certain extent. 

A fundamental management principle at Wilo is and will 
remain to identify trends and changes on the market at an 
early stage and to analyse them quickly. This allows alterna-
tive scenarios to be devised and implemented very quickly 
and countermeasures to be initiated at short notice. With a 
view to the particular challenges in 2020, effective crisis 
management with a view to the coronavirus epidemic and the 
resulting economic downturn will play a major role. The same 
is true of considerable upheaval on the international financial 
and currency markets and the escalation of geopolitical crises 
with negative consequences for the real economy. If neces-
sary, the Wilo Group will continue to initiate appropriate and 
prompt countermeasures from this position of strength in 
future. 

The megatrends relevant to the Wilo Group are the corner-
stones of the defined corporate strategy, regardless of short-
term crises and fluctuations in demand. They will change, 
drive and shape the Wilo markets in the decades to come. 
Six megatrends are contributing to one major global trend: 
the creation of smart urban areas. These are characterised  
by cities and metropolitan regions connecting their digital 
infrastructures in order to make them more efficient, less 
wasteful of resources, and more social for people. 

Wilo has identified smart urban areas as offering business 
potential and will systematically tap into new lines of business 
in this area.

The coming years will be dominated by two megatrends in 
particular: climate change and digital transformation. With its 
innovative, high-tech products and system solutions, the 
Wilo Group is already making an important contribution to 
slowing climate change and achieving the climate protection 
targets. Wilo products enable higher energy efficiency 
throughout the entire operation phase. High-efficiency 
pumps reduce power consumption by up to 80 percent com-
pared with older, unregulated pumps. The intelligent connec-
tivity of pumps and pump systems also creates extensive 
potential for energy savings. In this way, Wilo is helping to 
reduce energy consumption and hence lessen the impact of 
CO2 on the environment. With an eye to the future, demand 
for forward-looking, resource-conserving products and sys-
tem solutions will also increase as a result of the tightening 
of minimum legal standards and heightened requirements in 
terms of energy and resource efficiency. The Wilo Group is 
well positioned to participate in this trend with its portfolio 
of smart, energy-efficient products, systems and solutions.

The digital transformation necessitates extensive business 
initiatives in order to leverage the resulting opportunities and 
prevent future disadvantages for the company. Wilo is con-
tinuing on its own path of digital transformation. Its own value 
chain and existing business processes are being fundamen-
tally and sustainably reorganised with high levels of invest-
ment, with an initial focus on the Dortmund location. The 
central element is the intelligent, digital networking of pro-
duction methods and logistics as well as products. This exten-
sive internal digital transformation is sustainably improving 
the Wilo Group’s competitiveness while also generating direct 
benefits for customers, including in terms of quality stand-
ards, punctual deliveries and optimised service. In addition, 
the Wilo Group is actively targeting its innovative capacity at 
providing customers with intelligent, connectible solutions.
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Outlook for the regions
MATURE MARKETS.  Leading economic researchers cur-
rently expect the European economy to stabilise in 2020, 
albeit with the pace of expansion remaining relatively weak 
and subject to risk. The relaxed monetary policy of the Euro-
pean Central Bank and stimulating fiscal policy in many coun-
tries will have a positive effect on domestic demand in par-
ticular. This means that construction investment will remain 
a key pillar of the economy alongside private consumer 
spending. At the same time, there are no signs of a turnaround 
for the weak industrial sector. Production output in industries 
such as automotive, chemicals and mechanical engineering 
will not increase in 2020, meaning the propensity to invest in 
the euro area will remain limited. The structural deficits in 
some euro area nations, demographic developments including 
a growing skills shortage and considerable uncertainty with 
regard to the future rules of trade not only with the United 
Kingdom, but also with the USA, all constitute additional eco-
nomic burdens and risk factors for Europe. In addition, a more 
pronounced and long-lasting outbreak of the coronavirus 
could significantly disturb important supply chains and sales 
markets for European industry.

Provided the uncertainties and risks remain manageable and, 
in particular, the impact of the coronavirus epidemic can be 
limited, the fundamental economic conditions for the Wilo 
Group’s specific business in Europe in 2020 vary from market 
to market but are moderately positive on the whole. In France 
and Germany, which are particularly important to the Wilo 
Group due to their market size and strong competitive posi-
tion, the environment remains positive thanks to low interest 
rates. In spite of the lively construction industry, however, 
these markets are characterised by a high degree of maturity 
and intense competition. Wilo’s product mix in Europe is 
highly attractive, but the market varies considerably through-
out the region and is largely saturated in the German-speak-
ing nations. 
 
There is high demand for energy-saving and environmentally 
friendly heating and air conditioning systems in Europe. The 
majority of the installed systems are outdated and need to be 
replaced, especially with regard to more stringent environ-
mental protection requirements. This is broadly stimulating  

demand in the areas of new construction and modernisation 
alike. In line with the EU’s ambitious climate targets, the Ger-
man Federal Climate Protection Act (KSG) was adopted in 
2019 and new government subsidy programmes initiated in 
order to increase energy efficiency while helping to reduce 
harmful emissions. Investments in climate-efficient and eco-
nomically beneficial heating and air conditioning systems and 
the modernisation of water and wastewater plants will con-
tinue to be boosted by extremely favourable financing con-
ditions in 2020. Building modernisation and renovation is 
growing in importance in Europe. Smart, connected and dig-
itally controllable devices and systems are becoming increas-
ingly popular. The Wilo Group therefore expects structural 
demand for high-quality energy-efficient pumps to continue 
to grow throughout Europe over the coming years.

As a high-tech, high-volume market for pumps, pump sys-
tems and associated services, Europe is of central strategic 
significance for the Wilo Group. The Wilo Group secures its 
strong market position in Europe through innovative strength, 
high quality and close customer relationships. This is parti
cularly important in light of the intense competition. In order 
to continue to overcome the challenges of this market and 
take advantage of the opportunities presented in future, Wilo  
is focusing on the following cornerstones of its business in 
particular: the clearly defined digitalisation strategy, the 
future-oriented alignment of the organisation, a clear growth 
strategy, defined measures to reduce costs and increase effi-
ciency, and targeted investments in the future. 

The economic outlook for the USA has deteriorated slightly 
in light of the slower growth that is now anticipated in 2020. 
Nevertheless, the US economy is expanding at a faster rate 
than that of the euro area. The relaxed monetary policy and 
the robust employment market are stimulating private con-
sumer spending, while there is a robust order situation in the 
residential construction sector. After public-sector construc-
tion was the main driver of the industry in the USA of late, the 
low interest rates could lead to a more pronounced upturn in 
private-sector construction. Government projects to improve 
fresh water treatment represent another notable develop-
ment. The Wilo Group is likely to benefit from additional syn-
ergies following the acquisition of American-Marsh Pumps 
and the expansion of its range of high-quality products made 
in the USA. 
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In light of the muted economic and market outlook in many 
countries in the Mature Markets region, the Wilo Group’s fore-
casts for 2020 are relatively conservative. The company’s 
diversified positioning in terms of regional and product- and 
service-specific markets allows it to continually balance 
opposing trends. All in all, the Wilo Group expects the Mature 
Markets region to generate lower net sales growth than the 
Group as a whole in 2020. 

EMERGING MARKETS.  Although the Chinese economy will 
lose further momentum in 2020, it will broadly continue to 
grow several times faster than other major economic blocs 
and nations. The sheer size of the economy means that it 
offers significant growth potential for companies. The 
Chinese construction industry and its activities in the areas 
of residential and commercial construction and drinking water 
and wastewater management are particularly relevant to the 
Wilo Group. The prospects for residential construction in 
China are extremely positive in the medium to long term. The 
country is also making extensive investments in modernising 
its water management, including as a response to rapid 
urbanisation and wide-scale environmental pollution. How-
ever, the outlook for 2020 is likely to deteriorate considerably 
as a result of the coronavirus epidemic. 

The outlook for 2020 in the other key Asian markets is fun-
damentally positive, but in some cases considerably less 
dynamic than in China. Although the Indian economy is pick-
ing up pace again following the slump in the year under 
review, the property sector is still in crisis. However, impetus 
is set to be provided by the expansion of infrastructure and 
smart cities. The same applies to the countries of Southeast 
Asia, where positive momentum is also being offset by neg-
ative effects. In Korea, residential and commercial construc-
tion will again see weak development in 2020, but there will 
be project-related opportunities.

The economic outlook in Latin America is improving. The eco-
nomic upturn in Mexico, Brazil and Chile is expected to have 
a positive impact on the Wilo Group’s business in 2020. 

In Russia, too, the fundamental economic prospects for 2020 
are better than they have been of late, with private house-
holds and companies benefiting from interest rate cuts. The 
continued recovery of the Russian economy will also be driven 
by the realisation of major new national projects, including 
residential construction and the modernisation of municipal 
infrastructure. With its own production site near Moscow, the 
Wilo Group is well positioned to continue to participate in the 
country’s growth in 2020. This location is also beneficial due 
to the trend towards the localisation of the Russian economy. 

Despite the extremely high long-term potential, the short-
term outlook for 2020 in Turkey and the nations of the Middle 
East and Africa is rather muted on the whole. Egypt offers 
good opportunities thanks to a lively economy and a strong 
upturn in the construction industry. Key projects and custom-
ers are currently more relevant to the Wilo Group’s develop-
ment there than the general development in the region. 

The Wilo Group expects the largely positive business devel-
opment in the Emerging Markets region to continue in 2020. 
Here, too, varying trends within the region can be largely 
absorbed thanks to the Group’s broad-based regional pres-
ence and market-appropriate product mix. Countries seeing 
a temporary slowdown in demand or less favourable financing 
conditions for investments will again be slightly offset by the 
large number of markets enjoying strong structural growth in 
2020. All in all, the company expects the Emerging Markets 
region to generate slightly higher net sales growth than the 
Group as a whole in 2020. This is based on the assumption 
that the coronavirus epidemic will be contained rapidly and 
hence that there will be no additional consequences for the 
world economy.
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Statement by the Executive Board  
on forecast development 
Prior to the outbreak of the coronavirus epidemic, leading 
economic researchers had forecast a stabilisation in the world 
economy. However, this was subject to the coronavirus out-
break being contained in terms of both extent and duration, 
as this would allow the current standstills in many economic 
sectors to be recovered, at least to some extent. If the epi-
demic is contained and an international economic crisis that 
would outweigh the positive underlying trends in the Wilo 
Group’s markets can be prevented, the growth prospects for 
the construction industry, the sanitary industry and heating 
and air conditioning, which are particularly important to the 
Wilo Group, will remain fundamentally positive in 2020. This 
is supported by the high level of construction demand and 
the extremely good financing conditions in the industrialised 
nations. Another driver is the extensive, long-term invest-
ment programmes initiated by many emerging nations with 
a view to promoting residential construction and establishing, 
expanding and modernising their water management sys-
tems. However, competition in some regions and product 
areas is extremely intensive and requires a high degree of 
concentration and flexibility within the entire company. 

The risks in terms of economic developments, exchange rates 
and interest rates, and hence for the Wilo Group’s business 
development, require particularly anticipatory, risk-conscious 
and flexible company management. Assuming that the 
effects of the risks remain limited and controllable and the 
impact of the coronavirus epidemic can be controlled in the 
near future, 2020 should at least see robust demand in most 
of the countries and market segments of importance to the 
Wilo Group. Current developments are continuously observed 
and new trends are anticipated, analysed and evaluated in a 
timely manner. This allows the Wilo Group to leverage the 
growth potential in regions and countries that are enjoying 
positive development on a targeted basis, as well as imple-
menting additional risk mitigation measures in regions and 
markets that could be affected by potential setbacks. 

On the basis of the forecast business development in the indi-
vidual regions as described above and the negative effects 
that are already being felt as a result of the coronavirus epi-
demic, the Executive Board is anticipating growth in the Wilo 
Group’s net sales of no more than 2.5 percent in the 2020 
financial year. This is based on the underlying assumptions 
that the world economy will develop largely free of disruption 
from the second quarter onwards and that there will be no 
major upheaval on the currency and capital markets. In par-
ticular, this requires the coronavirus epidemic to be contained 
so that the additional consequences for the world economy 
remain limited. 

The Executive Board optimised and revised the relevant key 
performance indicators in the year under review as part of a 
continuous review of the controlling system. The key perfor-
mance indicators were harmonised to an even greater extent 
and aligned with the specific requirements of the Ambition 
2025 corporate strategy. Earnings power is now based pri-
marily on operating earnings before interest, taxes, depreci-
ation and amortisation, i.e. EBITDA and the EBITDA margin. In 
terms of profitability, an EBITDA margin of between 11.5 per-
cent and 12.5 percent is forecast for 2020. Leverage is 
expected to decrease slightly compared with the year under 
review. These forecasts also depend in particular on the 
coronavirus epidemic being contained in good time so that 
the consequences for the world economy remain limited.

One incalculable risk at present is the spread of the corona-
virus epidemic and its consequences for the economy in China 
and worldwide. However, the continued spread of the corona
virus epidemic with unexpectedly long and extensive disrup-
tion to value chains and a pronounced impact on the world 
economy, a significant slowdown in global economic momen-
tum and massive changes in the relevant exchange rates, the 
escalation of political crises or a dramatic deterioration in 
international trade relations could all substantially influence 
the Wilo Group’s growth and profitability targets. The Exec-
utive Board expects the coronavirus epidemic in particular to 
have a negative impact on the Wilo Group’s business activi-
ties. However, the high degree of uncertainty means it is not 
currently possible to quantify the negative effects for the 
financial year as a whole.
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The Wilo Group systematically aligns its research and devel-
opment to its medium- and long-term corporate strategy. 
The key objectives of Ambition 2025 are remaining independ-
ent and generating profitable growth. This requires consist-
ently strong innovation. The Wilo Group is synonymous with 
future-oriented, innovative products and system solutions 
and is evolving into a solution provider in a targeted manner. 
Research and development have traditionally played an 
important role at Wilo and will continue to do so in future. 
Accordingly, expenditure for research and development will 
remain at a high level in 2020 irrespective of temporary fac-
tors affecting the economy or the Group’s markets. 

In recent years, the Wilo Group has made substantial invest-
ments in a modern, efficient, future-oriented corporate infra-
structure that will promote growth, thereby laying broad 
foundations for the accelerated, profitable growth it is tar-
geting. Multi-year projects, particularly the strategic location 
development project at the headquarters in Dortmund, will 
continue. Construction work on the Smart Factory was com-
pleted in 2019 and the new administrative building will be 
completed in 2020. At all other locations, too, the Wilo Group 
is continuously examining the existing infrastructure and 
capacities to ensure that they are fit for the future and mak-
ing targeted investments if this can generate positive effects 
for the company. In addition, the Wilo Group’s digital trans-
formation will continue to be pursued at a fast pace. For this 
reason, Wilo will continue to make substantial investments in 
innovative manufacturing technologies and the expansion of 
the existing sales and production locations in the coming 
years. 

The Wilo Group’s capital expenditure will remain high in 2020, 
although the absolute amount is likely to be lower than in the 
year under review following the completion of the main con-
struction work at the Dortmund location. In line with Ambi-
tion 2025, the Group is also focusing on company acquisitions 
that are beneficial from a strategic and economic perspective. 

The long-term financing structure, the extremely high equity 
ratio of almost 50 percent and cash of over EUR 160 million 
constitute a solid basis for the long-term profitable growth 
of the Wilo Group. Under the terms of the long-term financ-
ing instruments in place as at 31 December 2019, WILO SE  
is required to comply with certain standard financial ratios  
(covenants). WILO SE fully complied with these covenants at 
all times in the 2018 and 2019 financial years and there are 
currently no indications that it will be unable to comply with 
them in future.

The business targets for 2020 as presented in this report are 
based on a professional and detailed planning process and are 
embedded in the Ambition 2025 corporate strategy. They 
take into account all information on and knowledge of inter-
nal and external factors that were available at the time of this 
management report being prepared. Future unforeseeable 
developments and events may lead to changes in expecta-
tions and deviations from forecasts. All estimates for 2020 
assume an unchanged basis of consolidation and unchanged 
exchange rates compared with the previous year.
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Consolidated income statement
for the period 1 January to 31 December 2019

EUR thousand Note 2019 2018

Net sales (8.1) 1,477,830 1,463,528

Cost of sales (8.2) -970,360 -941,747

Gross profit  507,470 521,781

Selling expenses (8.3) -264,627 -270,986

Administrative expenses (8.3) -94,638 -102,236

Research and non-capitalised development costs (8.4) -50,332 -50,743

Other operating income (8.5) 14,231 14,932

Other operating expenses (8.6) -8,916 -20,811

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT)  103,188 91,937

Net finance costs (8.7) -5,553 -8,557

Consolidated net income before taxes  97,635 83,380

Income taxes (8.8) -25,213 -19,158

Consolidated net income  72,422 64,222

	� Basic and diluted EPS amount to: 
EUR 7.38 (previous year: EUR 6.55) per ordinary share (8.9)   

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the period 1 January to 31 December 2019

EUR thousand Note 2019 2018

Consolidated net income  72,422 64,222

Items not reclassified to profit or loss in the future    

Remeasurement of pension obligation and plan assets  -10,246 214

On which current income taxes (8.8) 3,282 -107

Initial application of IFRS 9 and IFRS 15  0 -778

On which current income taxes (8.8) 0 420

-6,964 -251

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss in the future    

Currency translation differences  6,593 -12,335

Currency translation differences deferred taxes (8.8) -20 214

6,573 -12,121

Cash flow hedges – reclassified to consolidated income statement (11.1) -1,511 -101 

Other comprehensive income  -1,902 -12,473

Total comprehensive income  70,520 51,749
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Consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2019

Assets

EUR thousand Note 2019 2018

Non-current assets

Intangible assets (9.1) 233,140 222,005

Property, plant and equipment (9.2) 571,222 451,214

Investments carried at equity  2,640 2,640

Trade receivables (9.4) 1,976 2,299

Other financial assets (9.5) 7,307 6,509

Other receivables and assets (9.6) 7,322 9,281

Deferred tax assets (8.8) 85,732 73,272

 909,339 767,220

Current assets

Inventories (9.3) 243,112 264,458

Trade receivables (9.4) 288,535 283,932

Other financial assets (9.5) 4,029 7,123

Other receivables and assets (9.6) 30,023 30,833

Cash (9.7) 166,056 135,412

Assets held for sale (9.8) 307 1,811

732,062 723,569

    

Total assets  1,641,401 1,490,789
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Equity and liabilities

EUR thousand Note 2019 2018

Equity (9.9)

Issued capital  26,980 26,980

. / . Nominal amount of treasury shares  -1,477 -1,477

Subscribed capital  25,503 25,503

Capital reserves  26,161 26,161

Other reserves  770,459 716,458

Treasury share reserve  -29,766 -29,766

  792,357 738,356

Non-current liabilities

Financial liabilities (9.10) 205,406 198,123

Trade payables (9.11) 71 103

Other financial liabilities (9.12) 32,464 7,196

Other liabilities (9.13) 3,787 3,568

Provisions for pensions and similar obligations (9.14) 91,083 80,030

Other provisions (9.15) 3,743 3,571

Deferred tax liabilities (8.8) 58,929 49,690

395,483 342,281

Current liabilities

Financial liabilities (9.10) 113,503 70,357

Trade payables (9.11) 172,955 172,287

Other financial liabilities (9.12) 42,299 35,912

Other liabilities (9.13) 78,812 91,557

Other provisions (9.15) 45,992 40,039

  453,561 410,152

    

Total equity and liabilities  1,641,401 1,490,789
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
for the period 1 January to 31 December 2019

EUR thousand 2019 2018 Change

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) 103,188 91,937 11,251

Depreciation and amortisation of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 76,906 61,557 15,349

Decrease/increase in provisions 5,282 -4,665 9,947

Losses/gains on disposals of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment -453 -56 -397

Increase in inventories 27,955 -33,649 61,604

Increase in trade receivables -2,678 -22,363 19,685

 Increase in trade payables -1,243 5,085 -6,328

Increase/decrease in other assets and liabilities not related to investing or financing activities -8,201 6,480 -14,681

Other non-cash expenses and income -3,191 33 -3,224

Operating cash flow before income taxes 197,565 104,359 93,206

Income taxes paid -29,056 -22,653 -6,403

Cash flow from operating activities 168,509 81,706 86,803

Purchases of intangible assets -20,131 -21,858 1,727

Disposals of property, plant and equipment 2,840 5,764 -2,924

Purchases of property, plant and equipment -126,842 -130,046 3,204

Purchases of consolidated companies -5,900 0 -5,900

Other purchases attributable to investing activities -359 -2,408 2,049

Cash flow from investing activities -150,392 -148,548 -1,844

Dividend payment -14,811 -19,323 4,512

Proceeds from assuming financial liabilities 53,579 70,068 -16,489

Repayment of financial liabilities -3,150 -3,713 563

Repayment of lease liabilities -15,986 0 -15,986

Interest payments received 2,503 2,279 224

Interest payments made -10,434 -8,535 -1,899

Cash flow from financing activities 11,701 40,776 -29,075

Change in cash 29,818 -26,066 55,884

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash 826 -753 1,579

Changes on cash resulting from the basis of consolidation 0 417 -417

Cash at beginning of period 135,412 161,814 -26,402

Cash at end of period 166,056 135,412 30,644

Detailed information can be found in note (10).
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the period 1 January to 31 December 2019

Subscribed capital Other reserves  

EUR thousand

Issued 
capital 

 
 

Nominal 
amount of 

treasury 
shares 

Capital 
reserves 

 
 

Retained 
earnings 

 
 

Currency 
translation 

reserve 
 

Hedging 
reserve 

 
 

Reserve for 
remeas-

urement of 
pensions 

Treasury 
share 

reserve 
 

Equity 
attributable 

to share-
holders of 
WILO SE

Non-
controlling 

interests 
 

Equity 
 
 
 

1 January 2018 26,980 -1,477 26,161 747,704 -41,232 -668 -20,786 -29,766 706,916 63 706,979

Consolidated  
net income 2018 0 0 0 64,222 0 0 0 0 64,222 0 64,222

Other comprehensive 
income 0 0 0 -358 -12,121 -101 107 0 -12,473 0 -12,473

Dividend payments 0 0 0 -19,323 0 0 0 0 -19,323 0 -19,323

Other changes 0 0 0 -986 0 0 0 0 -986 -63 -1,049

31 December 2018 26,980 -1,477 26,161 791,259 -53,353 -769 -20,679 -29,766 738,356 0 738,356

1 January 2019 26,980 -1,477 26,161 791,259 -53,353 -769 -20,679 -29,766 738,356 0 738,356

Consolidated  
net income 2019 0 0 0 72,422 0 0 0 0 72,422 0 72,422

Other comprehensive 
income 0 0 0 0 6,573 -1,511 -6,964 0 -1,902 0 -1,902

Dividend payments 0 0 0 -14,811 0 0 0 0 -14,811 0 -14,811

Other changes 0 0 0 -1,708 0 0 0 0 -1,708 0 -1,708

31 December 2019 26,980 -1,477 26,161 847,162 -46,780 -2,280 -27,643 -29,766 792,357 0 792,357

Detailed information can be found in note (7) and note (9.9).
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(1.)	 General information

WILO SE (“the company”), based in Dortmund, Germany, is 
registered with the Dortmund Local Court in section B no. 
21356 and is the parent company of the Wilo Group. The 
Group’s core business is the production and worldwide sale 
of machinery, notably liquid pumps and appliances. The Wilo 
Group develops, manufactures and markets pumps and build-
ing technology systems, primarily for heating, refrigeration, 
air conditioning and ventilation systems, for water supply and 
for sewage and effluent disposal.

(2.)	 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of WILO  SE as at 
31 December 2019 have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted 
by the European Union and with all interpretations of the IFRS 
Interpretations Committee (formerly International Financial 
Reporting Interpretations Committee, IFRIC) applicable for 
the 2019 financial year. WILO SE exercises the option pro-
vided for in section 315e (3) of the Handelsgesetzbuch (HGB 
– German Commercial Code) and is therefore not required to 
prepare consolidated financial statements in accordance  
with German commercial law. To ensure equivalence with 
consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance 
with German commercial law, the disclosure requirements of 
section 315e (1) HGB are met in addition to the IFRS disclo-
sure requirements. 

A number of items of the income statement and statement 
of financial position have been combined for clarity of pres-
entation. These items are reported and explained separately 
in the notes. The consolidated income statement has been 
prepared using the cost-of-sales method. The amounts in the 
consolidated financial statements are generally presented in 
thousands of euro (EUR thousand). 

(3.)	 Adoption of new and  
amended IFRS

IFRS 16 LEASES  IFRS 16 introduces a standardised account-
ing model that requires leases to be recognised in the lessee’s 
statement of financial position. A lessee recognises a right of 
use that represents its right to use the underlying asset and 
a lease liability that represents its obligation to make lease 
payments. There are exemptions for leases relating to low-
value assets and for short-term leases. 

IFRS 16 replaces the existing guidelines on leases, including 
IAS 17 “Leases”, IFRIC 4 “Determining Whether an Arrange-
ment Contains a Lease”, SIC-15 “Operating Leases – Incen-
tives” and SIC-27 “Evaluating the Substance of Transactions 
in the Legal Form of a Lease”. 

The standard is applicable for the first time in the first report-
ing period of a financial year beginning on or after 1 January 
2019. For initial application, the Wilo Group is applying the 
modified retrospective approach in accordance with IFRS 16 
C5 (b). The process of initial application at Wilo as at 1 Janu-
ary 2019 is broken down into three phases:

1.	�No reassessment of leases
As at 1 January 2019, the date of initial application, the 
Wilo Group refrained from performing a reassessment 
compared with IAS 17 in order to identify whether con-
tracts contain leases. This transitional provision is applied 
to all contracts in accordance with IFRS 16 C4, meaning 
that the amounts carried forward to 1 January 2019 con-
tain all contracts previously classified as finance leases in 
accordance with IAS 17 (IFRS 16 C11). 

2.	�Initial application for contracts previously classified as 
operating leases in accordance with IAS 17

	� Wilo decided to apply the cumulative method set out in 
IFRS 16 C5 (b) in conjunction with IFRS 16 C8 (b) (ii). This 
means IFRS 16 is applied retrospectively to operating 
leases within the meaning of IAS 17, but the cumulative 
effect of initial application is not reported in other com-
prehensive income and the prior-period amounts are not  
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	� required to be restated (IFRS 16 C7). In the case of the rec-
ognition of right-of-use (RoU) assets as at 1 January 2019 
that were previously classified as operating leases in 
accordance with IAS 17, the RoU asset is recognised in the 
same amount as the lease liability.

3.	�Treatment of right-of-use assets following initial application
Wilo is applying the provisions of IFRS 16 concerning the 
definition of leases only for all contracts concluded or 
modified on or after 1 January 2019 (IFRS 16 C1). 

The scheduled amortisation period is equivalent to the term of 
the underlying lease. In measuring operating lease liabilities, 
Wilo discounted the lease payments using the relevant incre-
mental borrowing rates as at 1 January 2019. The weighted 
average rate was 3.6 percent. The effects at the transition date 
are summarised below:

Effect of initial application of IFRS 16

EUR thousand  

Operating lease obligations as at 31 December 2018  
as reported in the consolidated financial statements  
in accordance with IAS 17 40,638

Not previously classified as operating leases 3,177

Total operating leases 43,815

Discounted using the incremental borrowing rate  
as at 1 January 2019 42,292

Leases not recognised in accordance with the  
accounting option due to their underlying assets  
being low-value assets -2,078

Leases not recognised in accordance with the  
accounting option due to their term ending within  
twelve months of the date of initial application -1,023

Finance lease liabilities as at 31 December 2018 5,010

Total lease liability as at 1 January 2019 44,201

The following standards, interpretations and amendments to 
existing standards were adopted for the first time in the 2019 
financial year, but had no or no material effect on the consol-
idated financial statements of WILO SE:

■■ IFRIC 23 “Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments”
■■ Amendments to IFRS 9 “Financial instruments:  

Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation”

■■ Amendments to IAS 28 “Investments in Associates and 
Joint Ventures” – Long-term Interests in Associates and 
Joint Ventures

■■ Amendments to IAS 19 “Plan Amendment, Curtailment or 
Settlement”

■■ Various amendments as part of the “Improvements to 
International Financial Reporting Standards 2015–2017” 
regarding IFRS 3 and 11 and IAS 12 and 23

The following standards, amendments to existing standards 
and interpretations issued by the IASB and the IFRS Interpre-
tations Committee are not yet effective in the 2019 financial 
year or have not yet been endorsed by the European Union. 
WILO SE is not adopting early these standards, interpretations 
or amendments to existing standards or interpretations:

■■ Framework “Amendments to References to the 
Conceptual Framework”

■■ Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 “Definition of Material”
■■ Amendments to IFRS 3 “Definition of a Business”
■■ Amendments to IFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial State-

ments” and IAS 28 “Investments in Associates and  
Joint Ventures” – Sale or Contribution of Assets between 
an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture and 
Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures

■■ IFRS 14 “Regulatory Deferral Accounts”
■■ IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts”
■■ Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 “IBOR Reform”

(4.)	 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include WILO SE and 
all significant companies that WILO SE controls directly or 
indirectly. WILO SE controls an entity when it is exposed, or 
has rights, to changing returns from its involvement with the 
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through 
its power over the investee.
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All consolidated companies’ financial statements are prepared 
as at 31 December. The financial statements of subsidiaries 
are included in the consolidated financial statements from the 
date on which control is achieved until it ends and fully con-
solidated in accordance with IFRS 10.

In addition to WILO SE, the consolidated financial statements 
as at 31 December 2019 include seven (previous year: seven) 
German entities and 62 (previous year: 60) foreign subsi
diaries. In addition, one joint venture (previous year: one) is 
included in the consolidated financial statements using the 
equity method. 

A list of all of WILO SE’s direct and indirect shareholdings can 
be found in the annex to the notes to the consolidated finan-
cial statements.

ACQUISITIONS  In November 2019, WILO USA LLC formed 
a wholly-owned subsidiary, “American-Marsh Pumps LLC”, 
Collierville, Tennessee, USA. At the end of the 2019 financial 
year, American-Marsh Pumps LLC, which was formed for this 
purpose, conducted a company acquisition in the form of an 
asset deal within the meaning of IFRS 3. This involved the acqui-
sition of operating assets of the company J-LINE PUMP CO. – 
d/b/a American-Marsh Pumps –, Collierville, Tennessee, USA.

J-LINE PUMP CO. was a leading manufacturer of centrifugal 
pumps and vertical turbines. The company acquisition encom-
passed operating property, plant and equipment and assets 
(primarily buildings, machinery, receivables and inventories) 
as well as the risks associated with acquiring the business 
relationships with customers and suppliers. The employment 
contracts with employees were also acquired. With this acqui-
sition, Wilo is expanding its product portfolio for customers 
in the water management, industry and building services 
segments.

The purchase price was fully paid in the form of cash. The fair 
values of the identifiable acquired assets and liabilities at the 
acquisition date were as follows:

Fair values of assets and liabilities

EUR thousand
31 December 

2019

Property, plant and equipment 3,412

Inventories 4,774

Trade receivables 903

Current provisions and liabilities -3,189

Total 5,900

Initial consolidation did not result in any positive or negative 
goodwill. If the acquisition date had been 1 January 2019, net 
sales of EUR 12,627 million and a net loss of EUR 2,896 mil-
lion would have been reported in the consolidated financial 
statements. The company was consolidated for the first time 
effective 31 December 2019.

(5.)	 Consolidation methods

The financial statements of the German and foreign compa-
nies included in the consolidated financial statements were 
prepared using uniform accounting policies. 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisi-
tion method in accordance with IFRS 3, with all hidden assets 
and liabilities disclosed. The assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities of the acquiree identified in accordance with IFRS 3 
are measured at fair value at the acquisition date and offset 
against the purchase price of the acquisition in capital con-
solidation. 

Any excess of the purchase price over the value of acquired, 
remeasured equity is capitalised as goodwill and tested for 
impairment annually at the level of the cash-generating unit 
to which the goodwill is allocated. If the acquired equity 
exceeds the purchase price, the difference is reassessed and 
recognised in profit or loss. Intangible assets are recognised 
separately from goodwill if they can be separated from the 
company or result from a contractual or other right. 
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The increase in the shareholding in a controlled and thereby 
fully consolidated company is treated as a transaction between 
owners under IFRS 10 in the consolidated financial statements. 
Any resulting difference is recognised directly in retained 
earnings and allocated to the shareholders of WILO SE.

Intragroup sales, income, expenses, receivables, payables and 
contingent liabilities are eliminated. Profits and losses result-
ing from intragroup trading and recognised in inventories are 
eliminated. Any temporary differences arising on consolida-
tion are accounted for by recognising deferred tax items as 
appropriate.

(6.)	 Currency translation

Foreign-currency transactions in the separate financial state-
ments of WILO SE and consolidated subsidiaries are translated 
into functional currency at the transaction date exchange 
rate. Foreign-currency monetary assets and liabilities are 
translated at the average rate as at the end of the reporting 
period and any exchange gains or losses are recognised in  

profit or loss. Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured 
at cost are translated at the transaction date exchange rate.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value are translated at 
the measurement date exchange rate.

Items in the separate financial statements of consolidated 
entities are measured in the currency of the primary economic 
environment (functional currency). 

Financial statements prepared in functional currencies other 
than the euro are translated into euro for consolidation. The 
reporting currency used in the consolidated financial state-
ments is the euro. All assets and liabilities are translated at 
the exchange rate as at the end of the reporting period.Con-
solidated income statement items are translated for inclusion 
in the consolidated financial statements at annual average 
rates that appropriately approximate the transaction date 
exchange rates. Translation differences are accounted for as 
a separate item in consolidated equity until a subsidiary is dis-
posed of. 

The main exchange rates used in currency translation are as 
follows:

Exchange rates

Annual average rate Rate as at 31 Dec.

 EUR 1 = 2019 2018 2019 2018

Pound sterling GBP 0.8754 0.8855 0.8508 0.8981

Chinese yuan CNY 7.7211 7.8060 7.8205 7.8426

Indian rupee INR 78.7247 80.5622 80.1873 79.6527

Polish zloty PLN 4.2976 4.2694 4.2568 4.2938

Russian rouble RUB 72.2101 74.0612 69.9565 79.7958

Swedish krona SEK 10.5841 10.2972 10.4468 10.1631

Swiss franc CHF 1.1111 1.1506 1.0854 1.1266

South Korean won KRW 1,302.9606 1,294.6704 1,296.2805 1,277.0302

Turkish lira TRY 6.3626 5.7070 6.6506 6.0662

US dollar USD 1.1190 1.1780 1.1234 1.1446

WILO Annual Report 2019  |  Consolidated financial statements  |  Notes to the consolidated financial statements

88



(7.)	 Accounting policies

The accounting policies applied in the previous year have 
been retained. Notes on the first-time adoption of new or 
amended standards and interpretations can be found in note 
(3). Items presented in the statement of financial position are 
broken down into current and non-current items. An asset or 
liability is classified as current if it is expected to be realised 
within twelve months of the end of the reporting period. 

ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS  Preparation of consoli-
dated financial statements in line with IASB standards requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the amounts and reporting of recognised assets and liabilities, 
income and expenses and contingent assets and liabilities. 
Essentially the following matters are affected by estimates 
and assumptions:

■■ assessment of impairment on goodwill
■■ assessment of impairment on capitalised development 

costs
■■ measurement of intangible assets and items of property, 

plant and equipment
■■ assessment of impairment on trade receivables
■■ recognition and measurement of provisions for pensions 

and similar obligations
■■ recognition and measurement of other provisions

In goodwill impairment testing, the recoverable amount of 
cash-generating units is measured as the higher of fair value 
less costs to sell and value in use. Fair value is the best esti-
mate of the amount obtainable at the end of the reporting 
period from the sale of a cash-generating unit in an arm’s 
length transaction. Value in use is the present value of the 
future cash flows expected to be derived from continuing use 
of a cash-generating unit. 

The Wilo Group uses the value in use as calculated using the 
discounted cash flow method in impairment testing for good-
will. The discounted cash flows are based on the strategic 
planning for a period of five years. 

The cash flows forecasts take into account past experience 
and are based on the best estimate of future development by 
the company’s management. Cash flows after the detailed 
planning period are extrapolated using growth rates specific 
to the business area. 

The most important assumptions on which the calculation  
of value in use is based relate to discounted cash flows, 
estimated growth rates, the weighted average cost of capital 
and tax rates. These estimates and the underlying methods 
can have a significant influence on the respective values and 
ultimately on the amount of possible goodwill impairment. 
The Wilo Group reported goodwill of EUR 104,840 thousand 
as at the end of the reporting period (previous year: EUR 
104,179 thousand). Further information can be found under 
“Intangible assets” and “Impairment of assets” (note (7)) and 
in note (9.1). 

For intangible assets and items of property, plant and equip-
ment, the useful lives applied are based on management esti-
mates. Moreover, if necessary, impairment tests determine 
the recoverable amount of an asset or the cash-generating 
unit assigned to the asset as the higher of fair value less costs 
to sell or the value in use. 

Fair value is the best estimate of the amount obtainable at 
the end of the reporting period from the sale of an asset in an 
arm’s length transaction. The discounted future cash flow of 
the asset in question must be determined to calculate its 
value in use. The estimate of discounted future cash flows 
includes significant assumptions that themselves are subject  

WILO Annual Report 2019  |  Consolidated financial statements  |  Notes to the consolidated financial statements

89



to estimation uncertainty, e.g. the discount rate. Although 
the management presumes that its assumptions of general 
economic conditions, estimates of discounted future cash flow 
and of relevant expected useful lives are appropriate, a change 
in assumptions or circumstances could require a change in 
analysis. This could result in additional impairment losses in 
the future if the trends identified by the management reverse 
or if its assumptions or estimates prove to be inaccurate. The 
Wilo Group reported intangible assets of EUR 233,140 thou-
sand (previous year: EUR 222,005 thousand) and property, 
plant and equipment of EUR 571,222 thousand (previous 
year: EUR 451,214 thousand) as at the end of the reporting 
period. 

Further information can be found under “Intangible assets”, 
“Property, plant and equipment” and “Impairment of assets” 
(note (7)) and in notes (9.1) and (9.2). 

Credit risks and risks of default can arise for trade receivables 
to the extent that customers do not meet their payment obli-
gations and asset losses occur as a result. The necessary 
write-downs are calculated taking into account the credit rat-
ing of the respective customer, any collateral and experience 
of historical default rates. The actual default on payment by 
the customer can differ from the expected default on account 
of the underlying factors. The Wilo Group recognised total 
write-downs on trade receivables of EUR 24,701 thousand 
(previous year: EUR 21,700 thousand) as at the end of the 
reporting period. Further information can be found under 
“Financial assets” (note (7)) and in note (9.4). 

The amount and probability of utilisation are estimated for 
the recognition and measurement of other provisions. The 
measurement is based on the most likely settlement amount 
or the expected settlement amount if there are equal proba-
bilities. The amount of actual utilisation can differ from esti-
mates. The Wilo Group primarily reports provisions for possi-
ble warranty claims and provisions for bonuses and customer 
rebates under other provisions. In total, other provisions of 
EUR 49,735 thousand (previous year: EUR 43,610 thousand) 
were reported as at the end of the reporting period. Further 
information can be found under “Other provisions” (note (7)) 
and in note (9.15). 

The calculation of provisions for pensions and similar post-
employment obligations is based on key premises, such as the 
discounting rates, salary trends, life expectancies and assump-
tions regarding trends in healthcare. The discounting rates 
used are determined on the basis of the returns on govern-
ment bonds of the same term and currency as at the end of 
the reporting period. Actual developments may differ from 
the premises assumed on account of the fluctuating market 
and economic situation. This can have a significant effect on 
the obligations for pensions and similar post-employment 
benefits. The resulting differences are recognised in other 
comprehensive income. In total, provisions for pensions and 
similar obligations of EUR 91,083 thousand (previous year: 
EUR 80,030 thousand) were reported as at the end of the 
reporting period. Further information can be found under 
“Pensions and similar obligations” (note (7)) and in note (9.14). 

The assumptions and estimates are based on current know
ledge and the data currently available. Actual developments 
can differ from estimates. If the actual developments differ 
from estimates, the resulting consequences for the carrying 
amounts of the relevant assets and liabilities are taken into 
account accordingly.

JUDGEMENTS  Judgements must be made in the applica-
tion of accounting policies. In particular, this applies to the 
following:

■■ When allocating financial assets in accordance with IFRS 9 
to the measurement categories at amortised cost, at fair 
value through profit and loss (FVTPL) and at fair value 
through other comprehensive income (FVOCI), judgements 
must be made.

■■ The cash-generating units for goodwill impairment test-
ing are formed and defined by product and application and 
are subject to management judgement. The allocation of 
goodwill to individual cash-generating units is likewise 
subject to judgement.

■■ When using derivatives to minimise the financial risks of 
hedged items, it must be decided whether hedge account-
ing is to be used within the meaning of IFRS 9.

■■ In realising revenues in accordance with IFRS 15 determin-
ing whether control is transferred to the customer at a point 
in time or over time requires the exercise of judgement.
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EXPENSE AND REVENUE RECOGNITION  In accordance with 
IFRS, Wilo realises sales when control of distinct goods or ser-
vices is transferred to the customer, that is, when the cus-
tomer has the ability to determine the use of the transferred 
goods or services and obtain substantially all the remaining 
benefits. This requires that an agreement with enforceable 
rights and obligations exists and receiving the consideration 
– taking into account the customer’s creditworthiness – is 
probable. Revenue corresponds to the transaction price to 
which Wilo expects to be entitled. At Wilo the transaction 
does not generally include considerations with various 
amounts in the transaction price. However, if the transaction 
price does include considerations with various amounts, the 
amount of the consideration with the most probable amount 
is determined. If the period of time between the transfer of 
goods or services and the agreed time of payment exceeds  
a period of twelve months, and a significant benefit results 
from the financing, then significant financing components are 
reclassified from revenues to net financial costs. If a contract 
covers several distinct goods and/services, the transaction 
price is allocated to the performance obligation on the basis 
of the relative stand-alone selling prices. If stand-alone sell-
ing prices are not directly observable, then these are estimated 
at an appropriate level. For each performance obligation, rev-
enue is realised either at a point in time or over a specific 
period time. Net sales are presented net of trade discounts 
and rebates. 

Cost includes all direct costs and overheads incurred in gen-
erating net sales, including depreciation on production 
machinery. This item also includes amounts recognised for 
guarantee provisions. Operating expenses are recognised in 
profit or loss when service is rendered or the expenses 
incurred. Interest income and interest expenses are recog-
nised on an accrual basis. 

ADMINISTRATIVE AND SELLING EXPENSES  Administrative 
expenses and selling expenses include attributable labour and 
material costs plus depreciation applicable to each functional 
area.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS  Development costs 
are capitalised as intangible assets at cost and amortised over 
their useful lives, provided the capitalisation criteria described 
in IAS 38 are met. Development costs that do not meet the 
capitalisation criteria in accordance with IAS 38 and research 
costs are reported as a separate line item in the income state-
ment. In the year under review, development costs were 
capitalised in the amount of EUR 17,320 thousand (previous 
year: EUR 15,520 thousand). Furthermore, the addition to 
capitalised development costs also includes borrowing costs 
of EUR 421 thousand (previous year: EUR 1,348 thousand), 
meaning that the addition totals EUR 17,741 thousand (pre-
vious year: EUR 16,868 thousand).

BORROWING COSTS  Borrowing costs are recognised in 
profit or loss, provided they do not relate directly to the 
acquisition, development or production of qualifying assets. 

If this is the case, these direct borrowing costs are capitalised as 
incidental costs of acquisition of the qualified asset. Qualifying 
assets are assets which require a substantial period of time to 
bring them to a condition suitable for use or sale. In the 2019 
financial year, borrowing costs were capitalised in the amount 
of EUR 2,844 thousand (previous year: EUR 3,004 thousand). 
The borrowing cost rate, which forms the basis for determin-
ing the capitalisable borrowing costs, was 2.09 percent in the 
year under review (previous year: 2.41 percent).
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS  Acquired intangible assets with a finite 
useful life are capitalised at cost and amortised on a straight-
line basis over their useful lives (three to five years in the  
Wilo Group). 

In accordance with IFRS 3 and IAS 38 in conjunction with 
IAS  36, goodwill is not amortised but instead tested for 
impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that 
it has become impaired. 

If the conditions of IAS 38 are met, development costs with a 
finite useful life are capitalised and amortised on a straight-
line basis over their useful lives. 

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  Physical assets used 
in the business for longer than one year are measured at cost 
less straight-line depreciation. Cost comprises the purchase 
price plus all directly attributable costs incurred in bringing an 
asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be 
capable of operating.

The estimated useful life of a building is between ten and 
60 years; leasehold improvements and buildings on third-
party land are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term 
or their useful life. The useful lives for technical equipment 
and machinery are between three and 14 years. Operating and 
office equipment subject to normal use are depreciated over 
three to 13 years. Significant parts of an asset that meet the 
criteria set out in IAS 16 are accounted for using the compo-
nent approach. The depreciation for the financial year is allo-
cated to the corresponding functional areas.

ASSETS HELD FOR SALE  Non-current assets or disposal 
groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount 
will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather 
than through continuing use. For this to be the case, the asset 
or disposal group must be available for immediate sale in its 
present condition and its sale must be highly probable. Assets 
held for sale are no longer written down, and are instead 
measured at the lower of fair value less costs to sell and 
carrying amount.

LEASES  Wilo does not lease out any items itself, instead 
acting as a lessee only. The starting point for the initial meas-
urement of the lease liability is the present value of the pay-
ments to be made over the lease term. The lease liability is 
carried forward to subsequent periods depending on the 
agreed repayment.

The right-of-use assets acquired are capitalised at cost on 
initial recognition and depreciated on a straight-line basis 
over the term of the lease. Subsequent measurement is based 
on the provisions for non-current assets. 

Leased property is returned to the lessor at the end of the 
lease term. 

Where consolidated companies are lessees, lease payments 
are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over 
the term of the lease.

For the comparative period, depending on the transitional 
method used, the accounting policies of IAS 17 are retained. 
Leases that meet the classification criteria for finance leases 
under IAS 17 are initially recognised as assets and liabilities at 
amounts equal to the fair value of the leased property or, if 
lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments, 
each determined at the inception of the lease. If it is not rea-
sonably certain that Wilo will obtain ownership by the end of 
the lease term, the leased asset is fully depreciated on a 
straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and  
its useful life. In such a case, the useful life is taken as a basis. 
On first-time recognition of finance leases under IAS 17, the 
capitalised amount and the liability are identical.
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IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS  The recovera-
ble amount is measured using the discounted cash flow 
method on the basis of approved planning over a strategic 
planning horizon of five years. An appropriate, unit-specific 
growth factor is applied. The plans are based on past experi-
ence and projected market development. The product divi-
sions of the Wilo Group are broken down by product groups 
and applications to form the cash-generating units. As the 
Wilo Group does not perform voluntary segment reporting  
in accordance with IFRS 8, a further subdivision of the cash-
generating units into additional segments is unnecessary.

The Wilo Group uses the value in use of each product division 
as its recoverable amount for the purposes of goodwill impair-
ment testing.

The main assumptions used to determine the value in use of 
each product division for goodwill impairment testing are 
shown in the table below:

Assumptions used to determine value in use

Product division

Goodwill in  
EUR thousand 

Long-term 
growth factor 

in %

Discount rate 
before income 

taxes in %

Heating, Ventilation, 
Air-Conditioning 7,620 0.1 12.1

Clean and 
Waste Water 97,220 0.7 12.1

The impairment test for capitalised development costs per-
formed in the 2019 financial year resulted in no impairment 
losses (previous year: EUR 1,424 thousand).

FINANCIAL ASSETS  The Wilo Group’s financial assets com-
prise loans and receivables, acquired equity and debt securi-
ties, cash and derivative financial instruments that are assets. 
Within the Wilo Group, these financial assets are reported 
under trade receivables, other financial assets and cash.

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified and meas-
ured as follows:

■■ at amortised cost
■■ FVOCI debt instruments (investments in debt instruments 

measured at fair value through other comprehensive 
income)

■■ FVOCI equity investments (equity investments measured 
at fair value through other comprehensive income)

■■ FVTPL (at fair value through profit or loss)

Purchases and sales of non-derivative financial assets are 
accounted for on the settlement date, i.e. the date of delivery 
and transfer of ownership. Derivative financial instruments 
are accounted for at the trade date.

Financial assets are not reclassified after initial recognition 
unless the Group changes its business model for controlling 
financial assets. In this case, all the affected financial assets 
are reclassified on the first day of the reporting period follow-
ing the change in the business model.

A financial asset is carried at amortised cost if both of the 
following conditions are met and it has not been designated 
as FVTPL:

■■ It is held within a business model whose objective is 
achieved by collecting the contractual cash flows, and 

■■ the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on 
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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A debt instrument is designated at FVOCI if both of the 
following conditions are met and it has not been designated 
as FVTPL:

■■ It is held within a business model whose objective is 
achieved by both holding financial assets to collect the 
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets, and 

■■ its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash 
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on 
the principal amount outstanding.

When an equity investment that is not held for trading is rec-
ognised for the first time, the Group may irrevocably elect 
whether to present subsequent changes in the fair value of 
the investment in other comprehensive income. This is done 
on a case-by-case basis for each investment.

All financial instruments not measured at amortised cost or 
FVOCI are measured at FVTPL. This includes all derivative 
financial assets. On initial recognition, the Group may irrevo-
cably elect to designate as FVTPL financial assets that other-
wise meet the conditions for recognition at amortised cost  
or FVOCI if this serves to eliminate or significantly reduce 
accounting mismatches that would otherwise occur.

The following section describes the subsequent measurement 
of financial assets and the effects on the income statement:

■■ Financial assets at FVTPL  These assets are subsequently 
measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including any 
interest or dividend income, are recognised in profit or loss. 

■■ Financial assets at amortised cost  These assets are sub-
sequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. Amortised cost is reduced by impairment 
losses. Interest income, currency gains and losses and 
impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain 
or loss on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

■■ Debt instruments at FVOCI  These assets are subse-
quently measured at fair value. Interest income calculated 
using the effective interest method, currency gains and 
losses and impairment losses are recognised in profit or 
loss. Other net gains or losses are recognised in other com-
prehensive income. The cumulative other comprehensive 
income is reclassified to profit or loss on derecognition. 

■■ Equity investments at FVOCI  These assets are subse-
quently measured at fair value. Dividend income is recog-
nised in profit or loss unless the dividend evidently covers 
part of the cost of the investment. Other net gains and 
losses are recognised in other comprehensive income and 
are never reclassified to profit or loss.

■■ Derecognition of financial assets  The Group derecognises 
a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash 
flows from the financial asset expire or it transfers the 
rights to receive the cash flows in a transaction that also 
transfers substantially all the risks and opportunities asso-
ciated with ownership of the financial asset. 

	 �A financial asset is also derecognised when the Group nei-
ther transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and 
opportunities of ownership and does not retain control of 
the transferred asset.

■■ Impairment of assets  The risk provision and thus any 
impairment loss is based on the expected loss credit model 
of IFRS 9. These measurement provisions cover all finan-
cial assets not measured at FVTPL, such as loans, lease pay-
ments, trade receivables, credit enhancements, contract 
assets, specific finance guarantees or credit agreements. 
The measurement approach depends on the change in 
credit risk since initial recognition. In accordance with 
IFRS 9, the measurement model consists of the measure-
ment approaches that the risk provision is based either on 
a twelve-month expected loss or a life time expected credit 
loss of the financial assets. A lifetime expected credit loss 
is determined only when the credit risk has significantly 
increased since initial recognition. An example would be if 
a receivable is more than 30 days past due or the rating has 
been downgraded by two or more notches.
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For the subsequent measurement of trade payables and 
receivables, contract assets and lease payments there is a 
simplified approach using an impairment matrix. These 
receivables are subject to the lifetime expected credit loss. 

INVENTORIES  Raw materials and supplies and merchandise 
are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 
Cost is determined using the weighted average cost method. 
Work in progress and finished goods are carried at cost. This 
includes all costs directly attributable to production and 
appropriate portions of production overheads. Production 
overheads include production-related depreciation, pro rata 
administration costs and pro rata social security costs. Cost 
does not include borrowing costs. Discounts are recognised 
on raw materials and supplies and merchandise for quality and 
functional defects and for risks of failure to sell. Inventories 
are measured as at the end of the reporting period at the 
lower of cost and net realisable value. 

DERIVATIVES AND HEDGING  The Wilo Group uses deriva-
tives solely to reduce exchange rate, interest rate and com-
modity price risk. These instruments are hedges from an eco-
nomic perspective. Wilo uses hedge accounting in accordance 
with IAS 39. 

If the hedges do not meet the requirements of IAS 39 or 
IFRS  9, they are recognised and measured under FVTPL. 
Measurement is performed using standard measurement 
methods based on market parameters specific to each instru-
ment. The fair value of forward exchange contracts and 
cross-currency interest rate swaps is calculated using net 
present value models, while the fair value of options is calcu-
lated using option pricing models. Where possible, the rele-
vant market prices and interest rates at the end of the report-
ing period are used as the input parameters for these models. 

The fair value of forward exchange contracts is determined 
using the middle spot exchange rate as at the end of the 
reporting period and taking into account the forward premi-
ums and discounts for the remaining contract term with 
respect to the agreed forward exchange rate. The fair value 
of cross-currency interest rate swaps is determined by dis-
counting the expected cash flows using applicable market 
rates with the same term as at the reporting date. Commod-
ity futures are measured on the basis of current quoted 
market prices, taking corresponding forward premiums and 
discounts into account. In contrast, currency and commodity 
options are measured using option pricing models. The fair 
value of derivative financial instruments is calculated by banks.

Changes in the fair value of derivatives as at the end of the 
reporting period are taken directly to profit and loss under 
other net finance costs. Income and expenses from the real-
isation of derivatives are disclosed in the income statement 
in the item in which the effects of hedged items are reported. 
Income or expenses from the realisation of currency derivatives 
are recognised under other operating income or expenses, 
provided the hedged item is assigned to the operating area 
and the income and expenses from the measurement of this 
item were recognised accordingly in the same item. If the item 
relates to financial activity, the realised income and expenses 
from the currency forward or currency option are reported in 
other net financial income. Income or expenses from the real-
isation of cross-currency interest rate swaps are reported in 
net interest income. Income or expenses from the realisation 
of commodity derivatives without physical delivery are 
reported in cost of sales.
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OTHER RECEIVABLES AND ASSETS  Other receivables and 
assets primarily include tax receivables, advance payments, 
employer pension liability assets, deferrals and receivables 
from employees that are not financial assets. These other 
receivables and assets are measured at amortised cost. 

DEFERRED TAXES  Deferred tax assets and deferred tax lia-
bilities are recognised in accordance with IAS 12 for all tem-
porary differences between the carrying amount of an asset 
or liability in the IFRS financial statements and its tax base. 

Deferred tax assets are also recognised in respect of the 
expected utilisation of unused tax loss carryforwards in sub-
sequent years provided that, according to the estimates made 
by the Executive Board, the tax loss carryforwards are suffi-
ciently likely to be utilised. Deferred tax assets are tested for 
impairment as at the end of the reporting period. The impair-
ment test is based on approved planning over a strategic 
planning horizon of five years. The plans are based on past 
experience and projected market development. Deferred tax 
assets on loss carryforwards of EUR 41,159 thousand (previ-
ous year: EUR 35,242 thousand) were recognised as at the end 
of the reporting period.

The Wilo Group also recognises deferred tax liabilities for the 
tax expenses to arise on the expected profit distributions by 
the consolidated subsidiaries to WILO SE in the subsequent 
year. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the 
tax rates that apply or that are expected to apply at the real-
isation date according to the current legal situation in the 
individual countries. 

Deferred tax assets are only offset against deferred tax liabil-
ities if they relate to the same taxation authority and have 
matching terms. Information on the deferred taxes as at 
31 December 2019 is provided in note (8.8). 

GOVERNMENT GRANTS  In accordance with IAS 20, a gov-
ernment grant is only recognised if there is reasonable assur-
ance of compliance with the conditions attached to it and 
that the grant will be received. Research and investment 
grants received by the Wilo Group are recognised in profit or 
loss over the periods necessary to match them to the costs 
they are intended to compensate. Investment grants are rec-
ognised as deferred income and reversed to profit and loss 
over the term of the subsidised assets. 

EQUITY  Treasury shares in the notional amount of EUR 1,477 
thousand (previous year: EUR 1,477 thousand) are openly 
deducted from issued capital.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES  Financial liabilities primary comprise 
liabilities and derivative financial instruments with negative 
fair values. 

In accordance with IAS 32, primary liabilities such as financial 
liabilities due to banks, trade payables and liabilities reported 
under other financial liabilities are recognised in the consol-
idated statement of financial position if the Wilo Group has a 
contractual obligation to transfer cash or other financial 
assets to another party. The primary liabilities are assigned to 
the “at amortised cost” measurement category within the 
meaning of IFRS 9 and are carried at settlement amount or 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Non-
interest-bearing and low-interest liabilities with a term of 
more than one year are discounted if the time value of money 
is not immaterial. For liabilities with a term of less than one 
year, the fair value is assumed to be the same as the settle-
ment amount. Transaction costs that are directly attributa-
ble are also recognised for all financial liabilities not subse-
quently measured at fair value and then amortised over their 
term using the effective interest method.

In accordance with IFRS 9, derivative liabilities are recognised 
at fair value with changes in value recognised through profit 
or loss (FVTPL). 
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In subsequent measurement, finance lease liabilities are car-
ried at the present value of the lease payments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are generally reported 
without offsetting.

PENSIONS AND SIMILAR OBLIGATIONS  Provisions are rec-
ognised for uncertain liabilities from pension obligations and 
other post-employment benefits. In accordance with IAS 19, 
pension obligations for defined benefit commitments are cal-
culated using the internationally recognised projected unit 
credit method. The calculations are based on actuarial 
appraisals and biometric parameters.

Actuarial gains and losses and gains and losses from the 
remeasurement of plan assets are recognised in full in other 
comprehensive income.

The expense relating to pension obligations, with the excep-
tion of the interest portion reported in net finance costs, is 
allocated to the relevant functional areas. The amount of 
pension obligations is determined using actuarial methods, 
for which estimates are essential.

The calculations for pension obligations use the following 
parameters, shown here on a weighted-average basis:

Calculation parameters for pension obligations

Figures in %
31 December 

2019
31 December 

2018

Discount rate 1.20 2.05

Pension adjustment 2.00 1.99

Salary increase 3.14 3.19

The net interest expense is calculated by multiplying the net 
pension liability by the discount rate. 

The actuarial present value of pension obligations calculated 
using the projected unit credit method is reduced by the 
amount of the corresponding assets at the third-party pension 
provider if the requirements of IAS 19 for plan assets are met.

OTHER PROVISIONS  Provisions for taxes include current 
income tax liabilities. Other provisions are recognised in 
accordance with IAS 37 when there is a present obligation to 
a third party resulting from a past event settling the obliga-
tion will probably require an outflow of resources and the 
amount of the obligation can be reliably estimated. Non-
current provisions for obligations not expected to result in an 
outflow of resources in the next year are recognised at the 
net present value of the expected outflow of resources. The 
discount rate is based on market interest rates.
 
The settlement amount includes expected cost increases. 
Provisions are remeasured as at the end of each reporting 
period. Provisions are not offset against rights of recourse.

(8.)	� Notes to the consolidated  
income statement

(8.1)	� Net sales

Net sales break down according to the following regions:

�Net sales

EUR thousand 2019 % 2018 %

Mature Markets 970,307 65.7 955,499 65.3

Emerging Markets 507,523 34.3 508,029 34.7

Total 1,477,830 100.0 1,463,528 100.0

Mature Markets and Emerging Markets consist of the following countries:

– �Mature Markets: All European countries, Russia, Belarus, Ukraine, Caucasus nations 
and nations of the American continent

– �Emerging Markets: India, China, South Korea, Southeast Asian nations, Australia and 
Oceania, Turkey, Near East and Middle East nations, African nations
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Net sales include revenue from the sale of goods of EUR 
1,356,687 thousand (previous year: EUR 1,346,096 thousand) 
and service income of EUR 121,143 thousand (previous year: 
EUR 117,432 thousand).

(8.2)	� Cost of sales

This item consists of costs of the products and merchandise 
sold.

Cost of sales

EUR thousand 2019 2018

Cost of materials -676,677 -650,792

Miscellaneous costs -293,683 -290,955

Total -970,360 -941,747

(8.3)	� Selling and administrative expenses

Selling and administrative expenses

EUR thousand 2019 2018

Selling expenses -264,627 -270,986

Administrative expenses -94,638 -102,236

Total -359,265 -373,222

Selling expenses include staff costs, depreciation and amor-
tisation, and customer service, advertising, sales promotion, 
market research and shipping costs for sales in particular.

(8.4)	� Research and non-capitalised  
development costs

Research and non-capitalised development costs

EUR thousand 2019 2018

Research and development costs -67,652 -66,263

	 of which capitalised development costs 17,320 15,520

Total -50,332 -50,743

(8.5)	� Other operating income

Other operating income

EUR thousand 2019 2018

Foreign-currency gains from  
operating activities 5,612 5,995

Income from disposals of intangible assets 
and property, plant and equipment 1,445 554

Government grants 2,298 2,099

Insurance compensation 328 608

Rental income 150 97

Income from deconsolidation 0 1,029

Other 4,398 4,550

Total 14,231 14,932

The foreign-currency gains from operating activities of EUR 
5,612 thousand (previous year: EUR 5,995 thousand) mainly 
consist of gains due to exchange rate changes between the 
inception and settlement of foreign-currency receivables and 
liabilities, and foreign-currency gains resulting from meas-
urement at the exchange rate as at the end of the reporting 
period. Foreign-currency losses of EUR 5,987 thousand (pre-
vious year: EUR 8,888 thousand) from these items are 
reported under other operating expenses (see note (8.6)). As 
subsidiaries mostly trade with customers and suppliers in local 
currency, these foreign-currency gains and losses mainly arise 
on intragroup transactions. 

(8.6)	� Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses

EUR thousand 2019 2018

Foreign-currency losses from  
operating activities -5,987 -8,888

Losses on disposals of intangible assets  
and property, plant and equipment -992 -498

Other -1,937 -11,425

Total -8,916 -20,811
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(8.7)	� Net finance costs

Net finance costs break down as follows:

�Net finance costs

EUR thousand 2019 2018

Net interest costs -5,087 -3,252

Other net finance costs -466 -5,305

Total -5,553 -8,557

Net interest costs consists of the following interest income 
and expenses:

Net interest costs

EUR thousand 2019 2018

Interest income from cash and  
cash equivalents 2,503 2,279

Interest income 2,503 2,279

Interest expenses from financial liabilities -9,034 -7,923

Interest on leases -1,400 -612

Capitalised borrowing costs 2,844 3,004

Interest expenses -7,590 -5,531

Total -5,087 -3,252

Other net finance costs breaks down as follows:

Other net finance costs

EUR thousand 2019 2018

Gains on derivative financial instruments 2,440 797

Foreign-currency gains from financing 
activities 435 1,131

Other 577 149

Other financial income 3,452 2,077

Losses on derivative financial instruments -993 -4,277

Foreign-currency losses from financing 
activities -1,218 -1,352

Interest rate effects from pensions, 
non-current liabilities and receivables -1,707 -1,753

Other financial expenses -3,918 -7,382

Total -466 -5,305

The foreign-currency gains and losses from financing activi-
ties result from the translation of intragroup foreign-currency 
loans. 

In the current financial year, the gains and losses on deriva-
tive financial instruments resulted primarily from positive and 
negative utilisation and measurement effects of forward 
exchange contracts. In addition, positive and negative utili-
sation and measurement effects resulted from commodity 
derivatives used to hedge prices for commodities within the 
Wilo Group.

(8.8)	� Income taxes 

The income tax expense contained in consolidated net 
income is composed as follows:

Income taxes

EUR thousand 2019 2018

Current tax expenses/ income   

	 – Reporting year -25,404 -25,980

	 – Adjustments for prior periods 232 -148

Current income taxes -25,172 -26,128

Deferred tax income/expense   

	 – �from unutilised loss carryforwards 5,917 12,288

	 – �from changes in tax rates 253 -286

	 – �from the creation and reversal  
of temporary differences -5,671 -4,802

	 – �from write-downs and reversals of 
write-downs on deferred tax assets -540 -230

Deferred tax income/expense -41 6,970

Income taxes -25,213 -19,158

Deferred taxes are determined according to local income tax 
rates. For Germany, this is a combined tax rate of 32.1 percent 
(previous year: 30.8 percent) consisting of corporation tax, 
solidarity surcharge and trade tax. As in the previous year, local 
income tax rates for foreign entities range 9.0 percent to 
34.0 percent (previous year: from 9.0 percent to 34.9 percent).
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Deferred taxes by item in the statement  
of financial position
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised as follows in 
relation to measurement differences on individual items of 
the statement of financial position and tax loss carryforwards:

Deferred taxes by item in the statement of financial position

Deferred tax assets Deferred tax liabilities

EUR thousand 2019 2018 2019 2018

Intangible assets 2,399 858 30,922 25,602

Property, plant and equipment 1,022 2,138 16,605 10,524

Inventories 4,639 5,228 885 419

Receivables and other assets 6,373 7,843 2,349 2,920

14,433 16,067 50,761 39,465

Financial liabilities 19 0 457 686

Trade payables 1,400 677 264 5

Pensions and similar obligations 17,649 14,213 0 0

Other provisions and liabilities 11,072 7,073 7,447 9,534

Tax loss carryforwards 41,159 35,242 0 0

 71,299 57,205 8,168 10,225

Carrying amount 85,732 73,272 58,929 49,690

The change in deferred tax assets and liabilities in the report-
ing year was as follows: 

Change in deferred taxes

EUR thousand

Net amount  
of deferred tax 

assets/ liabilities  
as at 31 Dec. 2018

Recognised in  
profit or loss 

 

Recognised  
in other  

comprehensive 
income

Net amount  
of deferred tax 

assets/liabilities  
as at 31 Dec. 2019

Intangible assets -24,744 -3,779 0 -28,523

Property, plant and equipment -8,386 -7,177 -20 -15,583

Inventories 4,808 -1,054 0 3,754

Receivables and other assets 4,899 -899 0 4,000

Financial liabilities -686 248 0 -438

Trade payables 673 463 0 1,136

Pensions and similar obligations 14,213 154 3,282 17,649

Other provisions and liabilities -2,857 6,086 0 3,229

Initial application of IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 420 0 0 420

Tax loss carryforwards 35,242 5,917 0 41,159

Total 23,582 -41 3,262 26,803
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The change in deferred tax assets and liabilities in the previ-
ous year was as follows: 

Change in deferred taxes

EUR thousand

Net amount  
of deferred tax 

assets/ liabilities  
as at 31 Dec. 2017

Recognised in  
profit or loss 

 

Recognised  
in other  

comprehensive 
income

Net amount  
of deferred tax 

assets/ liabilities as 
at 31 Dec. 2018

Intangible assets -20,328 -4,416 0 -24,744

Property, plant and equipment -6,435 -2,133 182 -8,386

Inventories 4,697 111 0 4,808

Receivables and other assets 4,691 176 32 4,899

Financial liabilities -1,145 459 0 -686

Trade payables 75 598 0 673

Pensions and similar obligations 14,093 227 -107 14,213

Other provisions and liabilities -2,516 -341 0 -2,857

Initial application of IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 0 0 420 420

Tax loss carryforwards 22,953 12,289 0 35,242

Total 16,085 6,970 527 23,582

EUR -20 thousand of the deferred tax income of EUR 3,262 
thousand recognised in other comprehensive income relates 
to currency differences. The remaining EUR 3,282 thousand 
relates to the actuarial changes in the present value of the 
pension obligations and the remeasurement of the related 
plan assets. 

Unutilised tax loss carryforwards amounted to EUR 171,266 
thousand (previous year: EUR 152,945 thousand) as at the 
end of the reporting period, EUR 125,623 thousand of which 
(previous year: EUR 102,286 thousand) can be carried forward 
indefinitely. The limited tax loss carryforwards amount to 
EUR 45,643 thousand (previous year: EUR 50,659 thousand) 
and can be carried forward between five and 20 years. 

Applying local income tax rates, deferred tax assets on  
loss carryforwards of EUR 41,159 thousand (previous year: 
EUR 35,242 thousand) were recognised as at the end of the 
reporting period. 

A potential deferred tax asset on loss carryforwards of 
EUR 8,901 thousand (previous year: EUR 8,426 thousand) was 
not recognised on the remaining loss carryforwards as future 
utilisation did not seem sufficiently likely at the end of the 
reporting period.

As WILO  SE is anticipating profit distributions from its 
consolidated subsidiaries next year, deferred tax liabilities of 
EUR 2,486 thousand (previous year: EUR 3,096 thousand) 
have been recognised on these distributions.

In addition, there were retained profits of EUR 177,628 thou-
sand at subsidiaries as at 31 December 2019 (previous year: 
EUR 150,796 thousand) intended for long-term investment, 
for which no deferred tax liabilities were therefore recognised. 
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RECONCILIATION OF INCOME TAXES  The combined stat-
utory tax rate of 15.8 percent consisting of corporation tax 
and the solidarity surcharge plus the trade tax rate of approx-
imately 16.3 percent was used in the reconciliation of income 
taxes in the 2019 financial year. This corresponds to a total 
tax rate of 32.1 percent (previous year: 30.8 percent). The 
Wilo Group reported tax expenses of EUR 25,213 thousand 
(previous year: EUR 19,158 thousand) in its consolidated 
income statement for 2019. This is EUR 6,128 thousand  
lower (previous year: EUR 6,523 thousand lower) than the 
expected tax expense of EUR 31,341 thousand (previous year: 
EUR 25,681 thousand) that results from applying the domes-
tic rate of 32.1 percent (previous year: 30.8 percent) at Group 
level. 

The difference is attributable to the following causes:

Tax reconciliation

EUR thousand 2019 2018

Consolidated net income before taxes 97,635 83,380

Expected tax expense -31,341 -25,681

Tax rate changes 253 -286

Difference from current tax rates 12,750 9,856

Temporary differences arising  
on consolidation -128 -85

Other permanent differences -7,523 -2,797

Tax-free income 2,855 3,597

Change in unrecognised deferred  
taxes on loss carryforwards -475 147

Withholding tax -2,342 -3,292

Prior-period taxes 175 -148

Other 563 -469

Current tax expense -25,213 -19,158

(8.9)	� Earnings per share

Earnings per share are determined by dividing consolidated 
net income attributable to WILO  SE shareholders by the 
weighted average number of shares outstanding in the finan-
cial year. Both basic and diluted earnings per ordinary share 
amounted to EUR 7.38 (previous year: EUR 6.55).

Earnings per share

 2019 2018

Consolidated net income in EUR thousand 72,422 64,222

Number of ordinary shares as at 31 Dec. 9,808,760 9,808,760

Weighted average number of  
ordinary shares outstanding 9,808,760 9,808,760

Earnings per ordinary share (EUR) 7.38 6.55
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(9.)	 Notes to the consolidated  
statement of financial position

(9.1)	 Intangible assets

Intangible assets developed as follows in the financial years 
2019 and 2018: 

Intangible assets

EUR thousand

Patents, property 
rights and  

customer base

Goodwill 
 

Capitalised  
development costs 

Advance payments 
 

Total 
 

Cumulative cost      

As at 1 January 2018 75,867 107,939 63,478 12,599 259,883

Currency translation 655 1,871 0 0 2,526

Additions 4,559 43 16,868 3,392 24,862

Disposals -313 0 0 -7 -320

Reclassifications 6,801 0 0 -6,801 0

As at 31 December 2018 87,569 109,853 80,346 9,183 286,951

As at 1 January 2019 87,569 109,853 80,346 9,183 286,951

Currency translation 356 631 8 0 979

Additions 3,454 0 17,741 1,788 22,983

Disposals -3,192 0 0 -3 -3,195

Reclassifications 520 0 -6 -514 0

As at 31 December 2019 88,707 110,484 98,073 10,454 307,718

Cumulative depreciation      

As at 1 January 2018 49,216 5,671 47 0 54,934

Currency translation 34 3 0 0 37

Depreciation in the financial year 7,903 0 2,327 0 10,230

Disposals -255 0 0 0 -255

As at 31 December 2018 56,898 5,674 2,374 0 64,946

As at 1 January 2019 56,898 5,674 2,374 0 64,946

Currency translation 44 -30 0 0 14

Depreciation in the financial year 8,326 0 4,435 0 12,761

Disposals -3,143 0 0 0 -3,143

As at 31 December 2019 62,125 5,644 6,809 0 74,578

Residual carrying amounts      

As at 1 January 2018 26,651 102,268 63,431 12,599 204,949

As at 31 December 2018 30,671 104,179 77,972 9,183 222,005

As at 1 January 2019 30,671 104,179 77,972 9,183 222,005

As at 31 December 2019 26,582 104,840 91,264 10,454 233,140
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Goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually. Detailed 
information on impairment testing is provided in note (7).

Goodwill allocated to the product divisions developed as 
follows in the 2019 financial year:

Development of goodwill by product division

EUR thousand  1 Jan. 2019 Currency translation 31 Dec. 2019

Product division     

Heating, Ventilation, Air-Conditioning  7,639 -20 7,619 

Clean and Waste Water  96,540 681 97,221

Total  104,179 661 104,840
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(9.2)	 Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment developed as follows in the 
2019 and 2018 financial years:

Property, plant and equipment

EUR thousand

Land and buildings 
 

Technical equipment 
and machinery 

Operating and office 
equipment 

Advance payments 
and assets under 

construction

Total 
 

Cumulative cost      

As at 1 January 2018 250,897 223,494 313,198 52,208 839,797

Currency translation -3,782 -541 -1,056 59 -5,320

Additions 21,470 8,820 21,464 78,309 130,063

Reclassifications 1,188 10,869 8,021 -20,078 0

Disposals -1,107 -12,438 -6,546 -744 -20,835

As at 31 December 2018 268,666 230,204 335,081 109,754 943,705

As at 1 January 2019 268,666 230,204 335,081 109,754 943,705

Initial application of IFRS 16 29,718 1,048 8,425 0 39,191

Currency translation 2,430 -117 943 192 3,448

Additions 13,660 10,557 24,009 93,884 142,110

Additions from business combinations 2,967 0 445 0 3,412

Reclassifications 110,520 4,620 4,950 -120,090 0

Disposals -3,296 -1,904 -9,941 -470 -15,611

As at 31 December 2019 424,665 244,408 363,912 83,270 1,116,255

Cumulative depreciation      

As at 1 January 2018 69,090 155,223 232,499 0 456,812

Currency translation 164 -329 -307 0 -472

Depreciation in the financial year 10,086 14,103 27,138 0 51,327

Disposals -490 -8,657 -6,029 0 -15,176

As at 31 December 2018 78,850 160,340 253,301 0 492,491

As at 1 January 2019 78,850 160,340 253,301 0 492,491

Currency translation -29 -94 269 0 146

Depreciation in the financial year 17,490 15,191 31,464 0 64,145

Reclassifications 0 -1 1 0 0

Disposals -1,479 -1,679 -8,591 0 -11,749

As at 31 December 2019 94,832 173,757 276,444 0 545,033

Residual carrying amounts      

As at 1 January 2018 181,807 68,271 80,699 52,208 382,985

As at 31 December 2018 189,816 69,864 81,780 109,754 451,214

As at 1 January 2019 189,816 69,864 81,780 109,754 451,214

As at 31 December 2019 329,833 70,651 87,468 83,270 571,222
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LEASES  The sales companies of the Wilo Group mainly lease 
office and warehouse space. The terms of the leases are typ-
ically up to five years. Most of these leases were previously 
classified as operating leases in accordance with IAS 17.

There are also material leases in the area of operating and 
office equipment. These relate in particular to IT equipment 
and vehicles and have terms of up to three years. Most of 
these leases were also previously classified as operating 
leases in accordance with IAS 17.

There are leases for low-value assets in the area of operating 
and office equipment in particular (e.g. laptops and mobile 
phones). In accordance with the expedients provided by IFRS 
16, no right-of-use assets or lease liabilities are recognised 
in the statement of financial position for these leases. 

The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment as at 
31  December 2019 contained right-of-use assets in the 
amount of EUR 41,834 thousand that were recognised in 
2019 in accordance with IFRS 16. In the previous year, the car-
rying amounts of property, plant and equipment contained 
leased assets in the amount of EUR 5,278 thousand that were 
classified as finance leases within the meaning of IAS 17. The 
net carrying amounts of the recognised right-of-use assets 
are composed as follows:

Right-of-use lease assets

EUR thousand

IFRS 16 
31 Dec. 

2019

IAS 17 
31 Dec. 

2018

Land and buildings 29,444 512

Technical equipment and machinery 1,179 0

Operating and office equipment 11,211 4,766

Total 41,834 5,278

The right-of-use assets recognised as property, plant and 
equipment in the 2019 financial year in accordance with IFRS 
16 developed as follows:

Development of right-of-use lease assets 

EUR thousand
Land and buildings Technical equipment 

and machinery
Operating and  

office equipment
Total 

As at 31 December 2018 512 0 4,766 5,278

Initial application of IFRS 16 29,718 1,048 8,425 39,191

As at 1 January 2019 30,230 1,048 13,191 44,469

Currency translation 8 0 -25 -17

Additions to right-of-use assets 10,067 490 4,711 15,268

Reclassifications -397 0 -9 -406

Disposals of right-of-use assets -1,006 0 -522 -1,528

Depreciation in the financial year -9,458 -359 -6,135 -15,952

As at 31 December 2019 29,444 1,179 11,211 41,834

WILO Annual Report 2019  |  Consolidated financial statements  |  Notes to the consolidated financial statements

106



Wilo applies the exemptions provided by IFRS 16 for leases 
relating to low-value assets and for short-term leases. In 
addition to interest expenses for lease liabilities, the follow-
ing leases not recognised in the statement of financial posi-
tion are reported in the income statement:

Amounts reported in the income statement

EUR thousand
IFRS 16 

2019
IAS 17 

2018

Interest expenses for lease liabilities 1,400 0

Expenses for leases of low-value assets 1,739 0

Expenses for short-term leases 5,807 0

Expenses for variable lease payments  
not included in the measurement of  
the lease liability 489 0

Expenses for IAS 17 operating leases 0 22,071

Total 9,435 22,071

The consolidated statement of cash flows includes cash out-
flows of EUR 15,986 thousand for leases for which right-of-
use assets have been recognised in accordance with IFRS 16.

(9.3)	 Inventories 

Inventories

EUR thousand
31 Dec. 

2019
31 Dec. 

2018

Raw materials and supplies 89,918 106,823

Work in progress 27,867 20,481

Finished goods and goods for resale 124,494 136,347

Advance payments 833 807

Total 243,112 264,458

As at 31 December 2019, the write-down on inventories 
amounted to EUR 22,281 thousand (previous year: EUR 24,503 
thousand) with a gross carrying amount of EUR 265,393 thou-
sand (previous year: EUR 288,961 thousand). Inventories are 
not subject to any restrictions on title beyond the suppliers’ 
customary retention of title.

(9.4)	 Trade receivables 

The trade receivables result from normal goods and services 
transactions of the Wilo Group. Current trade receivables of 
EUR 288,535 thousand (previous year: EUR 283,932 thousand) 
are due in the 2020 financial year. Non-current trade receiv-
ables of EUR 1,976 thousand (previous year: EUR 2,299 thou-
sand) are due after more than one year. There are no restrictions 
on title on trade receivables.

The Executive Board is of the opinion that the carrying 
amounts of trade receivables are approximately equal to their 
fair values. Adequate provision is made for default risk by 
write-downs in the form of specific and valuation allowances 
and the expected credit loss. Specific valuation allowances 
are recognised on the basis of information available in a spe-
cific case as at the end of the reporting period. Specific valu-
ation allowances are recognised in an appropriate amount in 
relation to any legal, collection or insolvency proceedings 
against debtors, overdue payments, complaints, third-party 
collateral, changes in agreed terms of payment and all other 
transactions or information affecting the collectability of 
trade receivables. 

If trade receivables are past due, assumptions are made 
regarding the expected settlement date. If a long-range 
settlement date is assumed, the receivables are discounted 
accordingly.
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Specific valuation allowances and the expected credit loss on 
trade receivables changed as follows in the 2019 and 2018 
financial years: 

Specific valuation allowances

EUR thousand 2019 2018

As at 1 January 16,379 15,006

Currency translation 30 -306

Additions 4,203 4,083

Utilisation -816 -1,130

Reversals -2,427 -1,274

As at 31 December 17,369 16,379

IFRS 9 expected credit loss 31 Dec. 2019

EUR thousand
Expected 
loss rate 

Gross carry-
ing amount

Risk provi-
sion

Europe 0.2–1.0% 132,063 892

Asia Pacific 0.5-13.1% 97,870 5,790

MEA 2.8% 18,226 467

Others 0.5–1.0% 27,669 183

As at 31 December 2019  275,828 7,332 

IFRS 9 expected credit loss 31 Dec. 2018

EUR thousand
Expected 
loss rate 

Gross carry-
ing amount

Risk provi-
sion

Europe 0.2–1.0% 129,812 770

Asia Pacific 0.5–9.8% 98,884 4,173

MEA 1.4% 13,220 185

Others 0.5–1.0% 24,175 193

As at 31 December 2018  266,091 5,321

The regions Europe, Asia Pacific, MEA and Others, consist of the following countries:

– �Europe: All European states except Russia and Belarus

– �Asia Pacific: India, China, South Korea, Southeast Asian nations, Australia and 
Oceania

– �MEA: Near East and Middle East nations, Turkey and African nations

– �Others: Nations of the American continent, Russia and Belarus, Caucasian nations

Further information on the expected credit loss is provided in 
note (11.) “Risk management and derivative finance instru-
ments”. 

Income and expenses from valuation allowances, recoveries 
and the derecognition of trade receivables are recognised in 
note (8.3) Selling expenses.
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(9.5)	� Other financial assets 

Other financial assets break down as follows as at 31 Decem-
ber 2019 and 2018:

Other financial assets
31 Dec. 2019  

of which with a remaining term
31 Dec. 2018  

of which with a remaining term

EUR thousand
Total of less than  

one year
of more than 

one year
Total of less than  

one year
of more than 

one year

Receivables from unconsolidated  
subsidiaries, jointly controlled  
entities and associates 215 215 0 127 127 0

Receivables from derivative  
financial instruments 500 499 1 1,418 558  860

Loans 212 0 212 25 0 25

Equity instruments 1,994 0 1,994 1,957 0 1,957

Miscellaneous other financial receivables 8,415 3,315 5,100 10,105 6,438 3,667

Total 11,336 4,029 7,307 13,632 7,123 6,509

Equity instruments in the amount of EUR 1,994 thousand 
(previous year: EUR 1,957 thousand) are measured at fair 
value. As the fair value could not be derived from stock 
exchange or market prices, or from discounting reliably deter-
mined future cash flows, the fair value is estimated on a cost 
basis.

The carrying amounts of other financial assets are approxi-
mately equal to their fair values. There are no restrictions on 
other financial assets.

(9.6)	� Other receivables and assets 

Other receivables and assets are composed as follows as at 
31 December 2019 and 2018:

�Other receivables and assets
31 Dec. 2019  

of which with a remaining term
31 Dec. 2018  

of which with a remaining term

EUR thousand
Total of less than  

one year
of more than 

one year
Total of less than  

one year
of more than 

one year

Tax receivables 22,370 16,646 5,724 26,112 19,375 6,737

Advance payments 7,581 7,568 13 7,145 7,132 13

Employer pension liability assets 1,477 0 1,477 1,813 0 1,813

Prepaid expenses 5,448 5,406 42 4,003 3,946 57

Non-consolidated subsidiaries 51 0 51 652 0 652

Receivables from employees 418 403 15 389 380 9

Total 37,345 30,023 7,322 40,114 30,833 9,281
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(9.7)	� Cash

The cash of EUR 166,056 thousand (previous year: EUR 135,412 
thousand) mainly comprises cash and sight deposits at banks. 
There are restrictions on title of EUR 645 thousand (previous 
year: EUR 663 thousand).

(9.8)	� Assets held for sale

Assets held for sale of EUR 307 thousand (previous year: 
EUR 1,811 thousand) relate to a building of Wilo Italia S.r.l. in 
Milan that is being sold to a third party. The disposal process 
for the asset was started in 2019, but had not been concluded 
as at the reporting date. 

(9.9)	� Equity

ISSUED CAPITAL  As in the previous year, the issued capital 
of WILO SE amounted to EUR 26,980 thousand as at the end 
of the reporting period and is fully paid in. It is divided into 
10,117,331 no-par-value ordinary registered shares and 
259,418 no-par-value preferred registered shares without 
voting rights. There were 9,808,760 ordinary shares (previous 
year: 9,808,760) and, as in the previous year, no preferred 
shares in circulation as at 31 December 2019. 

Treasury shares in the notional amount of EUR 1,477 thousand 
(previous year: EUR 1,477 thousand) are openly deducted 
from issued capital.

CAPITAL RESERVES  The capital reserves of EUR 26,161 thou-
sand (previous year: EUR 26,161 thousand) result from the 
capital increase implemented in the 2011 financial year of 
EUR 15,507 thousand, EUR 14,527 thousand of which was 
appropriated to the capital reserves of WILO SE. 

OTHER RESERVES  In addition to retained earnings, other 
reserves include differences from the translation of the foreign-
currency financial statements of the companies included in 
the consolidated financial statements, the actuarial gains and 
losses from pension obligations and the gains and losses from 
the revaluation of plan assets. 

The legal reserve in retained earnings in accordance with 
section 150 (2) of the Aktiengesetz (AktG – German Stock 
Corporation Act) amounts to 10.0 percent of the issued cap-
ital of WILO SE. 

Other reserves developed as follows in the financial years 
2019 and 2018:

Other reserves

EUR thousand 2019 2018

As at 1 January 716,458 685,018

WILO SE shareholders’ interest in:   

	 Consolidated net income 72,422 64,222

	 Other comprehensive income -1,902 -12,473

Dividend payment -14,811 -19,323

Other changes -1,708 -986

As at 31 December 770,459 716,458

TREASURY SHARES  As at 31 December 2019, the company 
held 567,989 treasury shares, or 5.5 percent of the share cap-
ital. As at 31 December 2019, the company reported 308,571 
ordinary shares (previous year: 308,571) and 259,418 prefer-
ence shares (previous year: 259,418) as treasury shares. 

DIVIDENDS  The Annual General Meeting on 2 April 2019 
resolved to distribute EUR 14,811 thousand from the unap-
propriated surplus as at 31 December 2018 (previous year: 
EUR 19,323 thousand). This corresponds to a dividend per 
ordinary share of EUR 1.51. 

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT  A business objective of the Wilo 
Group is to sustain the strongest possible equity base in order 
to foster confidence in all key stakeholders and promote the 
Group’s onward development. A sound equity base is also a 
key factor in ensuring a stable risk rating with lenders, which 
is important for obtaining acceptable borrowing terms for the 
Wilo Group. The Executive Board, the Supervisory Board and 
the shareholders of WILO SE ensure a responsible dividend 
policy and an appropriate return on invested capital to pro-
mote value growth and safeguard the company’s future. 
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The Executive Board of WILO SE is kept informed about the 
equity position of the Wilo Group as part of monthly report-
ing. The equity positions of consolidated subsidiaries are also 
reviewed at regular intervals and on an ad hoc basis. Measures 
are implemented as necessary, taking the tax and legal frame-
works into account, to sustain an appropriate capital base 
that enables each subsidiary to attain its operating targets 
and the Wilo Group to meet its strategic goals.

The total equity of the Wilo Group as at 31 December 2019 
was EUR 792,357 thousand (previous year: EUR 738,356 thou-
sand).This is mostly accounted for by EUR 844,464 thousand 
(previous year: EUR 788,561 thousand) in freely disposable 
retained earnings. The freely disposable retained earnings do 
not include the legal reserve of WILO SE of EUR 2,698 thou-
sand (previous year: EUR 2,698 thousand). Taken together, 
the freely disposable retained earnings and the legal reserve 
make up the Group’s retained earnings of EUR 847,162 thou-
sand (previous year: EUR 791,259 thousand).

In the context of the borrowing of senior notes and promis-
sory note loans, WILO SE is required to report a minimum 
equity ratio. The company satisfied this requirement in full in 
the 2019 and 2018 financial years. More detailed information 
on these senior notes and promissory note loans can be found 
in note (9.10).

(9.10)	� Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities break down as follows as at 31 December 
2019 and 2018:

�Financial liabilities

EUR thousand
31 Dec. 

2019
31 Dec. 

2018

Long-term borrowings   

with a remaining term   

	 of between one and five years 146,429 132,968

	 of more than five years 58,977 65,155

Total 205,406 198,123

Current financial liabilities   

with a remaining term   

	 of less than one year 113,503 70,357

WILO SE reported the following material financing agree-
ments as at 31 December 2019:

■■ USPP 2027  In May 2017, WILO SE issued a senior note of 
USD 30.0 million (EUR 27.5 million) maturing in 2027 with 
an interest rate of 3.22 percent p.a. as part of a US private 
placement (“USPP 2027”). It is not secured against real prop-
erty or financial assets of WILO SE. The placement was part 
of a multi-currency shelf facility totalling USD 150.0 million. 
The senior note had a carrying amount of EUR 26.7 million 
as at 31 December 2019.

■■ USPP 2023 & USPP 2021  In March 2013 and February 
2011, WILO SE issued senior notes of EUR 37.0 million and 
EUR 75.0 million as US private placements. Both placements 
were implemented as part of a private shelf facility (non-
binding debt commitment) in the amount of USD 150.0 mil-
lion, which was thus fully utilised. The senior notes were 
both borrowed in euro and are not secured against real 
property or financial assets of the company. The senior note 
of EUR 37.0 million (“USPP 2023”) matures in 2023 and bears 
interest at 3.1125 percent p.a. The senior note of EUR 75.0 
million (“USPP 2021”) matures in 2021 and has an interest 
coupon of 4.50 percent p.a. 

■■ PROMISSORY NOTE LOAN 2027  In June 2017, WILO SE 
took out a promissory note loan (“promissory note loan 
2027”) of EUR 50.0 million, maturing in 2027, at an inter-
est rate of 1.35 percent p.a. The promissory note loan  
is repayable semi-annually from December 2022 in the 
amount of EUR 5.0 million.  It is not secured against real 
property or financial assets of the company.

■■ PROMISSORY NOTE LOAN 2020  In January 2011, WILO SE 
took out a promissory note loan (“promissory note loan 
2020”) of EUR 25.0 million, maturing in 2020, at an interest 
rate of 4.08 percent p.a. It has been repaid semi-annually in 
the amount of around EUR 1.25 million since 2011. The 
promissory note loan had a carrying amount of EUR 2.5 mil-
lion (previous year: EUR 5.0 million) as at the end of the 
reporting period and is not secured against real property or 
financial assets of the company. 
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■■ KFW DEVELOPMENT LOAN 2027  To finance the construc-
tion project at the Dortmund location, a KfW development 
loan of EUR 19.5 million with a term of ten years and an 
interest rate of 1.15 percent was concluded in November 
2017 for the administrative building (“KfW development 
loan 2027”) and secured by a land charge. The loan amount 
has been drawn down in instalments since 2018 according 
to the progress of construction. The KfW development loan 
had a full carrying amount of EUR 19.5 million as at 31 De- 
cember 2019 (previous year: EUR 8.0 million). It will be 
repaid in instalments starting from 2020 after two redemp-
tion-free years. 

■■ SYNDICATED LOAN 2024  In July 2013, WILO SE entered 
into an agreement on a syndicated loan with a revolving 
credit facility with a volume of EUR 120 million and an orig-
inal term of five years. In July 2017, the syndicated loan was 
extended ahead of schedule until 2022 and increased to 
EUR 200 million in line with the anticipated financing 
requirements. The contractually agreed option to increase 
the credit facility to EUR 300.0 million and to extend the 
term by a maximum of two years was subsequently exer-
cised, meaning that the loan now has a term until 2024. 
The interest rate is calculated quarterly on the basis of 
leverage and the amount in which the credit facility has 
been utilised. The syndicated loan is not secured against 
real property or financial assets of the company. At the  
end of the reporting period, the credit facility had been 
utilised in the amount of EUR 105.0 million (previous year: 
EUR 65.0 million). 

The company is required to satisfy certain standard financial 
ratios (ratio of consolidated EBITDA to consolidated interest 
expenses (interest cover ratio), ratio of consolidated net debt 
to consolidated EBITDA (leverage) and the equity ratio) for 
the senior notes and promissory note loans it has issued and 
the syndicated loan. WILO SE fully complied with this obliga-
tion in the 2019 and 2018 financial years. The agreements 
also include a number of standard grounds for termination.

Incidental costs were incurred in connection with these 
financing arrangements that are deducted from the financial 
liabilities and reported in profit or loss over the term of the 
financing arrangements using the effective interest method.  

The incidental costs of acquisition outstanding as at the end 
of the reporting period amounted to EUR 595 thousand (pre-
vious year: EUR 824 thousand).

The fair value of the financial liabilities calculated using net 
present value models was EUR 330,417 thousand as at 31 De- 
cember 2019 (previous year: EUR 281,974 thousand).

Current financial liabilities mainly consist of a syndicated loan 
and the current portion of non-current financial liabilities to 
be repaid in the 2020 financial year.

(9.11)	� Trade payables

Trade payables break down as follows as at 31 December 
2019 and 2018:

Trade payables

EUR thousand
31 Dec. 

2019
31 Dec. 

2018

Trade payables   

with a remaining term   

	 of between one and five years 71 103

	 of less than one year 172,955 172,287

Total 173,026 172,390

Trade payables consist of outstanding obligations to suppli-
ers. The Executive Board assumes that the carrying amounts 
of non-current trade payables are approximately equal to 
their fair values.
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(9.12)	� Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities

EUR thousand
31 Dec. 

2019
31 Dec. 

2018

Non-current other financial liabilities 32,464 7,196

of which   

	 Lease liabilities   

		�  with a remaining term of  
between one and five years 24,296 2,893

		�  with a remaining term of  
more than five years 3,754 0

	� Liabilities from derivative  
financial instruments   

		�  with a remaining term of  
between one and five years 246 0

	 Miscellaneous financial liabilities   

		�  with a remaining term of  
between one and five years 4,168 4,303

Total 32,464 7,196

Current other financial liabilities 42,299 35,912

of which   

	 Bills payable 10,828 10,653

	� Liabilities to non-consolidated  
subsidiaries, jointly controlled  
entities or associates 2,650 6,150

	 Lease liabilities 13,482 2,117

	� Liabilities from derivative  
financial instruments 1,252 1,850

	 Miscellaneous financial liabilities 14,087 15,142

Total 42,299 35,912

Current other financial liabilities have a remaining term of less 
than one year. Miscellaneous financial liabilities include 
amounts for tax consulting, financial statement costs, com-
missions, del credere commissions and other financial obli-
gations to external companies. The Executive Board assumes 
that the carrying amounts of other financial liabilities are 
approximately equal to their fair values.

(9.13)	� Other liabilities

Other liabilities break down as follows as at 31 December 
2019 and 2018:

�Other liabilities

EUR thousand
31 Dec. 

2019
31 Dec. 

2018

Non-current other liabilities   

Contract liabilities (IFRS 15) 2,096 2,223

Deferred income 1,691 1,345

Total 3,787 3,568

Current other liabilities   

Tax liabilities 21,948 25,548

Staff liabilities 29,463 32,761

Advance payments received 17,523 15,897

Social security liabilities 4,222 4,464

Deferred income 202 95

Miscellaneous other liabilities 5,454 12,792

Total 78,812 91,557

Non-current other liabilities have a remaining term of between 
one and five years. Current other liabilities have a remaining 
term of less than one year.

Staff liabilities include accumulated holiday pay, management 
bonuses and gratuities, outstanding salaries, employer’s lia-
bility insurance contributions and severance pay.
	
(9.14)	� Provisions for pensions and  

similar obligations

Pension obligations and other post-employment benefits are 
composed as follows as at 31 December 2019 and 2018:

Provisions for pensions and similar obligations

EUR thousand
31 Dec. 

2019
31 Dec. 

2018

Provisions for pensions 87,172 76,425

Similar obligations 3,911 3,605

Total 91,083 80,030
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Provisions for pensions are composed as follows:

Provisions for pensions

EUR thousand
31 Dec. 

2019
31 Dec. 

2018

Present value of the pension obligation 99,367 87,771

Fair value of plan assets -12,195 -11,346

Provisions for pensions 87,172 76,425

Pension obligations are recognised for accrued entitlements 
and current benefits under defined benefit plans for eligible 
active and former employees of the Wilo Group and their sur-
viving dependants. 

The benefit amount depends on country-specific circum-
stances and is generally based on years of service and pay 
level. The beneficiaries predominantly receive benefits in the 
form of lifetime old age, disability and surviving dependants’ 
pensions. Benefits are granted to a smaller extent in the form 
of lump-sum payments on retirement. 

The corresponding provisions are recognised on the basis of 
annual actuarial assessments of existing pension obligations.

Defined benefit obligations are recognised in accordance with 
the actuarial assessment over the service life of employees 
and consist of staff cost and interest cost. The staff costs are 
allocated to the relevant functional areas. The interest 
expense is reported in other net finance costs after netting 
against the interest income from plan assets. Actuarial gains 
and losses and the effects of the revaluation of plan assets 
are recognised in full in other comprehensive income. 

WILO  SE’s defined benefit plan was discontinued on 
31 December 2005. A defined contribution plan has been set 
up in its place for WILO SE employees for whom a pension 
obligation has existed from 1 January 2006. An expense of 
EUR 2,853 thousand (previous year: EUR 2,951 thousand) was 
recognised in the reporting year for defined contribution 
plans in the Wilo Group. 

The present value of the pension obligation developed as 
follows: 

Present value of pension obligations

EUR thousand 2019 2018

As at 1 January 87,771 87,849

Current service cost 3,118 3,093

Past service cost 51 42

Interest expense 1,537 1,801

Remeasurement   

	� Actuarial gains/ losses from the  
change in demographic assumptions 393 -524

	� Actuarial gains/ losses from the  
change in financial assumptions 9,351 -93

	� Actuarial gains/ losses from  
experience adjustments 550 -300

Pension payments -3,361 -4,047

Currency effects and other changes -43 -50

As at 31 December 99,367 87,771

The pension obligation breaks down among the beneficiaries 
as follows:

■■ Active members: EUR 55,383 thousand 
(previous year: EUR 48,409 thousand)

■■ Deferred members: EUR 9,800 thousand 
(previous year: EUR 7,684 thousand)

■■ Pensioners: EUR 34,184 thousand  
(previous year: EUR 31,677 thousand)

The measurement of pension obligations is based on actuarial 
assumptions. Accordingly, the Wilo Group is exposed to cer-
tain actuarial risks. In particular, these include interest risks, 
risks of rising pensions, salary risks and longevity risks. 

Changes in the significant actuarial assumptions would have 
affected the present value of pension obligations as follows:
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Sensitivity analysis
Present value of the pension 

obligation Change in %

 
 

 
31 Dec. 

2019
31 Dec. 

2018

Discount rate +0.5% -7.5 -6.7

-0.5% 7.6 7.6

Pension factor +0.25% 2.6 2.4

-0.25% -2.5 -2.3

Salary factor +0.25% 0.6 0.6

-0.25% -0.6 -0.9

Life expectancy +10% 6.7 6.2

Sensitivities are calculated assuming a change in just one 
individual factor with the other actuarial assumptions remain-
ing constant. The assumed deviations are realistic assump-
tions based on past experience and future market forecasts. 

As at 31 December 2019, the weighted average duration of 
the defined benefit obligation was 16.2 years (previous year: 
15.8 years).

73.2 percent of the pension obligations of EUR 99,367 thou-
sand (previous year: EUR 87,771 thousand) relate to Germany 
(previous year: 72.2 percent).

The fair value of plan assets changed as follows:

Fair value of plan assets

EUR thousand 2019 2018

As at 1 January 11,346 12,173

Interest income 243 311

Remeasurement   

	� Gain/loss on plan assets 
(excluding interest income) 48 -703

Payments -524 -1,556

Amounts paid in by employer 1,221 1,081

Currency effects and other changes -139 40

As at 31 December 12,195 11,346

Plan assets comprise the following:

Composition of plan assets

EUR thousand 2019 2018

Cash 10,307 9,625

Qualifying insurance policies 1,482 1,333

Investment funds 406 388

As at 31 December 12,195 11,346

Furthermore, there are employee pension liability policies to 
cover provision-funded pension obligations in the amount of 
EUR 1,477 thousand (previous year: EUR 1,442 thousand) 
though these do not satisfy the requirements for classifica-
tion as plan assets under IAS 19.

The company is not currently assuming any further payments 
into plan assets in the coming years.

SIMILAR OBLIGATIONS  Similar obligations for post-employ
ment benefits amount to EUR 3,911 thousand for 2019 (pre-
vious year: EUR 3,605 thousand). They include gross obliga-
tions for WILO  SE of EUR 5,617 thousand (previous year: 
EUR 4,164 thousand). The EUR 3,882 thousand (previous 
year: EUR 2,830 thousand) fair value of plan assets as at the 
end of the reporting period is deducted insofar as it relates to 
obligations under the partial retirement scheme. There were 
no excess plan assets in the past financial year (previous year: 
EUR 371 thousand). In the previous year, the amount not 
attributable to obligations under the partial retirement 
scheme was reported under employer pension liability assets 
in non-current other assets. The present value of the obliga-
tions under the partial retirement scheme at 31 December 
2019 was determined using a discount rate of 1.20 percent 
(previous year: 2.00 percent). Furthermore, an annual wage 
and salary increase of 3.30 percent was assumed (previous 
year: 3.10 percent).
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(9.15)	� Other provisions

Non-current and current provisions for guarantees are rec-
ognised for potential warranty claims on the basis of past 
experience and planned measures.

The provision for bonuses and rebates relates to customer 
reimbursement for the 2019 financial year. The Wilo Group 
expects that the corresponding repayments of EUR 22,325 
thousand (previous year: EUR 17,541 thousand) will be almost 
fully paid to customers by the middle of 2020.

�Other provisions

EUR thousand
1 Jan. 2019 Currency 

translation
Utilisation Reversal Addition 31 Dec. 2019 

Non-current       

Guarantees 3,571 -2 249 34 457 3,743

Current       

Guarantees 15,323 57 1,437 2,005 2,923 14,861

Bonuses and rebates 17,541 124 16,313 790 21,763 22,325

Other 7,175 21 1,735 473 3,818 8,806

Total 40,039 202 19,485 3,268 28,504 45,992

(10.)	� Notes to the consolidated 
statement of cash flows

The consolidated statement of cash flows is broken down 
according to cash flows from operating, investing and financ-
ing activities. Cash flows from operating activities are calcu-
lated using the indirect method and reported after adjust-
ment for currencies. The effects of exchange rate changes 
and changes in the composition of the consolidated group  
on cash are shown separately. Cash as at 31 December 2019  
consisted of EUR 166,056 thousand (previous year: 
EUR 135,412 thousand) in cash and sight deposits with banks, 
EUR 645 thousand (previous year: EUR 663 thousand) of 
which was subject to restrictions on title. 

 

The changes in cash due to exchange rate changes of EUR 826 
thousand (previous year: EUR -753 thousand) relate to the 
effect of translating foreign-currency items of cash into the 
reporting currency. Purchases of intangible assets include pay-
ments in connection with capitalised development costs of 
EUR 17,741 thousand (previous year: EUR 16,844 thousand).

The cash flow from financing activities shows the following 
changes in financial liabilities:

Changes in financial liabilities

EUR thousand

1 Jan. 2019 
 

Proceeds from 
assuming  

financial liabilities

Repayment of 
financial liabilities 

31 Dec. 2019 
 

Financial liabilities (non-current) 198,123 9,786 2,503 205,406

Financial liabilities (current) 70,357 43,793 647 113,503

Financial liabilities 268,480   318,909

Cash flow from financing activities  53,579 3,150  
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Interest received, like interest paid, is allocated to net cash 
flow from financing activities because the interest received 
mainly includes payments in connection with the short-term 
reinvestment of funds borrowed but not yet required.

(11.)	Disclosures on financial 
instruments

(11.1)	 Derivative financial instruments

The following table shows the fair values of derivative finan-
cial instruments as at 31 December 2019 and the changes as 
against the previous year:

Derivative financial instruments

Fair value Nominal amount

Maturity from 31 Dec. 2019

EUR thousand
of less than one 

year
Between one and 

five years
Previous year Total change 31 Dec. 2019 31 Dec. 2018 

Forward exchange con-
tracts -956 -245 1,254 -2,455 89,671 61,037

Commodity derivatives 203 0 -1,686 1,889 10,598 16,825

Net finance costs include gains of EUR 2,440 thousand (pre-
vious year: EUR 797 thousand) and losses of EUR 993 thousand 
(previous year: EUR 4,277 thousand) (see note (8.7)).

CASH FLOW HEDGE ACCOUNTING FOR LONG-TERM LOAN 
On 28 April 2017, WILO SE extended a Group loan for USD 45 
million to WILO USA LLC. EUR 23.5 million was recognised as of 
the end of the reporting period (previous year: EUR 32.5 mil-
lion). The loan agreement provides for interest and principal 
payments and has a final maturity date of 28 April 2022. Even 
though the loan (hedged item) is eliminated in the consoli-
dation process, from the currency translation of the Group 
loan in the financial statements of WILO SE, there remains a 
currency risk and net foreign-currency result in net financial 
income in the consolidated financial statements. The risk 
relates to the variable value of the USD cash flow for repay-
ments at the respective repayment dates in the EUR required.

For this reason, WILO SE held five (previous year: seven) exter-
nal forward exchange contracts (hedging instruments) as at 
31 December 2019; these hedge the repayment tranches of 
this loan to 28 April 2022 and are designated as cash flow 
hedges. As at the reporting date, the fair value of these deriv-
atives was EUR -358 thousand (previous year: EUR 1,140 thou-
sand) and was recognised in other financial liabilities.
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In future periods, the following amounts are to be reclassified 
from other comprehensive income to net foreign-currency 
income.

2019
Carrying amount  Expected reclassification

EUR thousand   2020 2021  2022

Other comprehensive income 1,350  507 548 295

Nominal amount in USD million   9.0 9.5 5.0

Average exchange rate hedge USD/EUR   1.1541 1.1817 1.2020

Fair value -358  -127 -147 -84

2018 Carrying amount  Expected reclassification

EUR thousand  2019 2020 2021 2022

Other comprehensive income 769 249 208 204 108

Nominal amount in USD million  9.0 9.0 9.5 5.0

Average exchange rate hedge USD/EUR  1.1268 1.1541 1.1817 1.2020

Fair value 1,140 280 321 354 185

In the financial year, a result for the market performance  
of the derivatives of EUR -1,217 thousand (previous year: 
EUR -1,605 thousand was recognised in other comprehen-
sive income. In the same period, part of the deferred result of 
EUR 387 thousand (previous year: EUR 1,333 thousand) for 
existing derivatives and EUR 170 thousand (previous year: 
EUR 249 thousand) for settled derivatives was reclassified to 
the net foreign-currency income. This resulted in the same 
amount of net foreign-currency income of the Group loan 
being compensated. There was no ineffectiveness in the 
financial year. Hedge effectiveness results from matching  
the value-critical parameters of hedged item and hedging 
instrument and a “dollar-offset measurement” for account-
ing recognition on the reporting date.

CASH FLOW HEDGES – PURCHASES AND SALES OF GOODS 
In addition, Wilo has used hedge accounting in accordance 
with IAS 39 to hedge currency risks relating to the purchase 
and sale of inventories since the 2019 financial year. The 
hedging strategy gives rise to the quarterly rolling hedging of 
currency risks at the level of individual monthly tranches. The 
hedge ratio for a specific future date increases over time and 
is continuously reviewed against current forecasts. This allows 
ineffectiveness and over-hedging to be fundamentally 
avoided to the greatest possible extent. Any ineffectiveness 
or over-hedging is reported in operating net foreign-currency 
income. As at 31 December 2019, the Group held the follow-
ing instruments for hedging exchange rate risks:
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Forward exchange contracts for hedging operating currency risks 

 1-6 months 6-12 months More than one year

Nominal amount CHF: EUR in EUR million 10.5 5.4 2.2
Average forward exchange rate CHF:EUR 0.9098 0.9122 0.9223

Nominal amount GBP: EUR in EUR million 10.3 4.8 0.9
Average forward exchange rate GBP:EUR 1.1356 1.1361 1.1561

Nominal amount PLN: EUR in EUR million 7.9 2.4 0.0
Average forward exchange rate PLN:EUR 0.2321 0.2298 0

Nominal amount RUB: EUR in EUR million 15.6 3.2 0.0
Average forward exchange rate RUB:EUR 0.0138 0.0137 0

Rolling FX hedging of cash inflows/supplier payments

2019 exchange rate risk in EUR thousand
Forward exchange 
contracts for sales

Forward exchange 
contracts for purchases

Change in other comprehensive income1) 1,614 48

Reclassification from other comprehensive income to profit and loss -684 -48

Carrying amount of other comprehensive income 930 0

of which:   

	 Carrying amount of forward exchange contract asset2) 5 0

	  Carrying amount of forward exchange contract liability2) -935 0

Nominal amount at the reporting date 53,596 0

1) �The amount corresponds to the change in the value of the hedged items use to determine the ineffectiveness. With a reversed sign,  
the amount corresponds to the change in the value of the hedging instruments use to determine the ineffectiveness.

2) �The carrying amounts of the hedging instruments are reported in “Other financial assets” (9.5) or “Other financial liabilities” (9.12).  
The cash flow hedge reserve is reported in other comprehensive income (equity).
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(11.2)	� Disclosures on the carrying amounts and fair 
values of financial instruments

The following tables show the financial assets and liabilities 
with their carrying amounts as at 31 December 2019 per 
measurement category under IFRS 9 and statement of finan-
cial position category.

Financial assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2019
Carrying amount under IFRS 9

EUR thousand
Measurement  

category under IFRS 9
Amortised cost Fair value Derivatives used in 

hedge accounting

Current and non-current financial assets     

Trade receivables Amortised cost 290,511   

Other financial assets     

	� Receivables from subsidiaries, 
 jointly controlled entities and associates Amortised cost 215   

	 �Receivables from derivative financial instruments  
not used in hedge accounting FVTPL  495  

	 �Receivables from derivative financial instruments  
used in hedge accounting n/a   5

	 Loans Amortised cost 212   

	 Equity instruments FVOCI in equity  1,994  

	 Miscellaneous financial receivables Amortised cost 8,415   

Cash Amortised cost 166,056   

Current and non-current financial liabilities     

Financial liabilities Amortised cost 318,909   

Trade payables Amortised cost 173,026   

Other financial liabilities     

	 Bills payable Amortised cost 10,828   

	� Liabilities to subsidiaries,  
jointly controlled entities and associates Amortised cost 2,650   

	 �Liabilities from derivative financial instruments  
not used in hedge accounting FVTPL  204  

	 �Liabilities from derivative financial instruments  
used in hedge accounting n/a   1,294 

	 Miscellaneous financial liabilities Amortised cost 18,255   

of which aggregated by measurement category under IFRS 9     

Amortised cost  989,077   

FVOCI in equity   1,994  

FVTPL   699  

Derivatives used in hedge accounting     1,299
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Financial assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2018
Carrying amount under IFRS 9

EUR thousand
Measurement 

category under IFRS 9
Amortised cost Fair value Derivatives used in 

hedge accounting

Current and non-current financial assets     

Trade receivables Amortised cost 286,231   

Other financial assets     

	� Receivables from subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and 
associates Amortised cost 127   

	 �Receivables from derivative financial instruments not used in 
hedge accounting FVTPL  278  

	 �Receivables from derivative financial instruments used in 
hedge accounting n/a   1,140 

	� Loans Amortised cost 25   

	� Equity instruments FVOCI in equity  1,957  

	 �Miscellaneous financial receivables Amortised cost 10,105   

Cash Amortised cost 135,412   

Current and non-current financial liabilities     

Financial liabilities Amortised cost 269,480   

Trade payables Amortised cost 172,390   

Other financial liabilities     

	� Bills payable Amortised cost 10,653   

	� Liabilities to subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and asso-
ciates Amortised cost 6,150   

	 �Liabilities from derivative financial instruments not used in 
hedge accounting FVTPL  1,850  

	 �Miscellaneous financial liabilities Amortised cost 19,445   

of which aggregated by measurement category under IFRS 9     

Amortised cost  910,018   

FVOCI in equity   1,957  

FVTPL   2,128  

Derivatives used in hedge accounting    1,140 

The carrying amounts of the financial assets and liabilities in 
the scope of IFRS 7 are the same as their fair value per class.  
This is not the case only for financial liabilities, which have a 
carrying amount of EUR 318,909 thousand (previous year:  

EUR 268,480 thousand) and a fair value of EUR 330,417 thou-
sand (previous year: EUR 281,974 thousand). The fair values 
of financial liabilities were calculated using net present value 
methods. 
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Since 2018, the Group has had two minority interests which 
are measured at fair value in other comprehensive income  
and whose fair value of EUR 1,994 thousand (previous year: 
EUR 1,957 thousand) corresponds to hierarchy Level 3. 

WILO  SE holds an 8 percent stake in EUROCARBO S.P.A., 
Corropoli/Italy, in the context of a strategic investment. The 
value of the stake is measured in line with strategic consid-
erations largely based on the value of the equity stake and 
the hidden reserves in property, plant and equipment. The 
indicative valuation is based on the continuation of the 
investment decision. On the basis of all available information, 
in our view cost and fair value have the same measurement 
as at 31 December 2019.

WILO SE also holds a 2.6 percent stake in HydroPoint Data 
Systems, Inc., Petaluma/USA. The company is a specialist on 
the US smart water management market. This highly innova-
tive and new business area involves considerable planning 
uncertainties. As a result of this uncertainty, fair value is 
determined based on cost.

However, neither impacts earnings or other comprehensive 
income. Sensitivity can be determined only on the basis of 
the overall value. An increase (reduction) of the respective 
value by 10 percent results in an increase (decrease) of other 
comprehensive income by EUR 199 thousand (previous year: 
EUR 196 thousand). 

The calculation of the fair values of the receivables and 
liabilities from derivative financial instruments, which are 
assigned to the FVTPL category, of EUR 495 thousand 
(previous year: EUR 278 thousand) and EUR 204 thousand 
(previous year: EUR 1,850 thousand) respectively, is shown 
under note (7).

(11.3)	� Net gains and losses by  
measurement category

The table below shows the net earnings reported under profit 
and loss for the 2019 financial year in line with IFRS 7, consist-
ing of interest, dividends, changes in fair value, impairment, 
impairment reversals and the effects of currency translation 
on each measurement category of financial assets and liabil-
ities. This does not include the earnings effects of leases, as 
leases do not belong to any IFRS 9 measurement category.

Net gains and losses by measurement category
2019 financial year

Measurement category

Carrying 
amount 31 Dec. 

Interest and 
dividends 

Change in  
fair value 

Impairments 
 

Impairment 
reversals 

Effects of  
currency 

translation

Net gains/ 
losses 

Financial assets	        

Amortised cost 465,409 5,347 0 -6,696 2,782 637 2,070

FVOCI in equity 1,994 0 0 0 0 0 0

FVTPL 495 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total financial assets  5,347 0 -6,696 2,782 637 2,070

Financial liabilities        

Amortised cost 523,668 -9,034 0 0 0 -1,795 -10,829

FVTPL 204 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total financial liabilities  -9,034 0 0 0 -1,795 -10,829
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Net gains and losses by measurement category
2018 financial year

Measurement category

Carrying 
amount 
31 Dec.

Interest and 
dividends 

Change in  
fair value 

Impairments 
 

Impairment 
reversals 

Effects of 
currency 

translation

Net gains/ 
losses 

Financial assets        

Amortised cost 431,900 5,283 0 -5,918 1,377 2,660 3,402

FVOCI in equity 1,957 0 0 0 0 0 0

FVTPL 278 0 797 0 0 0 797

Total financial assets  5,283 797 -5,918 1,377 2,660 4,199

Financial liabilities        

Amortised cost 478,118 -7,923 0 0 0 -5,773 -13,696

FVTPL 1,850 0 -4,277 0 0 0 -4,277

Total financial liabilities  -7,923 -4,277 0 0 -5,773 -17,973

(11.4)	� Fair value hierarchy of  
financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets and liabilities accounted for at fair value are 
divided into the following three levels in accordance with 
IFRS 13 on the basis of the measurement of their fair value:

Level 1: The fair value for an asset or liability is calculated 
using quoted market prices on active markets for identical 
assets and liabilities.

Level 2: The fair value for an asset or liability is based on value 
factors for this asset or liability that are observed directly or 
indirectly on a market. 

Level 3: The fair value for an asset or liability is based on value 
factors for this asset or liability that do not refer to observa-
ble market data.

The following table shows the allocation of financial assets 
and liabilities that existed within the Wilo Group as at 
31 December 2019 and 2018 that were recognised at fair 
value or for which the fair value was disclosed.

Fair value hierarchy

 

31 Dec. 
2019 

Level 2 

31 Dec. 
2018 

Level 2 

Receivables from derivative financial 
instruments used in hedge accounting 5 1,140

Receivables from derivative financial instru-
ments not used in hedge accounting (FVTPL) 495 278

Liabilities from derivative financial 
instruments used in hedge accounting 1,294 0

Liabilities from derivative financial instru-
ments not used in hedge accounting (FVTPL) 204 1,850

Financial liabilities 
(amortised cost) 330,417 281,974

 Level 3 Level 3

Equity instruments (FVOCI in equity) 1,994 1,957

The Wilo Group did not report any financial assets or liabili-
ties classified as Level 1 based on the method by which their 
fair value was determined as at 31 December 2019 and 2018. 
More detailed information on equity instruments (FVOCI in 
equity) can be found in note (11.2).

If reclassifications to another level in the valuation hierarchy 
are required these are made as at the end of the financial year 
in which the event occurs that results in reclassification being 
required.
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(12.)	Risk management and derivative 
financial instruments

RISK MANAGEMENT PRINCIPLES  Due to the international 
nature of its business activities, the assets, liabilities and 
planned transactions of the Wilo Group are subject to market 
risks from changes in exchange rates, interest rates and com-
modity prices in particular. The objective of financial risk 
management is to mitigate this risk from operating and finan-
cial activities. This is achieved using derivative and primary 
hedging instruments selected according to estimated risk. 
Derivative financial instruments are solely used to hedge risk.
They are not used for trading or other speculative purposes. 
The general credit risk on these derivative financial instru-
ments is low because they are only entered into with banks 
of excellent credit standing. The Group is also subject to credit 
and default risk and liquidity risk.

The basic principles of financial policy and strategy are deter-
mined by the Executive Board and monitored by the Super
visory Board. Responsibility for implementing financial policy 
and strategy lies with Group Finance. Further information on 
risks and risk management can be found in the opportunities 
and risk report section of the Group management report.

CURRENCY RISK  The Wilo Group faces currency risk pri-
marily in its financing and operating activities. Currency risk 
in financing activities relates to foreign-currency borrowing 
from external lenders and foreign-currency lending to finance 
Group companies. Currency risk in operating activities mainly 
relates to the supply of goods and provision of services to 
Group companies. Currency risk exposure on such transac-
tions is countered by the use of same-currency offsetting 
transactions and derivative financial instruments. The currency 
risk on operating business between Group companies and 
external customers and suppliers is estimated to be low as 
most of such business is transacted in the functional currency 
of the Group companies. 

The following table shows the foreign-currency risk position 
of the Wilo Group as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 in the 
respective foreign currency. This consists of foreign-currency 
transactions in operating activities and foreign-currency 
financing activities up to 31 December 2019 and 2018, as well 
as expected foreign-currency transactions in operating activ-
ities in 2020 and 2019. This analysis does not take into 
account the effects of the translation of the financial state-
ments of subsidiaries into reporting currency (translation 
risk). The gross risk is before hedges.
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Foreign-currency risk position as at 31 December 2019

in EUR million EUR USD CNY GBP PLN RON RUB

Cash 6.3 3.0 13.0 1.8 0.0 0.0 175.6

Trade and other receivables 16.3 4.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Receivables from affiliated companies 2.4 11.6 61.1 1.5 8.7 4.1 44.9

Trade and other payables -2.6 -8.0 -3.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 -0.1

Liabilities due to affiliated companies -25.0 -2.0 -30.9 0.0 -0.1 0.0 -16.4

Financial liabilities -2.3 -0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Currency risk from assets and liabilities (gross) -4.9 9.0 39.4 3.3 8.6 4.1 204.0

Expected sales in 2020 79.8 31.2 175.0 15.1 129.5 35.0 3,850.0

Expected acquisitions in 2020 -102.2 -55.6 -261.5 -0.5 0.0 0.0 -101.1

Currency risk from expected transactions  
in operating activities in 2020 (gross) -22.4 -24.4 -86.5 14.6 129.5 35.0 3,748.9

Hedging 0.0 0.9 -12.3 -9.1 -34.1 -11.0 -1,131.0

Currency risk (net) -27.3 -14.5 -59.4 8.8 104.0 28.1 2,821.9

Foreign-currency risk position as at 31 December 2018

in EUR million EUR USD CNY GBP PLN RON RUB

Cash 6.8 4.0 8.8 1.7 0.1 0.0 0.0

Trade and other receivables 12.7 9.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Receivables from affiliated companies 3.5 13.4 40.5 0.3 10.3 13.8 118.7

Trade and other payables -2.9 -11.3 -2.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 -0.1

Liabilities due to affiliated companies -20.7 -10.4 -23.5 -0.4 0.0 0.0 -22.6

Financial liabilities -3.9 -0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Currency risk from assets and liabilities (gross) -4.5 4.8 22.9 1.6 10.4 13.8 96.0

Expected sales in 2019 78.7 44.9 257.1 15.8 117.2 42.1 4,000.0

Expected acquisitions in 2019 -107.2 -73.5 -214.4 -0.4 0.0 0.0 -108.7

Currency risk from expected transactions  
in operating activities in 2019 (gross) -28.5 -28.6 42.7 15.4 117.2 42.1 3,891.3

Hedging 0.0 1.5 0.0 -8.0 -7.0 -3.0 -250.0

Currency risk (net) -33.0 -22.3 65.6 9.0 120.6 52.9 3,737.3
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The foreign-currency receivables and liabilities, expected 
foreign-currency transactions and derivative financial instru-
ments in the form of cross-currency interest rate swaps and 
forward exchange contracts have certain sensitivities to cur-
rency fluctuations. A 10.0 percent appreciation or deprecia-
tion in the respective currency compared with the other cur-
rencies as at 31 December would have the following hypo-
thetical impact on earnings:

Sensitivity analysis
2019 2018

EUR million +10% -10% +10% -10%

EUR -3.0 2.5 -3.7 3.0

USD -1.4 1.1 -2.2 1.8

CNY -0.9 0.7 0.7 -0.6

GBP 1.2 -0.9 1.1 -0.9

PLN 2.7 -2.2 3.1 -2.6

RON 0.7 -0.5 1.3 -1.0

RUB 4.5 -3.7 5.2 -4.3

In addition to a long-term Group loan in USD, Wilo began 
hedging exchange rate risks in connection with sales of prod-
ucts and purchases of inventories in the 2019 financial year. 
These derivative financial instruments used in hedge account-
ing have sensitivities to currency fluctuations. A 10.0 percent 
appreciation or depreciation in the respective currency com-
pared with the other currencies as at 31 December would have 
the following hypothetical impact on earnings:

Sensitivity analysis
2019

EUR million +10% -10%

USD 2.8 -3.9

CHF 0.8 -1.4

GBP 0.7 -1.5

PLN 0.7 -0.9

RUB 1.2 -2.0

The sensitivity analysis assumes that all other factors influ-
encing value remain constant and that the figures at the 
reporting date are representative for the year as a whole. 

INTEREST RATE RISK  The Wilo Group faces interest rate risk 
mainly on floating rate financial liabilities and on invested 
cash. Both a rise and a fall in the yield curve result in interest 
rate exposure. The Wilo Group mitigates adverse changes in 
value from unexpected interest rate movements by using 
derivative financial instruments. Interest rate risk as defined 
in IFRS 7 is considered to be low as the financial liabilities have 
long-term fixed interest rates. The remaining interest rate risk 
from variable-interest financial instruments, and in particu-
lar from the utilisation of bank overdrafts, is negligible.

If interest rates declined with the consequence of negative 
interest rates on deposits, Wilo would align its investment 
strategy accordingly in order to minimise the negative impact 
on net interest costs.

COMMODITY PRICE RISK  The Wilo Group is subject to com-
modity price risk primarily from price fluctuations on the 
global markets for copper and aluminium and their alloys. The 
Wilo Group uses commodity derivatives in a targeted manner 
to control this risk. The prices for most of the copper procure-
ment volume for the 2019 financial year have already been 
fixed. Currently, the Wilo Group’s result of operations would 
be influenced by price fluctuations on the global markets for 
copper and aluminium and their alloys from the 2020 finan-
cial year onwards.

In accordance with IFRS, commodity price risks are shown 
using sensitivity analyses. These show the impact of a change 
in commodity prices. A 10.0 percent increase (decrease) in the 
price of copper and aluminium as at 31 December would have 
the following impact on earnings: 
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Sensitivity analysis
Copper Aluminium Total

EUR thousand 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

Price increase (10%)       

	 Impact on earnings -633 -323 -418 -405 -1,051 -728

Price decrease (10%)       

	 Impact on earnings 633 323 418 405 1,051 728

The calculation takes into account all copper and aluminium 
derivatives at the reporting date and the planned procure-
ment volume for the next year in each case. 

CREDIT RISK  Customer credit risk is countered with a uni-
form and effective Group-wide system for systematic receiv-
ables management and the monitoring of payment behav-
iour. Dependency on individual customers is limited because 
Wilo does not generate more than 10.0 percent of its total 
revenues with any one customer. 

The maximum credit risk is equal to the carrying amount of 
financial instruments. 

Trade receivables are secured with retentions of title. The fair 
value of these retentions of title is equal to the carrying 
amount of trade receivables. The carrying amount of trade 
receivables before write-downs is EUR 315,212 thousand 
(previous year: EUR 307,931 thousand). As at 31 December 
2019, EUR 17,369 thousand (previous year: EUR 16,379 thou-
sand) in specific write-downs was recognised on past due 
trade receivables of EUR 36,112 thousand (previous year: 
EUR 35,795 thousand). 

Wilo applies a central approach to the expected credit loss 
concept in accordance with IFRS 9. Four different risk groups 
were formed on the basis of regions. The probability of a 
future credit loss is determined on the basis of actual credit 
losses of the last three years for each region. For each region, 
time buckets are used to examine in which maturity period 
the receivable was when the credit loss occurred. In addition, 
indicators (e.g. gross domestic product, industry outlook) are 
used to assess the probability of a future credit loss. This data 
is used to determine a credit loss probability per region as a  

percentage. As at the reporting date, the Wilo Group recog-
nised impairments of EUR 7,332 thousand using the expected 
credit loss model (previous year: EUR 5,321 thousand). Fur-
ther information can be found in note (9.4) Trade receivables.

In addition, there is a maximum credit risk of EUR 1,994 thou-
sand (previous year: EUR 1,957 thousand) for financial assets 
in the “fair value through OCI (FVOCI in equity)” measurement 
category and of EUR 699 thousand (previous year: EUR 2,128 
thousand) for financial assets in the “fair value through profit 
or loss (FVTPL)” measurement category resulting exclusively 
from derivative financial instruments. With regard to other 
financial assets that are neither impaired nor past due, there 
are no indications as at the end of the reporting period that 
debtors will fail to make payment. As in the previous year, no 
impairment was recognised on other financial assets as at 
31 December 2019.

Master agreements for financial futures have been concluded 
with various globally operating banks. Among other things, 
these agreements state that amounts in the same currency 
payable between parties on the same date are offset and 
therefore only the remaining net amount is paid by one party 
to the other. They also stipulate that, under certain circum-
stances, such as a party’s default, all transactions still out-
standing are cancelled. In the event of this happening, all 
transactions still outstanding will be offset.

These agreements do not satisfy the criteria for the netting 
of the corresponding assets and liabilities in the statement of 
financial position as they did not give rise to a legal right to 
offset the respective assets and liabilities at the current time. 
This right will only exist on the occurrence of future events, 
such as the default of one of the two parties.
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The following financial assets and liabilities were reported in 
the statement of financial position without netting as the cri-
teria of IAS 32.42 required to offset them were not met. How-
ever, they are subject to the agreements described above that 
allow offsetting given certain future events.

Offsetting financial assets and liabilities

EUR thousand
Carrying amount Assets and liabilities 

before offsetting1)
Net values 

31 December 2019    

Receivables from derivative financial instruments 500 -346 154

Liabilities from derivative financial instruments -1,498 346 -1,152

31 December 2018    

Receivables from derivative financial instruments 1,418 -150 1,268

Liabilities from derivative financial instruments -1,850 150 -1,700
1)  Assets and liabilities with a right of set-off but that do not meet the criteria for offsetting in the statement of financial position.

LIQUIDITY RISK  The Wilo Group strives to cover its finan-
cial requirements for the operating business of its Group 
companies at all times and at low cost. Various instruments 
available on the financial market are used for these purposes. 
These instruments include committed and non-committed 
cash credit, guarantee and margin facilities from various 
reputable national and international banks with a volume  
of more than EUR 390 million. The cash credit facilities were 
utilised in the amount of EUR 108.3 million (previous year: 
EUR 67.3 million) and the guarantee and margin facilities were 
utilised in the amount of EUR 24.9 million (previous year: 
EUR 21.3 million). In addition, WILO SE has secured its long-
term financial requirements by issuing promissory note loans, 
which were also placed with financially sound, reputable 
financial partners (see note (9.10)). 

As a result of existing short- and medium-term credit facili-
ties with various prominent banks, the long-term coverage 
of financial requirements with the promissory note loans and 
other refinancing options, the Wilo Group is not currently 
exposed to material credit, concentration or liquidity risk. 
There are also cash pooling and financing arrangements with 
Group companies where appropriate and permitted under 
local commercial and tax law.
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The following overview shows the remaining contractual 
maturities and corresponding cash outflows, including 
estimated interest payments, for financial liabilities as at 
31 December 2019 and 2018:

Cash outflows for financial liabilities as at 31 Dec. 2019

Maturities

31 Dec. 2019
Carrying amount Agreed payments of less than  

one year
Between  

1 and 5 years
More than  

5 years

Financial liabilities      

	 Non-current 205,406 -223,896 -6,398 -155,761 -61,737

	 Current 113,503 -113,503 -113,503 0 0

Trade payables 173,026 -173,026 -172,955 -71 0

Lease liabilities 41,532 -41,532 -13,482 -24,296 -3,754

Other financial liabilities 31,733 -31,733 -27,565 -4,168 0

Derivative financial instruments 1,498 -1,498 -1,252 -246 0

Total 566,698 -585,188 -335,155 -188,296 -61,737

Cash outflows for financial liabilities as at 31 Dec. 2018

Maturities

31 Dec. 2018
Carrying amount Agreed payments of less than  

one year
Between  

1 and 5 years
More than  

5 years

Financial liabilities      

	 Non-current 198,123 -221,964 -6,295 -150,663 -65,006

	 Current 70,357 -70,357 -70,357 0 0

Trade payables 172,390 -172,390 -172,287 -103 0

Lease liabilities 5,010 -5,010 -2,117 -2,893 0

Other financial liabilities 36,248 -36,248 -31,945 -4,303 0

Derivative financial instruments 1,850 -1,850 -1,850 0 0

Total 483,978 -507,819 -284,851 -157,962 -65,006
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(13.)	Other disclosures

(13.1)	 Waiver of disclosure 

The following Group companies waived disclosure in accord-
ance with section 264 (3) HGB: WILO-Mitarbeiter-Beteili-
gungsgesellschaft mbH, Dortmund, WILO Nord Amerika 
GmbH, Dortmund, WILO IndustrieSysteme GmbH, Chemnitz, 
and WILO Mitarbeiter Invest GmbH, Dortmund.

(13.2)	� Contingent liabilities and  
other financial obligations

The company reported contingent liabilities from warranties 
of EUR 3,193 thousand as at 31 December 2019 (previous 
year: EUR 2,993 thousand). No provisions have been recog-
nised for contingent liabilities carried at nominal amount as 
the probability of the risk is estimated as low.

The contingent liabilities from warranties essentially result 
from operating activities with the customers and suppliers  
of the Wilo Group. Warranties with a nominal obligation of 
EUR 363 thousand (previous year: EUR 38 thousand) had an 
agreed remaining term of less than one year as at 31 Decem-
ber 2019, while nominal obligations of EUR 228 thousand 
(previous year: EUR 360 thousand) with an agreed remaining 
term of more than one year have been contractually stipulated. 
There are also indefinite guarantees with a nominal obligation 
of EUR 2,602 thousand (previous year: EUR 2,595 thousand). 

Purchase commitments for planned capital expenditure on 
property, plant and equipment amounted to EUR 53,913 thou-
sand as at 31 December 2019 (previous year: EUR 81,877 thou-
sand). It is not practicable to disclose estimates of the financial 
effect of contingent liabilities, the uncertainties relating to 
the amount or timing of any outflows or the possibility of any 
reimbursement.

(13.3)	� Average number of employees over the year

Average employee numbers for the year were as follows: 

Employees

 2019 2018

Production 4,346 4,435

Sales and administration 3,403 3,395

Total 7,749 7,830

Germany 2,642 2,689

Abroad 5,107 5,141

Total 7,749 7,830

The average number of employees fell by 1.0 percent year-
on-year (previous year: +1.3 percent).

(13.4)	 Expenses using the nature of expense method

Staff costs according to section 315e in conjunction with 
section 314 (1) no. 4 HGB of the financial year break down as 
follows:	
	

Staff costs

EUR thousand 2019 2018

Wages and salaries 324,541 328,134

Social security contributions and  
expenses for retirement benefits 75,255 72,954

	 �of which for retirement benefit  
expenses EUR 9,875 thousand  
(previous year: EUR 7,855 thousand)   

Total 399,796 401,088

Depreciation and amortisation for 2019, taking into account 
the initial application of IFRS 6, is calculated as follows:

Depreciation and amortisation

EUR thousand 2019 2018

Depreciation and amortisation 76,906 61,557

WILO Annual Report 2019  |  Consolidated financial statements  |  Notes to the consolidated financial statements

130



(13.5)	 Proposal for the appropriation of profits

At the proposal of the Executive Board, the Annual General 
Meeting of WILO SE on 26 March 2020 shall resolve the pay-
ment of a dividend of EUR 1.62 per ordinary share, with the 
remaining unappropriated surplus of WILO SE being carried 
forward to new account.

(13.6)	 Events after the balance sheet date

The Executive Board of WILO SE approved the consolidated 
financial statements for submission to the Supervisory Board 
on 24 February 2020. It is the responsibility of the Supervisory 
Board to examine the consolidated financial statements and 
to state whether it adopts them.

(13.7)	� Related party disclosures

The Wilo Group has business transactions for the provision of 
goods and services to non-consolidated subsidiaries, jointly 
controlled entities and associates. The outstanding trade 
receivables from these companies amounted to EUR 215 thou-
sand (previous year: EUR 127 thousand). Liabilities to these 
companies amounted to EUR 2,650 thousand at the report-
ing date (previous year: EUR 6,150 thousand), of which 
EUR 2,650 thousand related to joint ventures (previous year: 
EUR 2,650 thousand). Sales and services passed on to these 
companies amounted to EUR 874 thousand (previous year: 
EUR 725 thousand).

The balances outstanding at the end of the financial year are 
unsecured, do not bear interest and will be settled via pay-
ment.

Members of the Supervisory Board control or influence com-
panies that provide consultancy services for WILO SE. WILO SE 
generated net sales totalling EUR 1,562 thousand (previous 
year: EUR 1,500 thousand) from these companies in the 2019 
financial year. 

One of the shareholders owns a heating and air conditioning 
installation company that purchases standard quantities of 
pumps from the reporting entity. The same company installs 
and maintains the heating and air conditioning systems of the 
reporting entity. Revenues of EUR 59 thousand (previous year: 
EUR 35 thousand) were generated with the heating and air 
conditioning installation company in the 2019 financial year. 
There were receivables from this company of EUR 2 thousand 
as at 31 December 2019 (previous year: EUR 9 thousand).  
At the same time, the Wilo Group procured goods and services 
in the amount of EUR 436 thousand (previous year: EUR 497 
thousand) from this company. There were liabilities to this 
company of EUR 34 thousand as at 31 December 2019 (pre-
vious year: EUR 4 thousand). 

There are also leases relating to land and buildings that are 
directly or indirectly owned by shareholders. Total lease pay-
ments of EUR 360 thousand were made to these sharehold-
ers in 2019 (previous year: EUR 353 thousand).

The Wilo-Foundation holds the majority of ordinary shares in 
WILO SE. There is a service agreement between WILO SE and 
the Foundation for administrative work. WILO SE generated 
income of EUR 39 thousand from this service agreement in 
2019 (previous year: EUR 39 thousand). As in the previous 
year, there were no receivables from the Foundation as at 
31 December 2019.
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(13.8)	 Auditor’s fees

The following fees were recognised as an expense in the 2019 
financial year for services provided by the auditor of the con-
solidated financial statements, KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprü-
fungsgesellschaft:

Auditor’s fees

EUR thousand 2019 2018

Audits of financial statements   

	� of which for the previous year:  
EUR 0 thousand 
(2018: EUR 15 thousand) 422 443

Other assurance services   

	� of which for the previous year:  
EUR 12 thousand 
(2018: EUR 2 thousand) 166 92

Other services 250 93

Total 838 628

(13.9)	 Remuneration of the Executive Board  
and the Supervisory Board

The table below shows the remuneration of the Executive 
Board:

Remuneration of the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board

EUR thousand 2019 2018

Total remuneration of the Executive Board 3,339 3,885

	 Short-term benefits 2,906 2,859

	 �Post-employment benefits 433 392

	 Benefits under IAS 24.17 (d) 0 634

As at the end of the reporting period, EUR 0.7 million (previ-
ous year: EUR 0.5 million) was recognised as a liability that will 
not be paid out until the following financial year after approval 
of the consolidated financial statements.

The Supervisory Board has established a virtual management 
participation model for the members of the Executive Board 
of WILO SE under which the participating members contrac-
tually receive virtual shares entitling them to participate in 
the company’s positive performance. This does not make 
them shareholders of the company with corresponding share-
holders’ rights (e.g. rights of information, voting rights at  
the Annual General Meeting, right to receive dividends). As at 
31  December 2019, a total of 311,304 (previous year: 
259,420) virtual shares have been granted to the Executive 
Board. As a matter of principle, the term of the individual vir-
tual participation is unlimited. A participant’s virtual partici-
pation ends automatically when he or she steps down from 
the respective management position on the Executive Board. 
The ordinary termination of the virtual participation ahead  
of schedule is excluded. The potential benefit earned by the 
participants of the management participation programme is 
calculated as the difference between the cost and the retrans-
fer value of the virtual shares. Payment is made within a 
defined period after participation ends. The fair value (retrans-
fer value) of the provisions recognised in connection with the 
virtual shares is calculated on the basis of historical averages. 
As in the previous year, no provision was reported as at 
31 December 2019.

The total remuneration paid to former members of the 
Executive Board amounted to EUR 1.0 million in the 2019 
financial year (previous year: EUR 1.0 million). As at the end 
of the reporting period, a pension provision of EUR 8.8 million 
(previous year: EUR 8.2 million) was recognised for former 
members of executive bodies, some of whom are also related 
parties. 

The remuneration of the Supervisory Board amounted to 
EUR 0.6 million in the 2019 financial year (previous year: 
EUR 0.5 million).
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(13.10)  Executive bodies of the company

SUPERVISORY BOARD

Prof. Dr. Norbert Wieselhuber 
– Chairman –  
Managing Director of Dr. Wieselhuber & Partner GmbH  
Management Consultancy 
Planegg

Prof. Dr. Hans-Jörg Bullinger (until 2 April 2019) 
– Deputy Chairman –  
Former President of the Fraunhofer-Gesellschaft 
Stuttgart

Lars Roßner 
– Deputy Chairman –  
Partner at Buse Heberer Fromm,  
Rechtsanwälte Steuerberater PartG mbB 
Dusseldorf

Jean-Francois Germerie 
European Works Council 
Laval, France

Prof. Dr. Dr. h.c. Michael ten Hompel (since 2 April 2019) 
Managing Director  
of the Fraunhofer-Gesellschaft 
Dortmund 

Dr. Hinrich Mählmann 
Personally liable partner  
and Managing Director of Otto Fuchs KG 
Wiehl

Daniela Mohr 
European Works Council 
Dortmund

Dr.-Ing. E.h. Jochen Opländer  
is the Honorary Chairman of the Supervisory Board. 

EXECUTIVE BOARD

Oliver Hermes 
– Chairman –  
Essen

Dr. Patrick Niehr (since 1 January 2020) 
Cologne

Georg Weber 
Dusseldorf

Mathias Weyers 
Essen

Dortmund, 24 February 2020

The Executive Board

Oliver Hermes Georg WeberDr. Patrick Niehr Mathias Weyers
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Shareholdings

Shareholdings of WILO SE as at 31 December 2019 
(Disclosure pursuant to section 315e HGB)

 Ownership interest in %

American-Marsh Pumps LLC, Collierville / USA 100.0

Circulating Pumps Ltd., King‘s Lynn, Norfolk / United Kingdom 100.0

EMU I.D.F. S.A.R.L., Ste. Geneviève-des-Bois / France** 50.0

Eurocarbo S.p.A., Corropoli / Italy* 8.0

HydroPoint Data Systems, Inc., Petaluma / USA* 2.6

Hydroserve GmbH, Leopoldsdorf / Austria* 100.0

PT. WILO Pumps Indonesia, Jakarta / Indonesia 100.0

S.E.S.E.M. S.A.S., Saint-Denis / France 100.0

STEMMA S.R.L., Trissino / Italy 100.0

WILO (Singapore) Pte. Ltd, Singapore / Singapore 100.0

WILO (UK) Ltd., Burton-on-Trent / United Kingdom 100.0

WILO Adriatic d.o.o., Ljubljana / Slovenia 100.0

WILO Australia PTY Ltd, Brisbane City QLD / Australia 100.0

WILO Baltic SIA, Riga / Latvia 100.0

WILO Bel o.o.o., Minsk / Belarus 100.0

WILO Beograd d.o.o., Belgrade / Serbia 100.0

WILO Bulgaria EOOD, Sofia / Bulgaria 100.0

WILO Canada Inc., Calgary / Canada 100.0

WILO Caspian LLC, Baku / Azerbaijan 100.0

WILO Central Asia TOO, Almaty / Kazakhstan 100.0

WILO Chile SpA, Santiago de Chile / Chile 100.0

WILO China Ltd., Beijing / China 100.0

WILO CS s.r.o., Prague / Czech Republic 100.0

WILO Danmark A / S, Karlslunde / Denmark 100.0

WILO Eesti OÜ, Tallinn / Estonia* 100.0

WILO Egypt LLC, Cairo / Egypt 100.0

WILO Egypt for Import LLC, Cairo / Egypt 100.0

WILO ELEC China Ltd., Qinhuangdao / China 100.0

WILO EMU Anlagenbau GmbH, Roth / Germany 100.0

WILO Engineering Ltd t / a Wilo Ireland, Limerick / Ireland 100.0

WILO East Africa Ltd., Nairobi / Kenya 100.0

WILO Finland OY, Espoo / Finland 100.0

WILO France S.A.S., Chatou / France (formerly WILO-SALMSON France S.A.S.; renamed on 1 January 2020) 100.0

WILO GVA GmbH, Wülfrath / Germany 100.0

WILO Hellas A.B.E.E., Athens / Greece 100.0

WILO Hrvatska d.o.o., Zagreb / Croatia 100.0

WILO Ibérica S.A., Alcalá de Henares / Spain 100.0

WILO Indústria, Comércio e Importação LTDA, City of São Paulo / Brazil 100.0

WILO Industriebeteiligungen GmbH, Dortmund / Germany 100.0

WILO IndustrieSysteme GmbH, Chemnitz / Germany 100.0
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Shareholdings of WILO SE as at 31 December 2019 
(Disclosure pursuant to section 315e HGB)

 Ownership interest in %

WILO Intec S.A.S., Aubigny / France 100.0

WILO Italia s.r.l., Peschiera Borromeo (Milan) / Italy 100.0

WILO Lebanon S.A.R.L., Beirut / Lebanon 100.0

WILO Lietuva UAB, Vilnius / Lithuania 100.0

WILO Logistic Nordic AB, Växjö / Sweden 100.0

WILO Magyarország Kft., Törökbálint / Hungary 100.0

WILO Malaysia Sdn. Bhd., Petaling Jaya / Malaysia 100.0

WILO Maroc S.A.R.L., Casablanca / Morocco 100.0

WILO Mather and Platt Pumps Private Ltd., Pune / India 100.0

WILO Mexico Bombas Centrifugas, S.A. de C.V., Querétaro / Mexico 100.0

WILO Middle East FZE, Dubai / United Arab Emirates 100.0

WILO Middle East LLC i.L., Riyadh / Saudi Arabia*** 50.0

WILO Mitarbeiter Invest GmbH, Dortmund / Germany 100.0

WILO N.V. / S.A., Ganshoren (Brussels) / Belgium 100.0

WILO Nasos Tizimlari LLC, Tashkent / Uzbekistan* 100.0

WILO Nederland b.v., Westzaan / Netherlands 100.0

WILO Nord Amerika GmbH, Dortmund / Germany 100.0

WILO Nordic AB, Växjö / Sweden 100.0

WILO Norge AS, Oslo / Norway 100.0

WILO Polska Sp. z o.o., Lesznowola / Poland 100.0

WILO Pompa Sistemleri San. Ve Tic. A.S., Istanbul / Turkey 100.0

Wilo Portugal, Lda, Porto / Portugal 100.0

WILO Pumpen Österreich GmbH, Wiener Neudorf / Austria 100.0

WILO Pumps Ltd., Busan / Korea 100.0

WILO Pumps Nigeria Ltd., Gbagada / Nigeria 100.0

WILO Pumps Pakistan (Pvt.) Limited, Islamabad / Pakistan* 100.0

WILO PUMPS SA (PTY) LTD, Johannesburg / South Africa 100.0

WILO Romania s.r.l., Bucharest / Romania 100.0

WILO Rus o.o.o., Moscow / Russia 100.0

WILO Safe Water LLP, Pune / India* 100.0

WILO SALMSON Argentina S.A., Buenos Aires / Argentina 100.0

WILO Saudi Arabia Ltd., Riyadh / Saudi Arabia* 100.0

WILO Schweiz AG, Rheinfelden / Switzerland 100.0

WILO SYSTEMS ITALIA S.R.L., Bari / Italy 100.0

WILO Taiwan Company Ltd., New Taipei / Taiwan 100.0

WILO Tunisia SUARL, Tunis / Tunisia* 49.0

WILO Ukrainia t.o.w., Kiev / Ukraine 100.0

WILO USA LLC, Rosemont, IL / USA 100.0

WILO Vietnam Co. Ltd., Ho Chi Minh City / Vietnam 100.0

WILO-Mitarbeiter-Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, Dortmund / Germany 100.0

	 *	 These companies were not included in the 2019 consolidated financial statements.

	 **	 This is an associate accounted for at cost.

	 ***	 This is a joint venture accounted for using the equity method.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To WILO SE, Dortmund

Audit opinions
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of 
WILO SE, Dortmund, and its subsidiaries (the Group), which 
comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 
2019, the consolidated income statement, the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated state-
ment of cash flows and the consolidated statement of 
changes in equity for the financial year from 1 January to 
31 December 2019 and the notes to the consolidated finan-
cial statements, including the accounting policies presented 
therein. In addition, we have audited the group management 
report of the Wilo Group for the financial year from 1 January 
to 31 December 2019. The Group management report con-
tains references that are not required by law and that are 
marked as unaudited. In accordance with German statutory 
provisions, we have not audited the content of the references 
and the information to which they refer.

In our opinion, on the basis of the knowledge obtained in the 
audit,

■■ the accompanying consolidated financial statements com-
ply, in all material respects, with the IFRSs as adopted by 
the EU, and the additional requirements of German com-
mercial law pursuant to Section 315e (1) HGB [Handels-
gesetzbuch: German Commercial Code] and, in compliance 
with these requirements, give a true and fair view of the 
assets, liabilities, and financial position of the Group as at 
31 December 2019 and of its financial performance for the 
financial year from 1 January to 31 December 2019.

■■ the accompanying group management report as a whole 
provides an appropriate view of the Group’s position. In all 
material respects, this group management report is con-
sistent with the consolidated financial statements, com-
plies with German legal requirements and appropriately  
�presents the opportunities and risks of future develop-
ment. The Group management report contains references 
that are not required by law and that are marked as unau-
dited. Our audit opinion does not cover these references or 
the information to which they refer.

Pursuant to Section 322 (3) sentence 1 HGB, we declare that 
our audit has not led to any reservations relating to the legal 
compliance of the consolidated financial statements and of 
the group management report.

Basis for the Opinions
We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial state-
ments and of the group management report in accordance 
with Section 317 HGB and the German Generally Accepted 
Standards for Financial Statement Audits promulgated by the 
Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW) [Institute of Public Audi-
tors in Germany]. Our responsibilities under those require-
ments and principles are further described in the “Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements and of the Group Management Report” section 
of our auditor’s report. We are independent of the group 
entities in accordance with the requirements of German com-
mercial and professional law, and we have fulfilled our other 
German professional responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. We believe that the evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opin-
ions on the consolidated financial statements and on the 
group management report.
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Responsibilities of Management and the Supervisory 
Board for the Consolidated Financial Statements 
and the Group Management Report
Management is responsible for the preparation of consoli-
dated financial statements that comply, in all material 
respects, with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the additional 
requirements of German commercial law pursuant to Section 
315e (1) HGB and that the consolidated financial statements,  
in compliance with these requirements, give a true and fair 
view of the assets, liabilities, financial position, and financial 
performance of the Group. In addition, management is respon-
sible for such internal control as they, in accordance with Ger-
man Legally Required Accounting Principles, have determined 
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, manage-
ment is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to con-
tinue as a going concern. They also have the responsibility for 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern. In 
addition, they are responsible for financial reporting based on 
the going concern basis of accounting unless there is an 
intention to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or 
there is no realistic alternative but to do so.

Furthermore, management is responsible for the preparation 
of the group management report that, as a whole, provides an 
appropriate view of the Group’s position and is, in all material 
respects, consistent with the consolidated financial statements, 
complies with German legal requirements, and appropriately 
presents the opportunities and risks of future development. 
In addition, management is responsible for such arrangements 
and measures (systems) as they have considered necessary 
to enable the preparation of a group management report that 
is in accordance with the applicable German legal require-
ments, and to be able to provide sufficient appropriate evi-
dence for the assertions in the group management report.

The Supervisory Board is responsible for overseeing the 
Group’s financial reporting process for the preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements and of the group manage-
ment report.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of  
the Consolidated Financial Statements and  
of the Group Management Report
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error, and whether the group management report as a whole 
provides an appropriate view of the Group’s position and, in 
all material respects, is consistent with the consolidated 
financial statements and the knowledge obtained in the audit, 
complies with the German legal requirements and appropri-
ately presents the opportunities and risks of future develop-
ment, as well as to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on the 
group management report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not 
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
Section 317 HGB and in compliance with German Generally 
Accepted Standards for Financial Statement Audits promul-
gated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW) will always 
detect a material misstatement. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influ-
ence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these consolidated financial statements and this group man-
agement report.

We exercise professional judgement and maintain profes-
sional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

■■ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of 
the consolidated financial statements and of the group 
management report, whether due to fraud or error, design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinions. The risk of not detecting 
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal controls.
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■■ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the 
audit of the consolidated financial statements and of 
arrangements and measures (systems) relevant to the audit 
of the group management report in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effec-
tiveness of these systems.

■■ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
by management and the reasonableness of estimates made 
by management and related disclosures.

■■ Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of 
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast signif-
icant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention in the auditor’s report to 
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial state-
ments and in the group management report or, if such dis-
closures are inadequate, to modify our respective opinions. 
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained 
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to be 
able to continue as a going concern.

■■ Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of 
the consolidated financial statements, including the disclo-
sures, and whether the consolidated financial statements 
present the underlying transactions and events in a manner 
that the consolidated financial statements give a true and 
fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and 
financial performance of the Group in compliance with IFRSs 
as adopted by the EU and the additional requirements of 
German commercial law pursuant to Section 315e (1) HGB.

■■ Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the 
financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the Group to express opinions on the consolidated 
financial statements and on the group management report. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and per-
formance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible 
for our opinions.

■■ Evaluate the consistency of the group management report 
with the consolidated financial statements, its conformity 
with [German] law, and the view of the Group’s position it 
provides.

■■ Perform audit procedures on the prospective information 
presented by management in the group management 
report. On the basis of sufficient appropriate audit evi-
dence we evaluate, in particular, the significant assump-
tions used by management as a basis for the prospective 
information, and evaluate the proper derivation of the pro-
spective information from these assumptions. We do not 
express a separate opinion on the prospective information 
and on the assumptions used as a basis. There is a substan-
tial unavoidable risk that future events will differ materi-
ally from the prospective information.

We communicate with those charged with governance regard-
ing, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any signif-
icant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit.

Essen, 24 February 2020	
KPMG AG
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Beumer	 Huperz
German Public Auditor	 German Public Auditor
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REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD

The Supervisory Board monitored the work of the Executive 
Board on an ongoing basis while providing intensive support 
and advice throughout the 2019 financial year. At regular 
meetings, the Supervisory Board was kept fully informed 
about the development of the Wilo Group’s business and all 
factors affecting it. Members of the Supervisory Board 
received regular written reports from the Executive Board on 
the current business situation and on current and planned 
Group activities. Measures requiring the approval of the 
Supervisory Board were discussed at length and submitted to 
the Supervisory Board for resolution. In addition, there was a 
direct exchange of information between the Chairman of the 
Supervisory Board and the CEO on important matters arising 
between the meetings.

The Supervisory Board held five meetings in person in 2019, 
including one extraordinary meeting. 

The Supervisory Board meeting on 2 April 2019 focused on 
the annual financial statements and the consolidated finan-
cial statements as at 31 December 2018. The business per-
formance of the Wilo Group was discussed in detail, particu-
larly in light of the global economic situation. Another key 
topic at the meeting was the status of the location develop-
ment project at the headquarters in Dortmund.

At the meeting on 27 June 2019, the Supervisory Board dealt 
in particular with the economic situation of the Wilo Group 
and the status of various sales efficiency and pricing projects. 
The most important development projects were also pre-
sented. In addition, the status of the location development 
project in Dortmund was again discussed. 

At its meeting on 10 October 2019, the Supervisory Board 
dealt with current economic developments and the status of 
the Dortmund location development project. In addition, the 
results of the annual international executive conference were 
presented. Furthermore, the current status of ongoing M&A 
projects was discussed at the meeting.

At the extraordinary meeting on 21 November 2019, the 
Supervisory Board was informed about the planned acquisition 
of the operations of J-Line Pump Co. – d/b/a American-Marsh 
Pumps – and the corresponding business premises, which it 
approved.

At its meeting on 12 December 2019, the Supervisory Board 
approved the integrated planning for 2020-2024 and also 
discussed a strategy update, the current economic situation 
and the status of the Dortmund location development project. 

Both the consolidated financial statements with the manage-
ment report for the 2019 financial year presented with the 
annual report and the separate financial statements of 
WILO  SE for the 2019 financial year, each comprising an 
income statement, statement of financial position and notes 
to the financial statements, have been audited and issued 
with an unqualified audit opinion by KPMG AG Wirtschafts-
prüfungsgesellschaft, Essen, Germany. The auditor also 
ascertained that the internal control system (ICS) established 
by the Executive Board, the internal audit system and the 
compliance system are adequate and capable in their design 
and use of recognising developments that would jeopardise 
the company’s continued existence in good time.

The above documents were submitted to the Supervisory 
Board for examination in good time and subjected to com-
prehensive scrutiny. The auditor took part in the discussion 
of the annual financial statements and the consolidated 
financial statements in the meeting of the Audit Committee 
on 25 March 2020 in order to report on key audit findings and 
provide comprehensive supplementary information. The 
Audit Committee performed preparatory work for the Super-
visory Board and, in particular, also appraised the findings of 
the risk management system and the internal control system. 

There are no other committees. 
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After thorough examination and discussion of the annual 
financial statements, the consolidated financial statements, 
the management report and the Group management report, 
the Supervisory Board endorsed the opinion of the auditor and 
approved the annual financial statements and the consoli-
dated financial statements prepared by the Executive Board 
in its meeting on 26 March 2020, which was also attended by 
the auditor. The annual financial statements were thereby 
adopted. The Supervisory Board also approved the proposal 
for appropriation of the net profit of WILO SE.

The following personnel changes took place on the Super
visory and Executive Boards in the year under review:

The term in office of the Supervisory Board members ended 
at the end of the Annual General Meeting of WILO SE on 
2 April 2019. The Supervisory Board members Prof. Norbert 
Wieselhuber, Dr. Hinrich Mählmann and Lars Roßner were 
re-elected for another term in office, as were the employee 
representatives Jean-François Germerie and Daniela Mohr. 
Prof. Hans-Jörg Bullinger stepped down as a member of the 
Supervisory Board and a member of the Audit Committee; 
Prof. Michael ten Hompel was appointed to replace him as a 
new member of the Supervisory Board. 

The Supervisory Board re-elected Prof. Wieselhuber as its 
Chairman and Mr. Roßner as its Deputy Chairman. 

Prof. ten Hompel, Dr. Mählmann and Mr. Roßner were elected 
as members of the Audit Committee. Dr. Mählmann was 
elected as the Chairman of the Audit Committee, while 
Mr. Roßner was elected as Deputy Chairman.

Mr. Oliver Hermes was reappointed as a member of the 
Executive Board of WILO SE and its Chairman for a period of 
six years with effect from 1 July 2019, i.e. until 30 June 2025. 

In addition, Mathias Weyers and Georg Weber were reap-
pointed as members of the Executive Board of WILO SE for a 
period of five years with effect from 1 January 2020, i.e. until 
31 December 2024.

Dr. Patrick Niehr was appointed as an additional member of 
the Executive Board of WILO SE for a period of five years with 
effect from 1 January 2020, i.e. until 31 December 2024.

In the interests of good, responsible corporate governance, 
WILO SE and its executive bodies voluntarily comply with the 
current version of the German Corporate Governance Code. 
There are departures from the Code relating to the specific 
nature of the company (primarily as to the preparation and 
holding of Annual General Meetings, the publication of 
reports, Supervisory Board committees) on the one hand and 
the individual disclosure of Executive Board and Supervisory 
Board remuneration on the other, in which connection the 
statutory provisions are complied with. Detailed information 
on the few departures from the Code was again compiled in 
full for banks and institutional partners in a declaration of 
compliance in line with section 161 of the German Stock 
Corporation Act.

Subject to the above qualification, WILO SE intends to con-
tinue to comply with the recommendations of the Govern-
ment Commission on the German Corporate Governance 
Code in future.

2019 was a good financial year for the Wilo Group in light of 
the difficult and challenging conditions. The Wilo Group is 
continuing on its profitable and sustainable growth path.

The Supervisory Board wishes to thank the members of the 
Executive Board, the employees and employee representa-
tives of the Wilo Group for their work and the outstanding 
loyalty that has been a vital factor in this success.

Dortmund, March 2020

The Supervisory Board
Prof. Dr. Norbert Wieselhuber 
Chairman
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GLOSSARY

Asset deal
Form of company acquisition in which the assets of a com-
pany (e.g. land, buildings or machinery) are acquired sepa-
rately and transferred to the buyer.

Cash flow
Net inflow of cash generated from business activities.

Cash pooling
Instrument for optimisation of liquidity management. Daily 
liquidity equalisation is performed within the Group by the 
parent company, whereby excess liquidity is siphoned from 
Group companies to cover liquidity shortages.

Corporate foresight process
In the corporate foresight process, both risks and opportuni-
ties are derived and analysed from forecast future develop-
ments with respect to the global megatrends, and hence 
systematically taken into account in the ongoing develop-
ment of corporate strategy.

EBIT/EBIT margin
EBIT is earnings before net finance costs and income taxes. 
The EBIT margin describes the ratio of EBIT to net sales.

EBITDA/EBITDA margin
EBITDA is earnings before net finance costs, income taxes and 
depreciation and amortisation. The EBITDA margin describes 
the ratio of EBITDA to net sales.

Emerging Markets
As at 31 December 2019, the Emerging Markets sales region 
comprised China, India, Korea, the Southeast Asian nations, 
Australia and Oceania, Turkey, the Near East and Middle East, 
and Africa.

IFRS (International Financial Reporting Standards)
Collective term for all rules and interpretations of interna-
tional financial reporting standards relevant to the Wilo Group: 
IAS (International Accounting Standards), IFRS (International 
Financial Reporting Standards), SIC rulings (Standing Inter-
pretations Committee) and the interpretations of the IFRS 
Interpretations Committee.

Industry 4.0
The Industry 4.0 future project is part of the German govern-
ment’s high-tech strategy. Industry 4.0 stands for the fourth 
industrial revolution, in which the intelligent networking of 
machinery, products and storage systems finds its way into 
industrial value added. They exchange information autono-
mously, trigger actions and control each other independently. 
This allows the fundamental improvement of industrial pro-
cesses in production and logistics. 
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Mature Markets
As at 31 December 2019, the Mature Markets sales region 
comprised Europe, Russia, Belarus, Ukraine, the Caucasus 
nations and the American continent.

Megatrend
This term describes far-reaching, long-lasting trends that 
have a significant impact on society, the economy, the envi-
ronment and technology. Megatrends are long-term, i.e. 
observable over a period of decades, and tend to have a global 
effect. As part of our strategic management process, meg-
atrends enable us to take a systematic view of the future and 
also help us identify opportunities and risks which inform the 
overall strategy.

Netting
Offsetting of receivables and liabilities between two or more 
partners. Payment, foreign-currency, credit or liquidity risks 
between partners can be reduced by way of netting agree-
ments.

Second-source suppliers
In the materials management and manufacturing sector, the 
term second-source supplier (secondary supplier) is used to 
describe one or more alternative suppliers of a product that 
is structurally identical and therefore interchangeable or com-
patible with another product.

Smart home
This umbrella term refers to the intelligent networking of 
housing technology (heating, lighting, air conditioning, safety 
and security technology, etc.) and household appliances and 
the networking of consumer electronics components (audio/
video). Intelligent management of these components using 
the internet and/or mobile devices can bring about significant 
efficiency gains in day-to-day life and increase comfort and 
safety.

* �� We understand a smart-pump as a new category of pumps, which goes far beyond our high-efficiency pumps or pumps with pump intelligence. 
Only the combination of the latest sensor technology and innovative control functions (e.g. Dynamic Adapt plus and Multi-Flow Adaptation),  
bidirectional connectivity (e.g. Bluetooth, integrated analogue inputs, binary inputs and outputs, Wilo Net interface), software updates and excellent 
usability (e.g. thanks to the Setup Guide, the preview principle for predictive navigation and the tried and tested Green Button Technology) make 
this pump a smart-pump.
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MEDIA

This Annual Report was published on 31 March 2020 
in German and English. Both versions can be  
downloaded at www.wilo.com.

The annual report is also available online

www.wilo.com/annual-report2019

desktop mobile
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